
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Pensions Sub-Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Monday 23 July 2018 at 7.00 pm 
Committee Room 3 - Hammersmith Town Hall 

 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Jonathan Caleb-Landy 
Councillor Iain Cassidy 
Councillor Rebecca Harvey 
Councillor Asif Siddique 
 

Councillor Matt Thorley 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Amrita Gill 

Committee Coordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2094 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend and the building has disabled access. 
 

Date Issued: 12 July 2018 

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Pensions Sub-Committee 
Agenda 

 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR  

 The Committee is asked to elect a Vice Chair from its membership for 
the 2018/19 Municipal Year. 
 

 

2.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 4 - 9 

 To approve as an accurate record and the Chair to sign the minutes of 
the meeting held on 27 February 2018. 
 

 

3.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee. 

 

 

5.   QUARTERLY REVIEW PACK 10 - 45 

 This report provides an update for the quarter ended 31 March 2018. 
 

 

6.   CARBON EXPOSURE 46 - 60 

 This report updates Members on the fund’s current exposure to Carbon  



and any possibilities for divestment in the future and the possible risks.  

7.   EQUITY STRATEGY 61 - 64 

 This report updates members of the Fund’s current equity mandates 
and asset allocation, the current equity portfolio risks and possible 
alternative indices for the Fund’s passive equity portfolio. 

 

8.   LONDON CIV UPDATE 65 - 68 

 This report updates members on the progress made on the London 
CIV’s Governance Review. 
 

 

9.   DRAFT ANNUAL REPORT 69 - 192 

 This report presents the draft Pension Fund Annual Report and 
Statement of Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2018. 

 

10.   ZURICH AVC UPGRADE PROJECT 193 - 196 

 This report provides an update of the AVC provider, Zurich Corporate 
Savings, transitioning their existing portfolio of London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Pension Fund Member assets to a new 
platform by 31 May 2018. 
 

 

11.   SURREY PENSIONS ADMINISTRATION UPDATE 197 - 202 

 This report provides an update on the performance of the Surrey County 
Council (SCC) Pensions Team in the provision of pension administration 
services to the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham under a 
Section 101 agreement, effective from 1 September 2015. 
 

 

12.   EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS  

 The Committee is invited to resolve, under Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, that the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting during the consideration of the following items of business, on 
the grounds that they contain the likely disclosure of exempt information, 
as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the said Act, and that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption currently outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

 

13.   EQUITY STRATEGY - EXEMPT ELEMENTS  

 This report contains the exempt elements of item 7. 
 

 

14.   LONDON CIV UPDATE - EXEMPT ELEMENTS  

 This report contains exempt elements of item 8. 
 

 

15.   FULHAM PALACE TRUST  

 The Sub-committee is asked to approve that the Fulham Palace Trust 
should be reimbursed for the pre-1 April 2011 historic deficit pensions 
contributions it has made. 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Pensions Sub-
Committee 

Minutes 
 

Tuesday 27 February 2018 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Iain Cassidy (Chair), PJ Murphy, Guy Vincent, 
Michael Adam and Nicholas Botterill  
 

Officers: Matthew Hopson (Strategic Finance Manager, Pensions), Phil Triggs 
(Director of Treasury and Pensions), Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Finance Director) 
and Amrita Gill (Assistant Committee Co-ordinator) 
 
Guests: Alistair Sutherland and Kevin Humperson (Deloittes) and Chris Bilsland 
(London CIV) 

 

 

 

 

1. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: 
The minutes of the meeting held on 21 November 2017 were approved and 
signed by the Chair. 
 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies of absence were received from Sue Hands (Interim Finance 
Manager, Pensions) 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4. DRAFT PENSIONS BOARD MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 7 February were noted. 
 

5. LONDON CIV UPDATE  
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Chris Bilsland a non-executive director at the London CIV (LCIV), gave a 
presentation outlining three key areas which covered an operational and 
responsible investing update. Additionally, he showed slides that noted the 
future direction of travel of LCIV. Following a governance review that was 
commissioned from Willis Towers Watson by the London Local Authorities 
(LLAs) it was indicated a need for LCIV to change its governance 
arrangements and clarify its purpose and future strategy. A consultation 
process was therefore key to ensuring that the proposals were appropriate for 
London. The key steps in the consultation process were outlined. Additionally, 
the Chief Investment Officer of LCIV, Julian Pendock, had also left the 
organisation, with a search for a replacement yet to formally begin, pending 
the conclusion of the consultation process.  
 
Councillor Michael Adam noted that he felt that LCIV was helpful for products 
such as UK and global equities as it had allowed the Council to retain 
investment managers and make tactical decisions around asset allocations 
accordingly. He said that if the Council had opted for the blended fund 
approach it would lose discretion for manager selection. This was an area of 
concern particularly as LCIV had not demonstrated experience in this area. 
 
Chris Bilsland explained that the Council would still have a choice in 
appointing new managers.  However, once a new manager was selected to 
the platform it would be LCIV’s responsibility to make tactical changes to the 
fund allocation to ensure a maximum return. In the long term the Council 
would be able to see if the segregation of assets was beneficial via the 
blended funds approach.  
 
Councillor PJ Murphy noted that the major concern was that LCIV lacked any 
clear business strategy over the short/medium and long term. Additionally, he 
questioned why LCIV had considered blending funds as an option as they 
currently didn’t have experience in this area. He asked if LCIV would be 
paying private sector salaries throughout the organisation to match the 
salaries offered by their private sector competitors. Chris Bilsland said that 
the chief executive salary may set the salary for the company, but the 
company was still exploring and developing its remuneration strategy. It may 
be necessary to pay market salaries.  However, with the advantage that some 
professionals would want to give back to society and were prepared to work 
for less than market remuneration. Furthermore, the LCIV were reluctant to 
recruit a permanent chief executive and chief investment officer until they 
were certain about their future strategy.  
 
Councillor Guy Vincent asked what the current net asset value of LCIV was. 
Chris Bilsland said that he didn’t have this information to hand and would feed 
back to the Committee. Councillor Guy Vincent asked if the Council had 
recourse against poor decisions made by LCIV. He added that the Sub 
Committee had a primary fiduciary responsibility for pension funds and asked 
whether we were at risk of giving up control of the fund to LCIV but retaining 
responsibility if something went wrong.  
 
Chris Bilsland said there was some element of risk there but LCIV had the 
resources to put together a fund management team that would constantly 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

monitor the fund and take necessary action. There was no guarantee that 
anything would ever go wrong however LCIV would need to work in 
collaboration with the Council to mitigate these risks. Furthermore, LCIV had 
full budget to recruit 24 members of staff and a search process would be used 
to appoint a permanent chief executive. 
 
Councillor PJ Murphy said that he was not satisfied with the answers provided 
by the LCIV as they didn’t offer any reassurances. Additionally, LCIV lacked 
resources and with no clear long-term business strategy in place it was 
evident that they would need to address the fundamental issues. Questions 
were raised over the performance of the non-executive directors.  
 
Chris Bilsland explained that LCIV was under funded and resourced. There 
wasn’t a clear business strategy in place and engagement across other 
London boroughs needed to be improved.  However, the consultation process 
would address the key issues going forward. 
 
The Chair asked why LCIV had fewer staff in comparison to other pools. Chris 
Bilsland explained that this was because former Local Authority staff had 
transferred over to the other pools, which meant that they had inherited staff.  
 
Councillor Guy Vincent asked for a letter in writing highlighting all the issues 
discussed at the meeting to understand the risks involved. Councillor PJ 
Murphy asked who made the final decision on the completion dates for the 
consultation process. Chris Bilsland noted these were agreed by London 
Council Leaders for completion before the elections. 
 
Councillor Nicholas Botterill said that there was clearly a structural flaw and 
the direction of travel was uncertain. Therefore, he was reluctant to hand over 
the decision-making process to LCIV. The Committee agreed that if the 
Council gave up some degree of sovereignty in relation to the management of 
its pension fund, then the governance of LCIV needed to be as robust and as 
democratic as possible. There also needed to be a clear way for boroughs to 
have genuine input into the decisions being taken by LCIV. There was a risk 
that by enforcing the blended approach, assets may not be managed 
optimally. The Committee needed to ensure that LCIV delivered what was 
considered important and basic groundwork needed to be completed to make 
LCIV fit for purpose.  
 
Hitesh Jolapara suggested that the Council should include a covering letter 
highlighting the areas of concerns and make recommendations as part of the 
response of the consultation. The Committee agreed and noted that the 
consultation also needed to be amended to reflect the key concerns 
discussed at the meeting.  
 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Sub-committee noted the update 
 
 
 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

6. LONDON CIV GOVERNANCE REVIEW  
 
NOTE: This item was discussed in conjunction with Item 5 (London CIV 
Update), please see item 5 for points raised by Councillors. 
 
Phil Triggs introduced the report and informed the Committee of the extensive 
governance review carried out by Willis Towers Watson on LCIV. The 
governance review highlighted several significant concerns and made a 
number of recommendations. He highlighted that the key concern was 
surrounding the engagement of a wide stakeholder base with conflicting 
priorities and managing these different groups to achieve joint outcome. 
There was a fundamental issue with the cost recovery model which was 
leaving LCIV underfunded and under resourced, especially in client relations 
and secretarial. 
 
Additionally, the Chief Investment Officer of the London CIV Julian Pendock 
has also left the organisation, with a search for a replacement yet to formally 
begin. The London CIV were reluctant to recruit a replacement until they were 
certain about their strategy going forward.   
 
RESOLVED 
That the Sub-committee noted the update 
 
 

7. QUARTERLY UPDATE REPORT  
 
Matthew Hopson presented the report for the quarter that ended 31 
December 2017 and noted that the risk register remained unchanged. The 
Chair noted that risk 14 (LCIV governance) needed to be reviewed and 
recommend that the rating to be increased to high.  
 
Kevin Humperson said that over the quarter, the total fund underperformed its 
fixed benchmark by 0.5% on a net of fees basis. He noted that Deloittes 
continued to rate Aviva investors positively for its infrastructure capabilities. 
Aviva had a strong pipeline, with c. £30m of capital with guaranteed 
deployment to the Fund’s existing project and c. £580m of priority pipeline 
across new projects.  Aviva expected to draw down the queue over the 
course of the year, estimating that it could draw down on this fund’s 
commitment as early as the second quarter.  
 
The Committee asked if there had been any savings following the Aberdeen 
and Standard life merger. Kevin Humperson said since the two businesses 
merged, Aberdeen Standard Investments (ASI) had put in place a formalised 
process where all potential transactions were reviewed and an ‘allocation 
policy’ applied where interest was expressed in the investment by more than 
one fund/ client portfolio. He said it was a great value creation bringing these 
businesses together and Deloitte continued to monitor ASI post-merger with 
the organisation currently during the integration.  
 
The Committee asked if the Council’s equality portfolio was protected against 
market fall. Kevin Humperson said that the Council was unprotected but there 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

was an opportunity to look at hedging some of the investment risks if 
required. Officers were asked to review the Council’s equity strategy and 
present it at the next meeting for wider discussions around the implications on 
funding levels.  

   Action: Matthew Hopson/ Phil Triggs 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Sub-Committee noted the update. 
 

8. ADDITIONAL VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTIONS PROVIDER TRANSITION 
UPDATE  
 
Matthew Hopson introduced the report and noted an update of the AVC 
provider, Zurich Corporate savings, transitioning their existing portfolio of the 
Council’s pensions fund member assets to a new platform. The transition 
aimed to provide members with a better service by utilising an online platform 
where members could check their benefits and receive up to date information.  
 
Referring to page 36 of the agenda, Councillor Guy Vincent asked for further 
clarification to be sought on who they referred to as the ‘Trustees’ before the 
service agreement could be signed.  

Action: Matthew Hopson 
 

RESOLVED 
That the Sub-Committee noted the update. 
 

9. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS  
 
RESOLVED 
That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, that the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the 
following items of business, on the grounds that they contain the likely 
disclosure of exempt information, as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A 
of the said Act, and that the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
currently outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

10. LONDON CIV UPDATE - EXEMPT ELEMENTS  
 
The exempt elements of the report were noted. 
 

11. LONDON CIV GOVERNANCE REVIEW - EXEMPT ELEMENTS  
 
The exempt elements of the report were noted. 
 
 

12. LOW CARBON STRATEGY UPDATE  
 
Matthew Hopson presented the report and noted that the paper updated the 
Committee on the funds current approach to fossil fuel investment and any 
possibilities of divestment in the future. 
 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Guy Vincent asked for an options analysis to be included in the 
report for engagement and asked how much would the fossil fuel investment 
cost. Matthew Hopson said that the membership would cost approximately 
£15,000 per annum. (this subsequently has been found to be £9k per 
annum). 
 
The Committee asked how many London Boroughs had signed up to the 
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF). Matthew Hopson said that 73 
out of 89 funds had opted for this option. In additional they had a considerable 
portfolio of success and looked on favourably by administrative authorities. 
The LAPFF had been recognised as one of the most influential UK investor 
groups due to its commitment to responsible and robust engagement.  
 
Phil Triggs noted that the London Borough of Southwark was one of the first 
LGPS funds to make such a commitment and placed the fund at the forefront 
of sustainable fossil fuel aware investment. He explained that a decision must 
be based on investment factors and that it was not a risk-free process 
therefore consideration needed to be placed on this.  
 
RESOLVED 
a) That the Sub Committee approved the Pension fund signing up to become 
a member of the LAPFF 
 
b) That the Sub Committee approved a reduced fossil fuel exposure plan to 
be drafted along with the next investment strategy review in consultation with 
the fund’s investment consultant.  
 
c) That the Sub Committee noted the pension funds current approach to fossil 
fuel investing. 
 
 

Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 9.45 pm 

 
  
  

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Amrita Gill 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2094 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 9



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
PENSIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
23 JULY 2018 

 

 

PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE PACK 
 

Report of the Strategic Finance Director 
 

Open Report  
 
 

Classification - For Information 
 

Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: None 
 

Accountable Director: Phil Triggs, Tri-Borough Director of Pensions and Treasury  
 

Report Author: Sue Hands, Interim Finance 
Manager - Pensions 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0207 641 4331 
E-mail: shands@westminster.gov.uk 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1. This report is the Pension Fund quarterly update pack for the quarter 

ended 31st March 2018.  The scorecard in Appendix 1 provides a high 
level view of key pensions issues with more detail provided in the 
remaining appendices. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. That the report is noted. 

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

 
3.1. Not applicable. 

 

4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  
 

4.1. This report and associated appendices make up the pack for the 
quarter ended 31st March 2018. It is designed to provide Pension Sub-
Committee members with a high level view of key pensions issues in 
the scorecard (see Appendix 1) with more detailed information in the 
remaining appendices. 

 

Page 10

Agenda Item 5



4.2. Appendix 2 provides information about the Fund’s investments and 
performance.  Kevin Humpherson from Deloitte will be attending the 
meeting to present this report. 

 
4.3. The actual cashflow for the period January to March 2018 and the 

forecast up to December 2018 are shown in Appendix 3.  An analysis 
of the differences between the actuals and the forecast for the quarter 
is also shown.    
 

4.4. Appendix 4 shows the Pensions Fund Risk Register with no changes 
this quarter. 
 

4.5. A summary of the voting undertaken by the investment managers 
running segregated equity portfolios forms Appendix 5. This now 
includes both the London CIV Majedie and Ruffer in addition to the 
LGIM Global data.  
 

4.6. Appendix 6 gives an update on the Forward Plan as at 31st March 2018. 

 

5. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  
 

5.1. Not applicable. 
 

6. CONSULTATION 
 

6.1. Not applicable. 
 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1. Not applicable. 
 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1. None. 
 

9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

9.1. None. 
 

10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 

10.1. None. 
 
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 
11.1. None 
 
 
 

Page 11



 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 

Appendix 1: Scorecard at 31st March 2018 

Appendix 2: Deloitte quarterly report for quarter ended 31st March 2018 

Appendix 3: Cashflow monitoring 

Appendix 4: Pension Fund Risk Register 

Appendix 5: Pension Fund Voting Summary 

Appendix 6: Pensions Board Forward Plan 

 
 

Page 12



Appendix 1: Scorecard at 31st March 2018 
 

HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM PENSION FUND QUARTERLY MONITORING 
 

 

Jun 17 Sep 17 Dec 17 Mar 18 

Comment/ 

Report 

Ref if applicable  

 

Value (£m) 1,001.3 1,011.9 1,033.1 997.6 

Deloitte Report  

Gross of Fees 

% return quarter 0.2% 1.5% 2.6% -2.5% 

% return one 

year 
13.9% 8.8% 7.1% 1.7% 

LIABILITIES 

Value (£m) 1,074.8 1,074.3 1,084.9 1,073.6 

 Deficit (£m) 59.6 55.5 64.8 52.0 

Funding Level 94% 95% 94% 95% 

MEMBERSHIP 

Active members 4,356 4,356 4,228 4,166 

 

Deferred 

beneficiaries 
5,753 5,753 5,687 6,603 

Pensioners 4,842 4,842 4,909 4,920 

Employers 41 41 41 61 

CASHFLOW 

Cash balance £2.5m £5.0m £1.3m £4.3m 

Appendix 3 Variance from 

forecast 
(£4.5m) (£0.8m) (0.5m) 0.6m 

RISK 

No. of new risks 0 0 0 0 
Appendix 4 – New 

Risk Register No. of ratings 

changed 
1 0 0 0 

VOTING 

No. of resolutions 

voted on by fund 

managers 

32,183 5,282 4,732 5,711 

Appendix 5 – 

LGIM, Ruffer  & 

Majedie this 

quarter 

LGPS REGULATIONS 

New 

consultations 
None None None None 

N/A 
New sets of 
regulations 

None None None None 

 

Page 13



 

 

   

  

London Borough of Hammersmith 

& Fulham Pension Fund 

Investment Performance Report to 31 

March 2018 
Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited 
May 2018 

 

Page 14



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

2  
 

Contents 

 

1 Performance Overview    3 

2 Total Fund    4 

3 Majedie – UK Equity    7 

4 Legal and General – Global Equity    8 

5 Ruffer – Absolute Return    9 

6 Insight – Bonds Plus    10 

7 Partners Group – Multi Asset Credit    11 

8 Oak Hill Advisors – Diversified Credit Strategies Fund 12 

9 M&G – Inflation Opportunities    13 

10 Aberdeen Standard Investments – Long Lease Property 14 

Appendix 1 – Fund and Manager Benchmarks    15 

Appendix 2 – Risk warnings & Disclosures    16 

 

 

Page 15



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

3  
 

1 Performance Overview 
1.1 Investment Performance to 31 March 2018 

Breakdown of Fund Performance by Manager as at 31 Dec 2017 3 

month 

(%) 

1 

year  

 (%) 

2 year 

p.a. 

 (%) 

3 year 

p.a. 

 (%) 

5 year 

p.a. 

 (%) 

Fund Manager 

Equity Mandate        
  Majedie -5.8 -2.6 9.7 4.4 8.7 

FTSE All Share 
 

-6.9 1.1 10.9 5.7 6.5 

Difference 
 

1.1 -3.6 -1.2 -1.3 2.2 

  LGIM Global Equity 

Mandate 

-4.4 2.8 16.6 n/a n/a  

FTSE All World 
 

-4.4 2.9 16.7 n/a  n/a  

Difference 
 

0.0 -0.1 -0.1 n/a  n/a  

Dynamic Asset Allocation Mandates 
      

  Ruffer -2.8 -2.0 4.8 2.4 3.8 

3 Month Sterling LIBOR + 4% p.a. 
 

1.1 4.4 4.4 4.5 4.5 

Difference 
 

-3.9 -6.4 0.4 -2.1 -0.7 

  Insight -0.4 -0.8 0.9 n/a n/a 

3 Month Sterling LIBOR + 2% p.a. 
 

0.6 2.4 2.4 n/a n/a 

Difference 
 

-1.0 -3.2 -1.5 n/a n/a 

Private Equity 
      

  Invesco 0.4 0.0 11.0 11.9 15.1 

  Unicapital  -1.4 1.2 7.1 10.6 6.1 

Secure Income 
      

  Partners Group MAC 0.7 4.1 4.8 4.9 n/a 

3 Month Sterling LIBOR + 4% p.a.  1.1 4.4 4.4 4.5 n/a 

Difference  -0.4 -0.3 0.4 0.4 n/a 

  Oak Hill Advisors 0.0 2.2 7.1 n/a n/a 

3 Month Sterling LIBOR + 4% p.a.  1.1 4.4 4.4 n/a n/a 

Difference  -1.1 -2.2 2.7 n/a n/a 

 Partners Group Infra 

Infrastructure 

-1.0 -10.4 n/a 8.6 n/a 

3 Month Sterling LIBOR + 8% p.a.  2.1 8.4 n/a 5.4 n/a 

Difference  -3.0 -18.8 n/a 3.2 n/a 

Inflation Protection 
   

 
  

  M&G 0.7 4.2 10.0 n/a n/a 

RPI + 2.5% p.a.  0.7 5.8 5.7 n/a n/a 

Difference  0.0 -1.6 4.3 n/a n/a 

  Aberdeen Standard 1.5 9.9 8.2 8.6 n/a 

FT British Government All Stocks 

Index +2.0% 

 0.8 2.4 5.5 5.4 n/a 

Difference  0.8 7.4 2.7 3.2 n/a 

Total Fund  
 

-2.6 1.2 9.4 6.0 7.7 

Benchmark* 
 

-1.8 3.6 8.9 7.2 5.2 

Difference 
 

-0.8 -2.4 0.5 -1.2 2.5 

Northern Trust Benchmark  -1.8 3.8 n/a 6.6 6.5 
Source: Northern Trust (Custodian). Figures are quoted net of fees and estimated by Deloitte. Differences may not tie due to rounding. 

 (*) The Total Assets benchmark is the weighted average performance of the target asset allocation.  

Page 16



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

4  
 

2 Total Fund 

2.1 Investment Performance to 31 March 2018 

Source: Northern Trust. Relative performance may not sum due to rounding. 

(1) Estimated by Deloitte 

(2) Average weighted benchmark 

 

Over the quarter, the Total Fund underperformed its fixed weight benchmark by 0.8% on a net of fees basis.  

Over the 12 month period, the Fund delivered a net return of 1.2%, underperforming the benchmark by 2.4%. 

Over the three year period the Fund underperformed the benchmark by 1.2% p.a. but continued to outperform 

the benchmark over the five year period, outperforming the benchmark by 2.5% p.a. 

The chart below compares the net performance of the Fund relative to the fixed weight benchmark over the 

three years to 31 March 2018. The 3 year rolling excess return has been declining over recent quarters. This 

was to be expected as a result of the strong performance from Majedie towards the end of 2014 and start of 

2015 dropping out of the 3 year calculations. The recent underperformance from Majedie and Ruffer has been 

the main contributor to the declining 3 year rolling excess returns. 

  

 

 

-4%

-2%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

Q1 18Q4 17Q3 17Q2 17Q1 17Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15Q3 15Q2 15

%
 d

if
fe

re
n

c
e
 f

ro
m

 b
e
n

ch
m

a
rk

Total Fund Performance - last three years

Quarterly Excess Return 3 Year Rolling Excess Return

 Last 

Quarter 

(%) 

One 

Year 

(%) 

Two 

Years 

(% p.a.) 

Three 

Years    

(% p.a.) 

Five 

Years  

(% p.a.) 

Total Fund  – Gross of fees -2.5 1.7 9.8 6.5 8.1 

Net of fees(1) -2.6 1.2 9.4 6.0 7.7 

Benchmark(2) -1.8 3.6 8.9 7.2 5.2 

Net performance relative to 

benchmark 

-0.8 -2.4 0.5 -1.2 2.5 

Page 17



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

5  
 

2.2 Attribution of Performance to 31 March 2018 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

On a net of fees performance basis, the Fund underperformed the composite benchmark by 0.8% over the first 

quarter of 2018, largely as a result of underperformance from Ruffer, as well as a negative contribution from 

the “AA/Timing” bar resulting from the over-allocation to Ruffer.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Over the year the Fund underperformed the composite benchmark by 2.4% as a result of negative 

contributions from Majedie, Ruffer and Insight. The positive contribution shown by the “AA/Timing” bar was 

primarily a function of the Fund having an overweight allocation to equities.  

0.24%

0.00%

-0.40%

-0.09%

0.00%

-0.01%-0.02% -0.03%

-0.08%

0.00%
0.04%

-0.45%

-0.79%

-0.9%

-0.8%

-0.7%

-0.6%

-0.5%

-0.4%

-0.3%

-0.2%

-0.1%

0.0%

0.1%

0.2%

0.3%

R
e
la

ti
v
e
 C

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

 t
o
 T

o
ta

l 
F
u

n
d

 P
e
r
fo

r
m

a
n

c
e
 

Relative Contributions to Total Fund Performance - Quarter

-0.86%

-0.03%

-0.68%

-0.27%

0.00% 0.00%

-0.02%
-0.11% -0.14% -0.16%

0.37%

-0.46%

-2.36%-2.5%

-2.0%

-1.5%

-1.0%

-0.5%

0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

R
e
la

ti
v
e
 C

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

 t
o
 T

o
ta

l 
F
u

n
d

 P
e
r
fo

r
m

a
n

c
e
 

Relative Contributions to Total Fund Performance - Annual

Page 18



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

6  
 

2.3 Asset Allocation  

The table below shows the assets held by each manager as at 31 March 2018 alongside the Target Benchmark 

Allocation. 

  Actual Asset Allocation  

Manager Asset Class 31 Dec 

2017 

(£m) 

31 Mar 

2018 

(£m) 

31 Dec 

2017 

(%) 

31 Mar 

2018 

(%) 

Benchmark 

Allocation (%) 

Majedie UK Equity (Active) 169.6 159.1 16.4 16.0 15.0 

LGIM Global Equity 

(passive) 

317.1 303.2 30.7 30.4 30.0 

  Total Equity 486.7 462.3 47.1 46.3 45.0 

Ruffer Absolute Return 162.7 157.5 15.7 15.8 10.0 

Insight Bonds Plus 89.2 89.0 8.6 8.9 10.0 

  Total Dynamic 

Asset Allocation 

251.9 246.4 24.4 24.7 20.0 

Invesco Private Equity 4.2 3.8 0.4 0.4 0.0 

Unicapital Private Equity 2.2 1.9 0.2 0.2 0.0 

  Total Private 

Equity 

6.4 5.6 0.6 0.6 0.0 

Partners 

Group 

Multi Asset Credit 48.3 41.7 4.7 4.2 5.0 

Oak Hill 

Advisors 

Diversified Credit 

Strategy 

72.2 72.4 7.0 7.3 7.5 

Partners 

Group 

Direct 

Infrastructure 

7.1 7.0 0.7 0.7 5.0 

Aviva Infrastructure 

Income 

- 0.0 - 0.0 2.5 

 Secure Income 127.6 121.1 12.4 12.1 20.0 

M&G Inflation 

Opportunities 

98.5 99.3 9.5 10.0 10.0 

Aberdeen 

Standard 

Investments 

Long Lease Property 51.1 51.9 4.9 5.2 5.0 

 Total Inflation 

Protection 

149.6 151.2 14.4 15.2 15.0 

LGIM Liquidity Fund 10.9 10.8 1.1 1.1 0.0 

 Total 1,033.1 997.6 100.0 100.0 100.0 

Source: Northern Trust (Custodian) and have not been independently verified 

Figures may not sum to total due to rounding 

 

There is an additional c. £60m currently invested with Ruffer following the equity rebalancing exercise last year. 

This will be partly used to fund capital calls for the Partners Group Infrastructure (c. £30m) as well as funding 

the new Aviva Infrastructure allocation (c. £30m) as and when both are drawn down. The Sub-Committee felt 

Ruffer was a more appropriate place than Majedie to hold this allocation temporarily given the expected 

volatility of equity markets. 

Page 19



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

7  
 

3 Majedie – UK Equity 

Majedie was appointed to manage an actively managed segregated UK equity portfolio.  The manager’s 

remuneration is a combination of a tiered fixed fee, based on the value of assets and a performance related fee 

of 20% of the outperformance which is payable when the excess return over the FTSE All Share +2% p.a. 

target benchmark over a rolling three year period. The investment with Majedie comprises a combination of the 

UK Equity Fund (no more than 30%), the UK Focus Fund and a holding in Majedie’s long/short equity fund, 

Tortoise (no more than 10%). 

3.1 UK Equity – Investment Performance to 31 March 2018 

Source: Northern Trust 

(1) Estimated by Deloitte 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Fund returned -5.8% net of fees over the quarter against a benchmark return of -6.9%, taking the annual 

performance net of fees to -2.6% versus a benchmark return of 1.1%. Over the three year period, the Fund is 

behind both the benchmark return and the stated outperformance target. Over the five years to 31 March 

2018, the Fund is ahead of benchmark return and target by 2.2% p.a. net of fees and by 0.2% p.a. 

respectively. 

 

 Last Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(% p.a.)(1) 

Three Years 

(% p.a.) 

Five Years 

(% p.a.) 

Majedie – Gross of fees -5.7 -2.0 10.2 4.9 9.1 

Net of fees(1) -5.8 -2.6 9.7 4.4 8.7 

Benchmark -6.9 1.1 10.9 5.7 6.5 

Target -6.4 3.1 12.9 7.7 8.5 

Net performance relative to 

Benchmark 

1.1 -3.6 -1.2 -1.3 2.2 

-5%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

-5%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

Q1 18Q4 17Q3 17Q2 17Q1 17Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15Q3 15Q2 15

Majedie UK Equity

Quarterly Excess Return 3 Year Rolling Excess Return

Q
u

a
r
te

r
ly

 E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

 
E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

 

Page 20



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

8  
 

4 Legal and General – Global 

Equity 

Legal and General Investment Manager (“LGIM”) was appointed to manage a global equity portfolio with the 

objective of replicating the performance of the FTSE All World Index benchmark. The manager is remunerated 

on a tiered fixed fee based on the value of assets. 

4.1 Global Equity – Investment Performance to 31 March 2018 

 

Source: LGIM. Relative performance may not tie due to rounding. 

(1) Estimated by Deloitte 

 

The Fund performed in line with the benchmark over the quarter and slightly underperformed the benchmark 

over the year to 31 March 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Last Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(% p.a.) 

LGIM – Gross of fees -4.4 2.9 16.7 

Net of fees(1) -4.4 2.8 16.6 

Benchmark -4.4 2.9 16.7 

Net Performance relative to Benchmark 0.0 -0.1 -0.1 

Page 21



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

9  
 

5 Ruffer – Absolute Return  

Ruffer was appointed to manage an absolute return mandate with the aim of outperforming the 3 month 

Sterling LIBOR benchmark by 4% p.a. The manager has a fixed fee based on the value of assets. 

5.1 Dynamic Asset Allocation – Investment Performance to 31 March 2018 

Source: Northern Trust. Relative performance may not tie due to rounding. 

(1) Estimated by Deloitte 

 

 

Ruffer underperformed its Libor +4% p.a. target over the first quarter of 2018 by 3.9% net of fees. This takes 

the 12 month and three year absolute net performance to -2.0% and 2.4% p.a. respectively.  

-6%

-5%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

-6%

-5%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

Q1 18Q4 17Q3 17Q2 17Q1 17Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15Q3 15Q2 15

Ruffer Absolute Return

Quarterly Excess Return 3 Year Rolling Excess Return

Q
u

a
r
te

r
ly

 E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

 
E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

 

 Last 

Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(% p.a.)(1) 

Three 

Years 

(% p.a.) 

Five Years 

(% p.a.) 

Ruffer - Gross of fees -2.6 -1.2 5.6 3.2 4.6 

Net of fees(1) -2.8 -2.0 4.8 2.4 3.8 

Benchmark / Target 1.1 4.4 4.4 4.5 4.5 

Net performance relative to 

Benchmark 

-3.9 -6.4 0.4 -2.1 -0.7 

Page 22



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

10  
 

6 Insight – Bonds Plus 

Insight was appointed to manage an active bond portfolio with an aim of outperforming the 3 Month Sterling 

LIBOR by 2% over a rolling three year period. The fees are based on the value of assets invested in the fund. 

6.1 Absolute Return – Investment Performance to 31 March 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Northern Trust. Relative performance may not tie due to rounding 

(1) Estimated by Deloitte 

 

 

Insight underperformed its target over the first quarter by 1.0% net of fees. Over the year to 31 March 2018, 

the Fund has underperformed its target by 3.2% net of fees.  

 

 

 

 

-1.2%

-1.0%

-0.8%

-0.6%

-0.4%

-0.2%

0.0%

0.2%

0.4%

Q1 18Q4 17Q3 17Q2 17Q1 17Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16

Q
u

a
r
te

r
ly

 E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

Insight - Bonds Plus 

Quarterly Excess Return

 Last Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(% p.a.) 

Insight - Gross of fees -0.3 -0.3 1.4 

Net of fees(1) -0.4 -0.8 0.9 

Benchmark / Target 0.6 2.4 2.4 

Net performance relative to Benchmark -1.0 -3.2 -1.5 

Page 23



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

11  
 

7 Partners Group – Multi Asset 

Credit 

Partners Group was appointed to manage a multi asset credit mandate with the aim of outperforming the 3 

month Sterling LIBOR benchmark by 4% p.a. The manager has an annual management fee and performance 

fee. 

7.1 Multi Asset Credit - Investment Performance to 31 March 2018 

Source: Northern Trust. Relative performance may not tie due to rounding. 

 

 

The Fund underperformed its target over the quarter, net of fees, by 0.4%.  

Over the 12 month period to 31 March 2018, the Fund returned 4.1%, net of fees, underperforming the target 

0.3%. 

The Fund returned 4.9% p.a. net of fees over the 3 year period to 31 March 2018, outperforming the target by 

0.4% p.a. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

-2.0%

-1.5%

-1.0%

-0.5%

0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

Q1 18Q4 17Q3 17Q2 17Q1 17Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15Q3 15Q2 15

Q
u

a
r
te

r
ly

 E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

Partners Group - Multi Asset Credit

Quarterly Excess Return

 Last Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(% p.a.) 

Three Years  

(% p.a.) 

Partners Group MAC - Gross of fees 0.9 5.0 5.7 5.8 

Net of fees(1) 0.7 4.1 4.8 4.9 

Benchmark / Target 1.1 4.4 4.4 4.5 

Net performance relative to Benchmark -0.4 -0.3 0.4 0.4 

Page 24



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

12  
 

8 Oak Hill Advisors – Diversified 

Credit Strategies Fund 
Oak Hill Advisors was appointed to manage a multi asset credit mandate with the aim of outperforming the 3 

month Sterling LIBOR benchmark by 4% p.a. The manager has an annual management fee and performance 

fee. 

8.1 Diversified Credit Strategies - Investment Performance to 31 March 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Northern Trust. Relative performance may not tie due to rounding. 

 

 

Over the quarter the Diversified Credit Strategies Fund delivered 0.0% net of fees, underperforming its target 

by 1.1%. 

Over the longer 12 months period to 31 March 2018, the Fund has returned 2.2% net of fees, underperforming 

its target by 2.2%.  

-7%

-6%

-5%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

Q1 18Q4 17Q3 17Q2 17Q1 17Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15Q3 15Q2 15

Q
u

a
r
te

r
ly

 E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

OHA - Diversified Credit Strategies

Quarterly Excess Return

 Last Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(%) 

OHA – Gross of fees 0.2 2.9 7.8 

Net of fees(1) 0.0 2.2 7.1 

Benchmark / Target 1.1 4.4 4.4 

Net Performance relative to Benchmark -1.1 -2.2 2.7 

Page 25



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

13  
 

9 M&G – Inflation Opportunities 

M&G was appointed to manage an inflation opportunities mandate with the aim of outperforming the RPI 

benchmark by 2.5% p.a. The manager has an annual management fee which is calculated based on the 

underlying assets 

9.1 M&G Inflation Opportunities - Investment Performance to 31 March 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Northern Trust. Relative performance may not tie due to rounding. 

 

 

 

Over the first quarter of 2018 the Fund returned 0.7% net of fees, matching the target. Over the longer 12 

month period to 31 March 2018, the Fund has delivered a return of 4.2% net of fees, underperforming its 

target by 1.6%. 

 

-5%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

Q1 18Q4 17Q3 17Q2 17Q1 17Q4 16Q3 16Q2 16Q1 16Q4 15Q3 15Q2 15

Q
u

a
r
te

r
ly

 E
x
c
e
s
s
 R

e
tu

r
n

M&G Inflation Opportunities

Quarterly Excess Return

 Last Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(%) 

M&G Inflation Opportunities – Gross of fees 0.8 4.5 10.3 

Net of fees(1) 0.7 4.2 10.0 

Benchmark / Target 0.7 5.8 5.7 

Net Performance relative to Benchmark 0.0 -1.6 4.3 

Page 26



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

14  
 

10 Aberdeen Standard 

Investments – Long Lease 

Property 

Aberdeen Standard Investments was appointed to manage a long lease property mandate with the aim of 

outperforming the FT British Government All Stocks Index benchmark by 2.0% p.a. The manager has an annual 

management fee. 

10.1 Long Lease Property - Investment Performance to 31 March 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Northern Trust. Relative performance may not tie due to rounding. 

 

The ASI Long Lease Property Fund returned 1.5% net of fees over the first quarter of 2018, outperforming the 

benchmark of the FTSE Gilt All Stocks Index + 2% by 0.8%.  

 

 Last Quarter 

(%) 

One Year 

(%) 

Two Years 

(% p.a.) 

Three Years 

(% p.a.) 

ASI Long Lease Property – Gross of fees 1.7 10.4 8.7 9.1 

Net of fees(1) 1.5 9.9 8.2 8.6 

Benchmark / Target 0.8 2.4 5.5 5.4 

Net Performance relative to Benchmark 0.8 7.4 2.7 3.2 

Page 27



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

15  
 

Appendix 1 – Fund and Manager 

Benchmarks 

The tables in this Appendix detail the benchmarks and outperformance targets, for the Total Fund and each 

individual manager. 

Total Fund 

Inception: 31 December 1999. 

Manager Asset Class Allocation Benchmark Inception Date 

Majedie UK Equity 15.0% FTSE All-Share Index +2% p.a. 

over three year rolling periods 

31/08/05 

LGIM Global Equity 30.0% FTSE All World Index 30/11/15 

Ruffer Dynamic Asset 

Allocation 

10.0% 3 Month Sterling LIBOR +4% p.a. 31/07/08 

Insight Bonds Plus 10.0% 3 Month Sterling LIBOR +2% p.a. 30/09/15 

Invesco Private Equity 0.0% n/a 30/09/09 

Unicapital Private Equity 0.0% n/a 30/09/09 

Partners 

Group 

Multi Asset Credit 5.0% 3 Month Sterling LIBOR +4% p.a. 28/01/15 

Oak Hill 

Advisors 

Multi Asset Credit 7.0% 3 Month Sterling LIBOR +4% p.a. 01/05/15 

Partners 

Group 

Infrastructure Fund 5.0% 3 Month Sterling LIBOR +8% p.a. 31/08/2015 

Aviva 

Investors 

Infrastructure Income 

Fund 

3.0% FT British Government Index-

Linked All Stocks Index +2.0% 

*to be funded 

M&G Inflation Opportunities 10.0% RPI +2.5% 01/05/15 

Aberdeen 

Standard 

Investments 

Long Lease Property 5.0% FT British Government All Stocks 

Index +2.0% 

09/04/15 

 Total  100.0%   

Note, for the benchmark performance calculation, we assume a 10% allocation to Partners Group MAC and Oak Hill Advisors MAC, and 0% 

allocation to Partners Group Infrastructure. This will be re-weighted as the Infrastructure Fund is drawn down. 

 

 

 

Page 28



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham               Investment Report to 31 March 2018 

 

16  
 

Appendix 2 – Risk warnings & 

Disclosures 

 

 Past performance is not necessarily a guide to the future. 

 The value of investments may fall as well as rise and you may not get back the amount invested. 

 Income from investments may fluctuate in value. 

 Where charges are deducted from capital, the capital may be eroded or future growth constrained. 

 Investors should be aware that changing investment strategy will incur some costs. 

 Any recommendation in this report should not be viewed as a guarantee regarding the future performance 

of the products or strategy.  

 

 

Our advice will be specific to your current circumstances and intentions and therefore will not be suitable for 

use at any other time, in different circumstances or to achieve other aims or for the use of others.  Accordingly, 

you should only use the advice for the intended purpose. 

Our advice must not be copied or recited to any other person than you and no other person is entitled to rely 

on our advice for any purpose.  We do not owe or accept any responsibility, liability or duty towards any person 

other than you. 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. 

 

 

Page 29



London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

17  
 

 

 

 

 

   
 

 

Other than as stated below, this document is confidential and prepared solely for your information and that of other beneficiaries of 

our advice listed in our engagement letter. Therefore you should not refer to or use our name or this document for any other 

purpose, disclose them or refer to them in any prospectus or other document, or make them available or communicate them to any 

other party. If this document contains details of an arrangement that could result in a tax or National Insurance saving, no such 

conditions of confidentiality apply to the details of that arrangement (for example, for the purpose of discussion with tax 

authorities).  In any event, no other party is entitled to rely on our document for any purpose whatsoever and thus we accept no 

liability to any other party who is shown or gains access to this document. 

 

© 2018 Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited. All rights reserved. 

 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited. Registered office: Hill House, 1 Little New Street, London EC4A 3TR, United Kingdom. 

Registered in England and Wales No 3981512. 

 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited is a subsidiary of Deloitte LLP, the United Kingdom member firm of Deloitte Touche 

Tohmatsu Limited (“DTTL”), a UK private company limited by guarantee, whose member firms are legally separate and independent 

entities. Please see www.deloitte.co.uk/about for a detailed description of the legal structure of DTTL and its member firms. 

 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. 

Page 30



Appendix 3: CASHFLOW MONITORING: January18 to December 18 
 

Pension Fund current account cashflow actuals and forecast for period January 2018 to December 2018 
 

 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 

 £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

 Actual Actual Actual F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast 

Balance b/f 1,315  168  3,739  4,360  11,310  10,360  10,160  9,210  8,260  9,310  8,360  7,410  

Contributions 2,014  1,988  2,025  9,900  2,000  2,000  2,000  2,000  2,000  2,000  2,000  2,000  

Pensions -2,539  -3,029  -2,450  -2,800  -2,800  -2,800  -2,800  -2,800  -2,800  -2,800  -2,800  -2,800  

Lump Sums -1,353  -705  -796  -450  -450  -450  -450  -450  -450  -450  -450  -450  

Net TVs in/(out) 843 685 29 500  500  500  500  500  500  500  500  500  

Expenses -112  -368  -108  -200  -200  -200  -200  -200  -200  -200  -200  -200  

Net cash in/(out) in month -1,147  -1,429  -1,299  6,950  -950  -950  -950  -950  -950  -950  -950  -950  

Net movements from 
invested cash (see 
overleaf) 

 5,000                      

LCIV Distributions   1,920      750      2,000      750  

Balance c/f 168  3,739  4,360  11,310  10,360  10,160  9,210  8,260  9,310  8,360  7,410  7,210  

 
 
Current account cashflow actuals compared to forecast in January to March 2018 quarter 
 

 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Mar Qtr 18 

 Forecast Actual Forecast Actual Forecast Actual Variance 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Contributions 2,014  2,014  2,000  1,988  2,000  2,025  13  

Pensions -2,539  -2,539  -2,800  -3,029  -2,800  -2,450  121  

Lump Sums -1,353  -1,353  -450  -705  -450  -796  -601  

Net TVs in/(out) 843  843  200  685  200  29  314  

Expenses -112  -112  -125  -368  -200  -108  -151 

Withdrawals from Fund 
Managers  

0  0  5,000  5,000  0  0  0  

LCIV Distributions 0  0  0  0  1,000  1,920  920  

Totals -1,147  -1,147  3,825  3,571  -250  621  616  

 

Notes on variances in quarter: 

 Net TVs In over the quarter were 
higher than forecast by £0.3m 

 Lump Sums & Net Transfers exceed 
forecasts. 

 Expense forecasts have been 
updated from March 2018 to reflect 
the current cash flows. 

 The LCIV distributions relating to 
pooled Majedie & Ruffer assets are 
sent to the Pension Fund Nat West 
current account, in order to reduce 
the liquidation assets to cover net 
outgoings.  

P
age 31



Actuals and forecast of invested cash balance for period January 2018 to December 2018 
 

 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 

 £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

 Actual Actual Actual F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast F’cast 

Balance b/f 12,268 12,268 12,268 13,546 13,546 15,925 17,432 17,432 17,547 9,262 9,262 9,377 

Interest   10   9   9   10 

Distributions             

   Private Equity     115   115   115  

   Multi Asset Credit   2,161   1,498   1,498   1,498 

   Infrastructure   892  2,264        

   Aviva             

Drawdowns/Refunds paid 
to: 

            

   Partners - Infrastructure    -1,785          

   Aviva - Infrastructure     -27,250 -1,750       

Paid to/from current 
account (see table above) 

    27,250 1,750       

Balance c/f 12,268 12,268 13,546 13,546 15,925 17,432 17,432 17,547 19,054 9,262 9,377 10,885 

 
 

The forecast indicates that there should be sufficient cash available to fund pension payments and infrastructure drawdowns for the rest of 2018.  
 

P
age 32



Appendix 4 - Pension Fund risk register, March 2018  
 

   Residual risk 
score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

1 STRATEGIC: INVESTMENT 
That the combination of assets in 
the investment portfolio fails to 
fund the liabilities in the long term.  

 Investment strategy in place and 
reviewed periodically. 

 Performance is measured against a 
liability based benchmark. 

 Fund performance is reviewed 
quarterly. 

2 5  

Low 
 

10 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Jun 2018 

2 STRATEGIC: INVESTMENT 
Fund managers fail to achieve the 
returns agreed in their 
management agreements. 

 Independent monitoring of fund 
manager performance by custodian 
against targets. 

 Investment adviser retained to keep 
watching brief. 

 Fund manager performance is 
reviewed quarterly. 

3 4  

Medium 
 

12 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Jun 2018 

3 STRATEGIC: INVESTMENT 
Failure of custodian or 
counterparty. 

 At time of appointment, ensure 
assets are separately registered and 
segregated by owner. 

 Review of internal control reports on 
an annual basis. 

 Credit rating kept under review. 

2 5  

Low 
 

10 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Jun 2018 

  

P
age 33



   Residual risk 
score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

4 STRATEGIC: FUNDING 
The level of inflation and interest 
rates assumed in the valuation 
may be inaccurate leading to 
higher than expected liabilities. 

 Review at each triennial valuation 
and challenge actuary as required. 

 Growth assets and inflation linked 
assets in the portfolio should rise as 
inflation rises. 
 

3 4  

Medium 
 

12 
 
 

 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Jun 2018 

5 STRATEGIC: FUNDING 
There is insufficient cash available 
in the Fund to meet pension 
payments leading to investment 
assets being sold at sub-optimal 
prices to meet pension payments. 
 

 Cashflow forecast maintained and 
monitored. 

 Cashflow position reported to sub-
committee quarterly. 

 Cashflow requirement is a factor in 
current investment strategy review. 

1 4  

Low 
 
4 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Jun 2018 

6 STRATEGIC: FUNDING 
Scheme members live longer than 
expected leading to higher than 
expected liabilities. 
 
 

 Review at each triennial valuation 
and challenge actuary as required. 

 
3 4  

Medium 
 

12 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Jun 2018 

  

P
age 34



   Residual risk 
score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

7 STRATEGIC: FUNDING 
Scheme matures more quickly 
than expected due to public sector 
spending cuts, resulting in 
contributions reducing and 
pension payments increasing. 

 Review maturity of scheme at each 
triennial valuation. 

 Deficit contributions specified as 
lump sums, rather than percentage 
of payroll to maintain monetary 
value of contributions. 

 Cashflow position monitored 
monthly. 

 

2 

 

4 

Low 
 
8 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Jun 2018 

8 STRATEGIC: REGULATION 
Pensions legislation or regulation 
changes resulting in an increase in 
the cost of the scheme or 
increased administration. 

 Maintain links with central 
government and national bodies to 
keep abreast of national issues. 

 Respond to all consultations and 
lobby as appropriate to ensure 
consequences of changes to 
legislation are understood. 
 

3 3  

Low 
 
9 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 
and Director of 

People Services 

Jun 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 35



 
   Residual risk 

score 
   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

9 STRATEGIC: REGULATION 
Introduction of European Directive 
MiFID II results is a restriction of 
Fund’s investment options and an 
increase in costs 
 

 Officers are engaging with Fund 
Managers to understand the position 
better 

 Knowledge and Skills Policy in place 
for Officers and Members of the 
Committee 

 Maintain links with central 
government and national bodies to 
keep abreast of national issues. 
 

3 5  

Medium 
 

15 Strategic 
Finance Director 

Jun 2018 

10 OPERATIONAL: GOVERNANCE 
Failure to comply with legislation 
leads to ultra vires actions 
resulting in financial loss and/or 
reputational damage. 
 

 Officers maintain knowledge of legal 
framework for routine decisions. 

 Eversheds retained for consultation 
on non-routine matters. 

2 4  

Low 
 
8 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Jun 2018 

11 OPERATIONAL: GOVERNANCE 
Committee members do not have 
appropriate skills or knowledge to 
discharge their responsibility 
leading to inappropriate decisions. 
 

 External professional advice is 
sought where required 

 Knowledge and skills policy in place 
(subject to Committee Approval) 
 

 

3 3  

Low 
 
9 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Jun 2018 

  

P
age 36



   Residual 
risk score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

I 
Im

p
a

c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

12 OPERATIONAL: GOVERNANCE 
Officers do not have appropriate skills 
and knowledge to perform their roles 
resulting in the service not being 
provided in line with best practice and 
legal requirements.  Succession 
planning is not in place leading to 
reduction of knowledge when an officer 
leaves. 

 Person specifications are used 
at recruitment to appoint officers 
with relevant skills and 
experience. 

 Training plans are in place for 
all officers as part of the 
performance appraisal 
arrangements. 

 Shared service nature of the 
pensions team provides 
resilience and sharing of 
knowledge. 

 

3 3  

Low 
 

9 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 
and Director of 

People Services 

Jun 2018 

13 OPERATIONAL: GOVERNANCE 
Inadequate, inappropriate or 
incomplete investment or actuarial 
advice is actioned leading to a financial 
loss or breach of legislation. 
 

 At time of appointment ensure 
advisers have appropriate 
professional qualifications and 
quality assurance procedures in 
place. 

 Committee and officers 
scrutinise and challenge advice 
provided. 
 

2 4  

Low 
 

8 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Jun 2018 

 
 

P
age 37



   Residual 
risk score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

14 OPERATIONAL: GOVERNANCE 
London CIV has inadequate resources 
to monitor the implementation of 
investment strategy and as a 
consequence are unable to address 
underachieving fund managers. 

 Pension Fund Committee Chair 
is a member of the Joint 
member Committee responsible 
for the oversight of the CIV and 
can monitor and challenge the 
level of resources through that 
forum. 

 Tri-Borough Strategic Finance 
Director is a member of the 
officer Investment Advisory 
Committee which gives the 
Fund influence over the work of 
the London CIV. 
 

2 4  

 
 
 

Low 
 

8 
 

6 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Jun 2018 

15 OPERATIONAL: FUNDING 
Failure of an admitted or scheduled 
body leads to unpaid liabilities being 
left in the Fund to be met by others. 

 Transferee admission bodies 
required to have bonds in place 
at time of signing the admission 
agreement. 

 Regular monitoring of 
employers and follow up of 
expiring bonds. 
 

3 4  

Medium 
 

12 
 

 
Strategic 

Finance Director 
and Director of 

People Services 

Jun 2018 

  

P
age 38



   Residual 
risk score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

I 
Im

p
a

c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

16 OPERATIONAL: FUNDING 
Ill health costs may exceed “budget” 
allocations made by the actuary 
resulting in higher than expected 
liabilities particularly for smaller 
employers. 

 Review “budgets” at each 
triennial valuation and challenge 
actuary as required. 

 Charge capital cost of ill health 
retirements to admitted bodies 
at the time of occurring. 

 Occupational health services 
provided by the Council and 
other large employers to 
address potential ill health 
issues early. 
 

2 2  

Low 
 

4 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 
and Director of 

People Services 

Jun 2018 

17 OPERATIONAL: FUNDING 
Transfers out increase significantly as 
members transfer to DC funds to 
access cash through new pension 
freedoms. 
 

 Monitor numbers and values of 
transfers out being processed. 

 If required, commission transfer 
value report from Fund Actuary 
for application to Treasury for 
reduction in transfer values. 
 

2 1  

Low 
 

2 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 
and Director of 

People Services 

Jun 2018 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 39



   Residual 
risk score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

18 OPERATIONAL: ADMINISTRATION 
Loss of funds through fraud or 
misappropriation leading to negative 
impact on reputation of the Fund as 
well as financial loss. 

 Third parties regulated by the 
FCA and separation of duties 
and independent reconciliation 
procedures in place. 

 Review of third party internal 
control reports. 

 Regular reconciliations of 
pension payments undertaken 
by Pensions Finance Team. 

 Periodic internal audits of 
Pensions Finance and HR 
teams. 
 

4 4  

High 
 

16 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 
and Director of 

People Services 

Jun 2018 

19 OPERATIONAL: ADMINISTRATION 
Failure of fund manager or other 
service provider without notice 
resulting in a period of time without the 
service being provided or an 
alternative needing to be quickly 
identified and put in place. 
 

 Contract monitoring in place 
with all providers. 

 Procurement team send alerts 
whenever credit scoring for any 
provider changes for follow up 
action. 
 

2 5  

Low 
 

10 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 
and Director of 

People Services 

Jun 2018 

 
  

P
age 40



   Residual 
risk score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

20 OPERATIONAL: ADMINISTRATION 
Failure of financial system leading to 
lump sum payments to scheme 
members and supplier payments not 
being made and Fund accounting not 
being possible. 

 Contract in place with BT to 
provide service enabling 
smooth processing of supplier 
payments 

 Process in place for Surrey CC 
to generate lump sum payments 
to members as they are due. 

 Officers undertaking additional 
testing and reconciliation work 
to verify accounting transactions 

2 

 

5 

Low 

10 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Finance Director 

Jun 2018 

21 OPERATIONAL: ADMINISTRATION 
Failure of pension payroll system 
resulting in pensioners not being paid 
in a timely manner. 
 
 
 

 In the event of a pension payroll 
failure we would consider 
submitting the previous months 
BACS file to pay pensioners a 
second time if a file could not be 
recovered by the pension 
administrators and our software 
suppliers.  
 

1 

 

5 

Low 
 

5 
 

Director of 
People Services 

Jun 2018 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 41



 
   Residual risk 

score 
   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 

Risk 
Rating 

Officer 
responsible 

Next 
Review 

Date 

22 OPERATIONAL: ADMINISTRATION 
Failure to pay pension benefits 
accurately leading to under or over 
payments. 
 
 

 There are occasional 
circumstances where under or 
over payments are identified. 
Where under payments occur 
arrears are paid as soon as 
possible usually in the next 
monthly pension payment. 
Where an overpayment occurs, 
the member is contacted and 
the pension corrected in the 
next month. Repayment is 
requested and sometimes we 
collect this over a number of 
months. 
 

2 

 

3 

Low 
 
6 

 
 

Director of 
People Services 

Jun 2018 

23 OPERATIONAL: ADMINISTRATION 
Failure of pension administration 
system resulting in loss of records and 
incorrect pension benefits being paid or 
delays to payment. 
 

 Pension administration records 
are stored on the surrey servers 
they have a disaster recovery 
system in place and records 
should be restored within 24 
hours of any issue, files are 
backed up daily. 
 

1 

 

5 

Low 
 
5 

 
 

Director of 
People Services 

Jun 2018 

P
age 42



   Residual risk 
score 

   

Ref Risk Mitigating Actions 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

Im
p

a
c
t 
£
’s

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

N
o

's
 Risk 

Rating 
Officer 

responsible 
Next 

Review 
Date 

24 OPERATIONAL: ADMINISTRATION 
Administrators do not have sufficient 
staff or skills to manage the service 
leading to poor performance and 
complaints. 
 
 

 Surrey CC administers pensions 
for Surrey, East Sussex and is 
taking on our Tri-Borough 
partners. They have a number 
of very experienced 
administrators two of whom 
tuped to them from LPFA with 
our contract.  Where issues 
arise the Pensions Liaison 
Officer reviews directly with the 
Pensions Manager at Surrey. 
More detailed performance 
reports are being developed. 

3 

 

3 

Low 
 
9 

 
 

Director of 
People Services 

Jun 2018 

25 Operational: Administration 
BT unable to provide monthly or end of 
year interface files in a format suitable 
for Surrey CC to update service 
records and undertake day to day 
operations. Inaccuracies in service 
records held on the pensions 
administration system may impact on 
the triennial funding valuation at March 
2016 and notifications to starters and 
leavers. 

 Issue has been escalated by 
the Chief Executive for high 
level resolution with BT 

 Test files are currently with SCC 

 Actuary undertakes data 
cleansing on the service records 
and is confident this will mitigate 
the inaccuracies in service 
records 

1 

 

5 

Low 
 
5 

 
 

Director of 
People Services 

Jun 2018 

 

P
age 43



 
Appendix 5: Pension Fund Voting Summary:  January to March 2018 
 
The investment managers managing the Fund’s assets on a segregated basis are 
able to report on how they have voted the Fund’s specific holdings at AGMs and 
EGMs of companies the Fund is invested in.   
 
LCIV Majedie voting information is as follows: 
 

VOTING 

No. of companies 19 

No. of meetings 20 

No. of resolutions 208 

 
 
LCIV Ruffer voting information is as follows: 
 

VOTING 

No. of companies 13 

No. of meetings 15 

No. of resolutions 74 

 
 
LGIM, who manage the global passive equity portfolio on behalf of the Fund, 
undertake extensive engagement with the companies they are invested in as well as 
voting.  Below is a summary of the meetings they voted at and the engagement they 
undertook during the January to March 2018 quarter. 
 

VOTING 

No. of companies 555 

No. of meetings 574 

No. of resolutions 5,711 

 
 

ENGAGEMENT 

No. of companies 45 

No. of meetings 51 

Top 3 themes Board Composition 

Strategy 

Climate Change 

 

Page 44



Appendix 6 
Forward Plan for Pensions Sub-Committee – June 2018 
 

Area of work Sep 2018 Nov 2018 Mar 2019 Jun 2019 

Governance Quarterly Update 
Pack 

Annual report of 
Pension Board 
activities 

Annual Report 

Quarterly Update 
Pack 

Pension Board 
minutes 

 

Quarterly Update 
Pack 

Pension Board 
minutes 

 

Quarterly Update Pack 

Pension Board minutes 

Business Plan 

Internal Audit Report 

Investments Investment Strategy 
Review 

 

Fund Manager 
monitoring 

Fund Manager 
monitoring 

Fund Manager 
monitoring 

Annual report to 
Scheme Advisory 
Board re pooling 
arrangements 

Funding     

 

P
age 45



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
PENSIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
23 July 2018 

 
 

LOW CARBON STRATEGY 
 

Report of the Strategic Finance Director 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Decision  
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: None 
 

Accountable Director: Philip Triggs, Director of Pensions and Treasury 
 
 

Report Author: Matt Hopson, Strategic 
Investment Manager 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0207 641 4126 
E-mail: mhopson@westminster.gov.uk 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This paper updates Members on: 

a. The Fund’s current exposure to Carbon. 
b. The risks that this may cause. 
c. Any possibilities for divestment in the future and the possible risks. 

 
1.2 This paper should be read in conjunction with the equity strategy paper that 

provides more details on alternative indices.  
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Sub-Committee is requested to approve: 
   

a. The approach of supplier of carbon portfolio analysis systems and 
bespoke reports on an investment portfolio in order to assist investors with 
carbon footprint and climate risk measurement and reporting. 

 
2.2 The Committee is recommended to note this report and the Deloitte report 

attached at Appendix 1. 
   

Page 46

Agenda Item 6



3 DEFINING CARBON EXPOSURE 
 

3.1 Carbon exposure can be difficult to estimate exactly for a number of reasons, 
including areas where many disclosures are voluntary and vary in nature from 
company to company.  

 
3.2 Within companies, many different points in the supply chain can cause carbon 

exposure. With companies that extract fossil fuels from the ground, it is 
usually obvious, but where a company’s supply chain causes a significant 
carbon exposure or simply uses a lot of power, it can be less transparent.   

 
3.3 Other considerations should be given where a company may have a 

significant “carbon footprint” on the one hand, but be investing significant 
resources in renewables on the other, which may mean the organisation will 
be less carbon intensive in the future.  

 
3.4 Ultimately, the only clear way to measure a company’s exposure to carbon is 

through their carbon reserves, which are the fossil fuel assets owned by 
individual companies. 

 
4 INVESTMENT RISKS 
 
4.1 Some of the investment risks associated with investing in companies with high 

fossil fuel exposure include: 
 

 The risk that global fossil fuel consumption falls. The Paris Agreement, 
adopted at the Paris Climate Conference in 2015, is the first legally 
binding global climate deal, which sets out a plan to avoid dangerous 
climate change by limiting global warming to “well below” two degrees 
Celsius above pre-industrial levels. If this agreement is to be upheld, 
global fossil fuel consumption will need to drastically reduce and could 
leave companies with “stranded assets”, assets that will be sitting on 
the balance sheet currently, but can no longer be accessed, thus 
hurting investment performance. 

 

 The highly concentrated business nature of fossil fuel producers means 
that they are exposed to significant commodity price risks. During the 
oil price crash from 2014 to 2016, the price of a barrel of oil fell from 
$110 to $30 and many smaller producers were unable to sustain 
themselves, with the larger ones suffering heavy share price losses. 

 
4.2 It should be pointed out, however, that divesting entirely from a sector can 

also lead to increased investment risk. Had a decision been taken to divest 
from fossil fuel stocks in January 2016, the Fund would have missed out on 
the huge rebound in equity stocks within the oil sector. Royal Dutch Shell, for 
example, one of the Fund’s largest holdings, increased in price by 
approximately 70%. 

 
 
 

Page 47



 
5 OPTIONS FOR REDUCING CARBON EXPOSURE 
 
5.1 The main area of exposure to fossil fuels remains within its equity portfolio. 

This is because they are easiest to measure exposure and the first assets to 
change in price. If the Sub-Committee considers that divesting from fossil 
fuels is a good investment decision to be taken on behalf of its members, then 
transferring the index currently tracked by LGIM to an alternative index would 
be appropriate.  

 
5.2 Potential alternative indices are discussed in the Equity Strategy Paper. 
 
6 FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITY OF THE ADMINISTERING AUTHORITY 
 
6.1 The Sub-Committee holds a key fiduciary responsibility to manage the Fund’s 

investments in the best interests of the beneficiary members and the council 
tax payers, where the primary focus must be on generating an optimum risk 
adjusted return. It is vital that any investment decisions or strategies 
developed, such as a carbon strategy, must not negatively impact on this 
primary responsibility. 

 
6.2 The administering authority has fiduciary duties both to scheme employers 

and scheme members and the investment strategy must be exercised for 
investment purposes, and not for any wider purposes. Thus, investment 
decisions must be spread across a wide variety of investments classes, 
achieve a balanced risk and return objective.  

 
6.3 The precise choice of investments can be influenced by ethical and 

environmental, social and governance (ESG) considerations, so long as that 
does not risk material financial detriment to the fund. Whilst deliberating on 
such issues, Queen’s Counsel (Nigel Giffin) advice, commissioned by the 
LGPS Scheme Advisory Board and published in 2014, states that the 
administering authority may not prefer its own specific interests to those of 
other scheme employers, and should not seek to impose its particular views 
where those views would not be widely shared by scheme employers and 
members (nor may other scheme employers impose their views upon the 
administering authority). 

 
6.4 To this end, if decisions on carbon reduction are taken by the Sub-Committee, 

those decisions must be based on the likely positive investment outcome 
pertaining to the Pension Fund, and be not be based on any ethical approach 
or ideological attitude adopted either by the Sub-Committee or the local 
authority itself.   

 
6 CONSULTATION 
 
6.1 Not Applicable 
 
7 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 48



7.1 Not applicable 
8 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 None 
 
9 FINANCE AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 None 
 
10 IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
10.1 Not applicable 
 
11 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
11.1 None  
 
12 PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 None 
 
13 IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1 None 
 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 

 

Description of 

Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder 
of file/copy 

Department/ 

Location 

1. None   

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1: Carbon Exposure Report  
 

Page 49



Error! No text of specified style in document. | Error! Use the Home tab to apply Section title to the text that you want to appear 

here. 

01/11  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Carbon Exposure 

London Borough of Hammersmith and 

Fulham Pension Fund 
June 2018 

 

 

 

Page 50



Carbon Exposure 

 

2   

1 Executive Summary 

This paper has been prepared for the Pensions Sub-Committee (“the Sub-

Committee”) of the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham Pension 

Fund (“the Fund”). The purpose of this paper is to provide the Sub-

Committee with information on the Fund’s investment exposure to fossil 

fuels, the potential risks this may cause and the options available to 

mitigate this risk. 

This paper should be used to gain a better understanding of how this topic 

can impact an investment portfolio and therefore help the Sub Committee 

to develop a ‘carbon strategy’, as part of the wider investment strategy of 

the Fund. 

This paper should be read in conjunction with the Equity Portfolio Review 

paper, which provides detail on alternative passive equity strategies which 

track a low carbon index.  

The Sub-Committee should also liaise with the London CIV to understand if 

it is looking to implement a solution in this space.  

  

Page 51



Carbon Exposure 

 

3   

2 Defining Carbon 

Exposure 

2.1 Introduction 

‘Carbon footprint’ is a term used to quantify the exposure a stock or 

portfolio may have to fossil fuels, however there is no agreed method on 

how this footprint should be measured. A simple method at the portfolio 

level is to analyse the carbon emissions of each company within a 

portfolio.  

However carbon emissions may not be the best measure, albeit probably 

the simplest. A change in policy or change in society which impacted or 

even restricted the use of fossil fuels would more likely affect companies 

who own fossil fuel assets. This is known as carbon reserves.  

2.2 Carbon Emissions 

Carbon emissions can be split into the following three types: 

 Scope 1: All direct greenhouse gas emissions from sources owned 

or controlled by the company. 

 Scope 2: Indirect greenhouse gas emissions from consumption of 

purchased electricity, heat, or steam. 

 Scope 3: Other indirect emissions that occur from sources not 

owned or controlled by the company. This includes extraction and 

production of purchased materials; transportation of purchased 

fuels; and use of sold products and services.  

As would be expected, the oil and gas and utilities sectors have significant 

direct and indirect emissions, whilst food retailers for example generate 

significant emissions as part of their supply chain. An investment portfolio 

that tracks a market capitalisation based index (such as the FTSE All World 

that the Fund invests in), where developed markets dominate and 

consequently contain a significant proportion of energy-related holdings, 

will have substantial exposure to carbon-intensive companies.  

2.3 Carbon Reserves 

Carbon emissions, defined above, give the current level of impact that 

companies have. However, a change in policy or change in society which 

impacted or even restricted the use of fossil fuels would more likely affect 

companies with high carbon reserves (fossil fuel assets owned by 

companies that are still in the ground to be extracted and sold on) as 

opposed to current emissions. Current emissions can be quickly changed 

and companies can adapt whereas companies with fossil fuel reserves are 

likely to experience a greater impact from such a change in policy. 

Naturally, companies in the oil and gas and basic materials sectors will have 

the greatest exposure by this measure 

2.4 Measuring Carbon Exposure 

Key to developing any carbon strategy within an investment portfolio is to 

understand the portfolios carbon exposure. One of the major issues with 

Page 52



Carbon Exposure 

 

4   

measuring carbon emissions is that company disclosure is voluntary in 

many jurisdictions and when there are gaps, data providers are required to 

make assumptions. Scope 1 and 2 emissions are disclosed relatively widely 

but scope 3 less so, with the disclosure methodology varying between 

companies and industries.  

Largely, the main source of information on carbon emissions is through 

publicly available information such as annual reports, financial reports, 

corporate social responsibility or environmental reports and company 

websites.  

Furthermore, with the companies that do disclose carbon emissions, there is 

often a quality issue regarding the information. In many regions, carbon 

disclosure remains voluntary and is not always audited by external third 

parties, therefore there is a variation in disclosure amongst different 

companies and sectors. 

 

Lastly, it is important to note that carbon footprint should not only be 

measured on the basis of negative impact. New innovations are 

transforming the way we generate, store and consume energy and the 

argument could be made that companies that are involved in this 

transformation are likely to benefit (in the same way that carbon intensive 

companies are likely to suffer) from political and social change. 

Page 53



Carbon Exposure 

 

5   

3 What are the risks? 

3.1 Investment Risks 

Pension schemes, particularly within the public sector, are increasingly 

being encouraged to consider their exposure to fossil fuels and the potential 

risks associated with fossil fuel investments. The investment arguments 

are: 

 Fossil fuels are contributing to climate change and greater onus is 

being put on organisations to control their emissions of greenhouse 

gases. 

 Given the non-sustainability of fossil fuels, companies which are run 

with “carbon-intensive” operations are at risk of not being able to 

sustain their operations in the future. When this point in the future 

may be is unknown, as it is hard to measure the rate at which 

societies around the world will make the transition to a “clean” or 

low carbon energy mix. However, if a company’s sustainability is in 

question, the investment return of its shares are expected to be 

directly affected over the longer term.  

The Paris Agreement, adopted at the Paris Climate Conference in 2015, is 

the first legally binding global climate deal which sets out a plan to avoid 

dangerous climate change by limiting global warming to “well below” 2 

degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels. Assuming this Agreement is 

upheld this will have a big impact on the use (or non-use) of the current 

carbon reserves.  

This creates the risk of ‘stranded assets’ i.e. companies with fossil fuel 

reserves, whose assets are valued much lower, impacting on the valuation 

and therefore share price of the company.  

Secondly, energy is often one of the biggest costs businesses face and 

being a commodity, it is exposed to volatile price fluctuations. Companies 

with high exposure to fossil fuels are therefore at risk. Price change as a 

result of political or social impact (for example carbon taxes) could result in 

a significant change to a company’s operating costs, resulting in an impact 

in the share price valuation.  

 

 

Page 54



Carbon Exposure 

 

6   

4 What are the 

options? 

4.1 Assessing the carbon exposure 

There has been a recent trend of investors moving from reporting of carbon 

exposure to actively attempting to manage / reduce the exposure. In 

response, the asset management industry have developed investment 

solutions both actively managed, and passively managed (with the 

development of new benchmarks by index providers).  

A number of data suppliers offer carbon portfolio analysis systems and 

bespoke reports on an investment portfolio in order to assist investors with 

carbon footprint and climate risk measurement and reporting. 

4.2 The Equity Portfolio 

Equities is much easier to assess than other assets, and is likely to be the 

first to be affected in the event of change. With equity investments, there 

are a number of options available: 

 Negative screening – exclude stocks based on fossil fuel exposure 

and carbon based measures. 

 Positive screening – selects companies that have best climate 

credentials. 

 Thematic – focus on themes such as clean technology. 

 Active ownership – investing and engaging with companies. 

4.3 MSCI Low Carbon 

The MSCI Low Carbon indexes were developed to address carbon emissions 

and carbon reserves and have seen increasing interest from investors over 

the past couple of years. The MSCI World Low Carbon Target Index is 

designed to: 

 reduce exposure to carbon emitting companies, measured in 

current carbon emissions (relative to sales) and potential emission 

from future fossil fuel reserves (per dollar of market capitalisation); 

and 

 to maintain global equity exposure with close tracking to the MSCI 

World Index. 

The emissions data is produced by MSCI and is based on data from annual 

reports, corporate social responsibility reports, the Carbon Disclosure 

Project (an organisation which runs a global disclosure system that enables 

companies, cities, states and regions to disclose greenhouse gas 

emissions), oil and gas industry bodies and other relevant third-party 

sources. 

The constituents of the Index are selected from the parent (MSCI World) 

index using MSCI’s optimisation process. This process seeks to minimise the 

carbon exposure of the constituents of the index relative to the parent 

index, whilst also applying a 0.30% cap on the tracking error. The 

optimisation process also seeks to limit the extent to which the weightings 

of the companies, sectors and countries represented in the index differ from 

Page 55



Carbon Exposure 

 

7   

the weightings of those companies, sectors and countries in the parent 

index. The weight of each company in the index will not exceed 20 times its 

weight in the MSCI World Index and the weight of each country and sector 

represented in the index will not deviate more than 2% (upwards or 

downwards) from its weighting in the MSCI World Index (with the exception 

of the energy sector, where no such constraint is applied). 

4.3.1 Performance 

The FTSE All-World Index has outperformed the MSCI World Low Carbon 

Target Index over all periods considered since August 2015. However, when 

considering the cumulative quarterly return from Q1 2011 to Q4 2017, the 

MSCI World Low Carbon Target Index has outperformed the FTSE All-World 

Index, as can be viewed in the chart below. 

 

4.3.2 Asset allocation 

The country and sector breakdown for the two indexes as at 31 December 

2017 are given below. 

  

  

6%
3%

9%

63%

17%

2%

MSCI World Low Carbon Target Index

UK

Other

Japan

North America

Europe (ex UK)

Asia Pac ex

Japan Dev

6%

10%

9%

54%

15%

6%

FTSE All World Index

UK

World Emerging

Markets

Japan

North America

Europe (ex UK)

Asia Pac ex Japan

Dev

19.0%

16.8%

13.4%12.4%

11.7%

9.4%

4.3%

4.0%
3.2%

3.1%
2.7%

MSCI World Low Carbon Target Index 
Financials

IT

Industrials

Consumer

Discretionary
Health Care

Consumer Staples

Energy

Materials

Telecommunication

Services
Real Estate

Utilities

23%

13%

13%13%

11%

10%

6%

5%
3%

3%

FTSE All World Index 

Financials

Technology

Consumer Goods

Industrials

Consumer Services

Health Care

Oil & Gas

Basic Materials

Utilities

Telecommunications

Page 56



Carbon Exposure 

 

8   

The two indexes have comparable allocations to European (ex UK), UK and 

Japanese equity markets. The MSCI World Low Carbon Target Index 

however has a higher allocation to North America, with a lower allocation to 

Asian and emerging markets. 

4.3.3 Additional details 

The table below gives details of the number of stocks comprising each 

index. 

 MSCI World Low 
Carbon Target Index 

FTSE All-World 
Index 

Number of stocks 1225 3167 

 

As at 31 December 2017, the MSCI World Low Carbon Target Index 

contained c. 40% of the number of stocks in the FTSE All-World Index. The 

Low Carbon Index is therefore a more concentrated portfolio although is still 

significantly more diversified than alternative low carbon solutions. 

 

  

Page 57



Carbon Exposure 

 

9   

5 Fiduciary 

Responsibility 

Should the Sub-Committee wish to make any divestment decisions, it is 

important to highlight and consider its key fiduciary responsibility which is 

to manage the investments in the interests of the members, where the 

focus is on generating the best risk adjusted return. Any investment 

decisions or strategies developed, such as a carbon strategy, must not 

negatively impact on this primary responsibility.  

In managing an LGPS fund, the administering authority has both fiduciary 

duties and public law duties and administering authority owes fiduciary 

duties, both to the scheme employers, and to the scheme members. Thus, 

the administering authority’s power of investment must be exercised for 

investment purposes, and not for any wider purposes. Investment decisions 

must therefore be directed towards achieving a wide variety of suitable 

investments, and to what is best for the financial position of the fund 

(balancing risk and return in the normal way). The precise choice of 

investment may be influenced by wider social, ethical or environmental 

considerations, so long as that does not risk material financial detriment to 

the fund.  

In taking account of any such considerations, the administering authority 

may not prefer its own specific interests to those of other scheme 

employers, and should not seek to impose its particular views where those 

would not be widely shared by scheme employers and members (nor may 

other scheme employers impose their views upon the administering 

authority). 

  

Page 58



Carbon Exposure 

 

10   

6 Conclusion 

In this paper we have outlined how fossil fuel exposure can be defined 

within and investment portfolio. However given the lack of formal reporting 

requirements to report on carbon emissions, information is often 

inconsistent and lacking quality. Therefore establishing the ‘carbon 

footprint’ of a given company is challenging. There are data providers who 

can assist investors to better understand their portfolio’s carbon footprint 

by providing bespoke reports and analysis on a given investment portfolio. 

As this paper has outlined, there is the theory to suggest that carbon 

intensive companies will be negatively impacted as society moves towards a 

‘greener’, low-carbon world, however when this may happen is still 

unknown. It should also be noted that to date, there is little historic 

evidence to suggest that adopting a more “carbon aware” approach to 

investment delivers better risk adjusted returns. While various investment 

managers have developed strategies with a low(er) carbon focus, returns 

over the last 5 years have very much been in line with those delivered by 

the broader universe.  

Finally, it is important that a ‘carbon strategy’ must focus on those 

investments that are likely to benefit from a low carbon regulatory 

environment and seeking to gain exposure to such assets, as well as 

avoiding those that are likely to be negatively impacted. 

Page 59



Carbon Exposure 

 

11   

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

This document is confidential and it is not to be copied or made available to any 

other party. Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited does not accept any liability 

for use of or reliance on the contents of this document by any person save by the 

intended recipient(s) to the extent agreed in a Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits 

Limited engagement contract.  

 

If this document contains details of an arrangement that could result in a tax or 

National Insurance saving, no such conditions of confidentiality apply to the details 

of that arrangement (for example, for the purpose of discussion with tax 

authorities). 

 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited is registered in England and Wales with 

registered number 03981512 and its registered office at Hill House, 1 Little New 

Street, London EC4A 3TR, United Kingdom. 

 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited is a subsidiary of Deloitte LLP, the 

United Kingdom affiliate of Deloitte NWE LLP, a member firm of Deloitte Touche 

Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited by guarantee (“DTTL”). DTTL and 

each of its member firms are legally separate and independent entities. DTTL and 

Deloitte NWE LLP do not provide services to clients. Please see 

www.deloitte.com/about to learn more about our global network of member firms.  

 

Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited is authorised and regulated by the 

Financial Conduct Authority.  

 

© 2018 Deloitte Total Reward and Benefits Limited. All rights reserved. 

 

Page 60



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
PENSIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
23 July 2018 

 
 

LOW CARBON STRATEGY 
 

Report of the Strategic Finance Director 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Decision 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: None 
 

Accountable Director: Philip Triggs, Director of Pensions and Treasury 
 
 

Report Author: Matt Hopson, Strategic 
Investment Manager  

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0207 641 4126 
E-mail: mhopson@westminster.gov.uk 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This paper updates Sub-Committee Members on: 

a. The Fund’s current equity mandates and asset allocation. 
b. The current equity portfolio risks. 
c. Possible alternative indices for the Fund’s passive equity portfolio. 

 
1.2 This paper should be read in conjunction with the carbon exposure paper in 

the agenda that provides more details on carbon exposure and risks.   
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Sub-Committee is requested to approve: 
   

a. The sale of the assets remaining in the Majedie Focus and Tortoise 
Funds. 
 

b. The transfer of choice of index to track in the global passive equity 
portfolio to the MSCI low carbon index, subject to any wider 
environmental, social or governance considerations (ESG) of the Sub-
Committee.   

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



   
3 CURRENT EQUITY ALLOCATION  

 
3.1 The current equity allocation is 45% for the Fund, with which the Sub-

Committee can be comfortable as it does not leave the Fund over-exposed to 
equity market risk. 

 
3.2 The significant equity risk to the Fund is the relatively large allocation to UK 

Equities, since the Fund has 16% of its assets in UK Equities which only 
make up 6% of equities globally, thus concentrating assets relative to the 
world markets in one country. Given the current uncertainty around the UK’s 
exit from the European Union (EU), the Sub-Committee may wish give 
consideration to reducing some exposure in this area. 

 
3.3 The Majedie Focus and Tortoise product would be the most appropriate area 

on which to reduce exposure, given that the diversification benefits from these 
portfolios are not particularly valuable to the Fund when it is already well 
diversified across a number of alternative mandates. 

 
3.4 Officers considered the costs and benefits of equity protection on the existing 

portfolio in consultation with the Fund’s investment consultants, but the 
relatively high costs of achieving this in the long run show this is not cost 
effective. Appendix 2 provides more detail.  

 
4 LOW CARBON OPTIONS 
 
4.1 With the Sub-Committee wishing to potentially reduce exposure to fossil fuels, 

the LGIM World Low Carbon Target Index Fund could be used as an 
alternative to the current MSCI World Index.  

 
4.2 The Fund aims to reduce carbon exposure without moving more than 30 basis 

points away from the parent index in tracking error.  
 
4.3 This would however cost slightly more than the Fund currently pays in 

management fees for its current passive mandate. This is however provided 
through the same framework agreement negotiated by the London CIV at a 
material discount in comparison with what is available otherwise.  

 
4.4 An alternative strategy that the Fund could consider is the LGIM Future World 

Fund, which focuses on wider climate risk as opposed to solely carbon 
exposure. This Fund aims to capture the transition to a low carbon economy 
by having a lower exposure to companies with worse than average carbon 
emissions and fossil fuel assets, and higher exposure to companies that 
generate revenue from low carbon opportunities. 

 
4.5 The objective of the Fund is to replicate the performance of the FTSE All-

World ex CW (Controversial Weapons) Climate Balanced Factor Index (which 
LGIM worked with FTSE Russell to create), whilst not necessarily holding all 
of the constituents. The anticipated annual tracking error relative to the Index 
is +/-60 basis points in two years out of three. 

Page 62



 
4.6 As part of LGIM’s Climate Impact Pledge, it ranks and analyses circa 90 

companies. LGIM actively engages with companies with low scores for a 
period of one year and if no change is observed the company is added to the 
list to be disinvested from the Fund. LGIM will publish the list of disinvested 
companies, as well as the market leaders, on a semi-annual basis. The public 
nature of these announcements will only improve company engagement. 

 
4.7 It should be noted though if the fund wishes to explore this Fund further that it 

would be a completely different investment proposition to the existing passive 
equity portfolio and bring significantly more investment risk and costs.  

 
4.8 Further details of the low carbon options including fees are provided in 

Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
4.9 It should be noted the London CIV is currently working on adding other ESG 

equity option to its platform but information on this is not yet available.   
 
5 CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 Not Applicable 
 
6 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Not applicable 
 
7 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 None 
 
8 FINANCE AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 None 
 
9 IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
9.1 Not applicable 
 
10 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
10.1 None  
 
11 PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 None 
 
12 IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 None 
 

Page 63



LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 

 

Description of 

Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder 
of file/copy 

Department/ 

Location 

1. None   

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1: Equity review  
Appendix 2: Equity Protection  
 

Page 64



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
PENSIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
23 July 2018 

 
 

LONDON CIV UPDATE 
 

Report of the Strategic Finance Director 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Information 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: None 
 

Accountable Director: Philip Triggs, Director of Pensions and Treasury 
 
 

Report Author: Matt Hopson, Strategic 
Finance Investment Manager 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0207 641 4126 
E-mail: mhopson@westminster.gov.uk 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report update members of the Sub-Committee on: 

 
a. The progress made on the London CIV’s Governance Review 
b. Details what is to be discussed at the London CIV’s annual general 

meeting on 12 July 2018. 
c. A brief overview of the investment propositions to be launched with the 

London CIV in the coming months. 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Committee is recommended to note the update. 
 
3 LONDON CIV GOVERNANCE UPDATE AND AGM 

 
3.1 After the London CIV approved its new governance structure at the Pensions 

Sectoral Joint Committee (PSJC), it has begun taking steps to implement it. 
This included the creation of a Shareholders Committee that will report to the 
Board, with the two non-executive directors to be appointed to the Board by 
London Local Authorities. 

Page 65

Agenda Item 8



3.2 Discussions of the memberships of these governance structures are ongoing 
with nominations to be presented at the AGM where Committee Chairs will be 
able to vote on proposals. At the time of writing, no names have officially been 
submitted.  

 
3.3 There are to be amendments to the Shareholder Agreement and Terms of 

Reference that reflect the changes in the governance structure which will 
need to be signed by the Chairman. 

 
3.4 One other issue that will need to be agreed by all shareholders is the 

guarantee of the pensions liability for LCIV staff. Currently LCIV is an admitted 
body to the City of London Pension Fund, whose wish is that all shareholders 
in the London CIV should assume an equal responsibility of the liability 
guarantee. All shareholders must sign the agreement, otherwise alternative 
options will be considered. 

 
3.5 Further details of what will be in the AGM agenda have now been circulated 

via email.  
 
3.6 Officers are seeking legal advice as to whether there are any risks attached to 

the governance documentation.  
 
4 INVESTMENT STRATEGY UPDATES 
 
 Fixed Income 
 
4.1 LCIV has recently launched five new sub-funds in fixed income as listed 

below: 
 

 LCIV MAC (multi-asset credit) Fund: £344m at launch. The fund aims 
to utilise a range of long only strategies across a range of fixed income 
investment to generate returns during different market cycles.   

 LCIV Global Bonds Fund: A traditional global bonds fund that seeks to 
minimise turnover and secure quality bond purchases with low risk of 
default. 

 LCIV Global Liquid Loans Fund: Floating rate loans fund providing 
more secure covenant opportunities than a traditional bond portfolio. 

 LCIV Private Debt Fund: Illiquid Loans that provide higher returns at 
the cost of less liquidity and higher perceived risk. 

 LCIV Long/Short MAC: A multi-asset credit fund that also takes short 
positions on debt as opposed to only long positions.  

 
4.2 Officers will be reviewing the Fund’s fixed income strategy for the next 

meeting in conjunction with the Fund’s investment consultants to consider its 
suitability and whether or not any of the LCIV’s Funds are appropriate. 

Page 66



 
4.3 Sub-Committee members will be offered training on the asset classes if any 

portfolio amendments are recommended.   
 
5 CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 Not Applicable 
 
6 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Not applicable 
 
7 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 None 
 
8 FINANCE AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 None 
 
9 IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
9.1 Not applicable 
 
10 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
10.1 None  
 
11 PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 None 
 
12 IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 None 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 

 

Description of 

Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder 
of file/copy 

Department/ 

Location 

1.    

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1: Letter to CEOs 
Appendix 2: Notice of PSLC Dissolution 

Page 67



Appendix 3: Shareholder ToR and General Meeting Framework 
 

Page 68



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
PENSIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
23 July 2018 

 
 

DRAFT ANNUAL REPORT 
 

Report of the Strategic Finance Director 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Decision 
 
This urgent report has been requested by the chair in order for a low carbon 
proposal to be formulated in time for the next investment strategy review 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: None 
 

Accountable Director: Philip Triggs, Director of Pensions and Treasury 
 
 

Report Author: Matt Hopson, Strategic 
Investment Manager 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0207 641 4126 
E-mail: mhopson@westminster.gov.uk 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report presents the draft Pension Fund Annual Report and Statement of 

Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2018. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Committee is recommended to approve: 
  

a. The Pension Fund Annual Report for 2017/18. 
 

2.2 The committee is recommended to note:  
 

a. The Pension Fund Accounts for 2017/18. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 9



3 ANNUAL REPORT 
 

3.1 The production of the Pension Fund Annual Report, which includes the 
Pension Fund Accounts, is a regulatory requirement and needs to be 
approved by the Pension Fund Sub-Committee by 30 September following the 
year end.  The draft Pension Fund Annual Report for 2017/18 is attached as 
Appendix 1. 

 
3.2 Sub-Committee members are asked to comment on any matters in the draft 

Pension Fund Annual Report and delegate approval of the final document to 
the Tri-Borough Director of Treasury & Pensions in consultation with the 
Chair. 

 
3.3 The Pension Fund accounts were produced and handed to the auditors on 15 

May 2018 along with the Council’s Statement of Accounts. This is ahead of 
the statutory deadline of 31 May, reflecting the diligent work of officers. A draft 
Annual Report was shared with the external auditors on 12 June 2018 and the 
external audit is currently underway and progressing well.   

 
3.4 The Pension Fund investments grew 1.7% over the year, although this was 

1.9% below the benchmark for the year. The Fund remains ahead of its 
benchmark over a two-year time horizon and since inception.  

 
4 CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 Not Applicable 
 
5 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Not applicable 
 
6 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 None 
 
7 FINANCE AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 None 
 
8 IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
8.1 Not applicable 
 
9 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
9.1 None  
 
10 PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 None 

Page 70



 
11 IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 None 
 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 

 

Description of 

Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder 
of file/copy 

Department/ 

Location 

1. None   

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1: Draft Annual Report and Statement of Accounts 
 

Page 71



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

Pension Fund Annual Report and Accounts  

for the year ended 31 March 2018 

 

P
age 72



 
0

0
2

  |  A
N

N
U

A
L R

EP
O

R
T 2

01
7

/20
1

8
  • C

O
N

TEN
TS 

1. PREFACE  2. MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL 

PERFORMANCE 

 3. INVESTMENT POLICY AND 

PERFORMANCE 

 4. SCHEME ADMINISTRATION 

Report from Chair of the Pensions 

Sub-Committee 

Page 004 

Introduction 

Page 005 

 Governance Arrangements 

Page 008 

Scheme Management and Advisors 

Page 010 

Risk Management 

Page 011 

Financial Performance 

Page 014 

Administration Management 

Performance 

Page 018 

 Investment Policy 

Page 027 

Asset Allocation 

Page 028 

Investment Performance 

Page 030 

Corporate Governance 

Page 032 

 Service Delivery 

Page 035 

Internal Dispute Resolution 

Procedure 

Page 035 

       

5. ACTUARIAL INFORMATION  6. PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS  7. GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS  8. APPENDICES 

Report by Actuary 

Page 037 

 

 Statement of Responsibilities 

Page 039 

Independent Auditors Report 

Page 040 

Pension Fund Accounts and 

Explanatory Notes 

Page 042 

 Glossary of Terms 

Page 081 

Contact for Further Information 

Page 084 

 Governance Compliance Statement 

Page 086 

Statement of Investment Principles 

Page Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Communication Policy 

Page 091 

Funding Strategy Statement 

Page 096 

Contents 

P
age 73



 

 

 

 

Section 1  

 

Preface and Introduction 
 

P
age 74



 

 

0
0

4
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

R
EFA

C
E 

WELCOME TO THE ANNUAL REPORT OF 
HAMMERMSITH AND FULHAM PENSION 
FUND. 

The Pensions Sub-Committee is responsible for 

overseeing the management of the London Borough of 

Hammersmith and Fulham Pension Fund, including 

investment management and pension administration 

issues.  As the current Chairman of this Committee, I 

am pleased to introduce the Pension Fund’s Annual 

Report for the year 2017-18. 

 

During the year, the value of the Fund increased by 

over £6m to £1,009m reflecting the continued 

recovery in the global economy since last year.  The 

Sub-Committee continues to monitor the Fund closely 

at each quarterly committee meeting and challenges 

the investment advisors as necessary to ensure the 

Fund’s investments are being managed effectively. 

 

During 2016/17 the triennial revaluation of the 

Pension Fund was carried out by the Fund actuaries, 

Barnett Waddingham, using data as at 31 March 2016.  

The actuary reported that the Fund has sufficient 

assets to cover 88% of future pension liabilities and an 

overall deficit of £114m. This is an improvement in the 

funding level at the previous valuation in 2013 of 83%.  

 

The Fund has transferred assets to the London 

Collective Investment Vehicle (LCIV) in the quest for 

efficiencies and fee reductions. The year started with 

£127m of the Majedie Portfolio being transferred to 

LCIV in May 2017, with a further £60m of Majedie 

equities being liquidated and transferred to the Ruffer 

Absolute Return portfolio. This realised some of the 

asset class gains, in addition to rebalancing the 

portfolio in advance of expected capital calls on both 

the new Aviva Sustainable Infrastructure Fund and the 

existing Partners Group Infrastructure Fund. The 

pooling of assets will continue over the coming years 

to maximise cost savings and net of fees returns for the 

Fund. 

 

The Pension Fund remains conscious of its role in 

ensuring good environmental, social and governance 

behaviours from the companies in which it invests, 

with a key part of this looking at the Fund’s carbon 

footprint. This is expected to be reviewed at the July 

2018 Sub-Committee meeting.  I would like to thank all 

those involved in the management of the Pension Fund 

during the year especially those who served on the 

Sub-Committee during 2017-18 

.

 

Councillor Iain Cassidy  

Chairman of the Audit, Pensions & Standards 

Committee & Pensions Sub-Committee 

  

Report from Chair of the Pensions Sub-Committee 

P
age 75



 

 

0
0

5
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

R
EFA

C
E 

The London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

Pension Fund is part of the national Local 

Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and is 

administered locally by Hammersmith and Fulham 

Council. It is a contributory defined benefit pension 

scheme established under statute, which provides for 

the payment of benefits to employees and former 

employees of the City of Westminster Council and the 

admitted and scheduled bodies in the Fund.  

The Fund is financed by contributions from 

employees, the Council, the admitted and scheduled 

bodies and returns from the Fund’s investments.  

Contribution rates for employees and employers are 

set by the Fund’s actuary at the actuarial valuation 

which is carried out every three years. The most 

recent revaluation, carried out as at 31 March 2016, 

was used to set contribution rates with effect from 1 

April 2017 through to April 2020. 

A new LGPS scheme was introduced with effect from 

1st April 2014.  One of the main changes is that a 

scheme member’s pension is no longer based on their 

final salary but on their earnings throughout their 

career.  This is known as a Career Average Revalued 

Earnings (CARE) scheme.  Everything built up in the 

Scheme before 1st April 2014 is protected so benefits 

up to that date will be based on the scheme 

member’s final year’s pay.

Benefits payable from the Fund are set out in the 

Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, 

as amended, and in summary consist of: 

• A pension based on career average earnings 

(revalued in line with the Consumer Prices Index) 

• Pensionable pay to include non-contractual 

overtime and additional hours 

• Flexibility for member to pay 50% contributions 

for 50% of the pension benefit  

• Normal pension age to equal the individual 

member’s State Pension Age 

• Option to trade £1 of pension for a £12 tax-free 

lump sum at retirement 

• Death in service lump sum of three times 

pensionable pay and survivor benefits 

• Early payment of pensions in the event of ill health 

The Fund is governed by the Public Service Pensions 

Act 2013 and the LGPS Regulations 2013 (as 

amended) and the LGPS (Management and 

Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016.  The content 

and format of this annual report is prescribed by the 

LGPS Regulations 2013.   

Publication of this report gives the Council the 

opportunity to demonstrate the high standard of 

governance and financial management applied to the 

Fund. It brings together a number of separate 

reporting strands into one comprehensive document 

that enables both the public and employees to see 

how the Fund is managed and how well it is 

performing.  

It is in the interest of both employees and the public 

that the Fund is well managed and continues to 

provide high returns and excellent value for money.  

Introduction 

P
age 76



 

 

0
0

6
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

R
EFA

C
E 

This annual report comprises the following sections: 

 

• Management and Financial Performance which 

explains the governance and management 

arrangements for the Fund, as well as 

summarising the financial position and the 

approach to risk management. 

• Investment Policy and Performance detailing the 

Fund’s investment strategy, arrangements and 

performance.  

• Scheme Administration which sets out how the 

Scheme’s benefits and membership are 

administered. 

• The funding position of the Fund with a statement 

from the Fund’s actuary. 

• The Fund’s annual accounts for the year ended 

31 March 2018 

• List of contacts and a glossary of some of the 

more technical terms 

• Appendices setting out the various regulatory 

policy statements of the Fund: 

• Governance Compliance Statement 

• Statement of Investment Principles 

• Communication Policy 

• Funding Strategy Statement 

• Further information about the Local 

Government Pension Scheme can be found at 

www.lbhfpensionfund.org 

Introduction (continued) 

P
age 77

http://www.lbhfpensionfund/


 

 

 

 

 

P
age 78



 

 

0
0

8
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 

The London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Council has delegated responsibility for pension 

matters to the Audit, Pensions and Standards 

Committee (the Committee).  

 The Committee comprises nine elected 

representatives of the Council – five from the 

administration and four opposition party 

representatives.  Members of the admitted bodies 

and representatives of the Trade Unions may attend 

the committee meetings but have no voting rights. In 

order to manage the workload of the committee, it 

has delegated decisions in relation to all pension 

matters to the Pensions Sub-committee. 

The Sub-Committee obtains and considers advice 

from the Tri-Borough Director of Pensions and 

Treasury, the Section 151 Officer and, as necessary, 

from the Fund’s appointed actuary, advisors and 

investment managers. 

Terms of Reference for the Sub-Committee are: 

• To agree the investment strategy and strategic 

asset allocation having regard to the advice of 

the fund managers and the Investment 

Consultant.  

• To monitor performance of the Pension Fund, 

individual fund managers, custodians, actuary 

and other external advisors to ensure that they 

remain suitable. 

 

• To determine the Fund management 

arrangements, including the appointment and 

termination of the appointment of the Fund 

Managers, Actuary, Custodians and Fund 

Advisers.  

• To agree the Statement of Investment Principles, 

the Funding Strategy Statement, the Business 

Plan for the Fund, the Governance Policy 

Statement, the Communications Policy 

Statement and the Governance Compliance 

Statement and to ensure compliance with these.  

• To approve the final statement of accounts of 

the Pension Fund and to approve the Annual 

Report. 

• To receive actuarial valuations of the Pension 

Fund regarding the level of employers’ 

contributions necessary to balance the Pension 

Fund. 

• To oversee and approve any changes to the 

administrative arrangements, material contracts 

and policies and procedures of the Council for 

the payment of pensions, and allowances to 

beneficiaries. 

• To make and review an admission policy relating 

to admission agreements generally with any 

admission body.  

• To ensure compliance with all relevant statutes, 

regulations and best practice with both the 

public and private sectors. 

 

• To review the arrangements and managers for 

the provision of Additional Voluntary 

Contributions for fund members. 

• To receive and consider the Auditor’s report on 

the governance of the Pension Fund. 

• To determine any other investment or Pension 

Fund policies that may be required from time to 

time so as to comply with Government 

regulations and to make any decisions in 

accordance with those policies 

The current membership of the Pensions Sub-

Committee is set out below. All members served for 

the full year in 2017/18. 

Councillor Committee 
Attendance 

2017/18  

Iain Cassidy (Chair) 4/4 

Michael Adam (Vice Chair) 4/4 

Nicholas Botterill 3/4 

PJ Murphy 4/4 

Guy Vincent 4/4 

 

Councillors may be contacted at Hammersmith Town 

Hall, King Street, London, W6 9JU 

Governance Arrangements 

P
age 79



 

 

0
0

9
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

LOCAL PENSION BOARD 

The Council has also established a Pensions Board to 

assist the Pensions Sub-Committee as required by the 

Public Services Pensions Act 2013.  The purpose of the 

Pensions Board is to provide oversight of the Pensions 

Sub-Committee. 

The Board does not have a decision making role in 

relation to management of the Fund, but is able to 

make recommendations to the Pensions Sub-

Committee.  It meets at least twice a year. 

Terms of Reference for the Local Pension Board can 

be found on the Pension Fund website at  

http://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/documents/s67497/Bac

kground%20and%20Role%20of%20the%20Board.pdf 

The membership of the Board is as follows: 

• Three employer representatives comprising one 
from an admitted or scheduled body and two 
nominated by the Council; 

• Three scheme member representatives from the 
Council or an admitted or scheduled body. 
 

The current membership of the Pensions Board is set 

out below. All members served for the full year 

2017/18. 

Board Member Employer/Employee Attendance 

2017/18  

Cllr Ali Hashem (Chair) Employer 0/2 

Cllr Rory Vaughan Employer 2/2 

Eric Kersey Employee 1/2 

Orin Miller Employee 1/2 

Neil Newton Employee 1/2 

MEMBER AND OFFICER TRAINING 

During 2017-18 knowledge was gained at various 

meetings with investment managers in addition to 

individual attendance at conferences and seminars.  

Further relevant training is planned for 2018-19 

based on self-assessments completed by Sub-

Committee and board members in accordance with 

the policy. 

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

The Pension Fund is governed by elected members 

acting as trustees and the Code of Conduct for 

elected members’ sets out how any conflicts of 

interests should be addressed.  The Members Code of 

Conduct is in Part 5 of the Council Constitution at 

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_at

tachments/lbhf_constitution.pdf 

The Code includes general provisions on ethics and 

standards of behaviour which require elected 

members to treat others with respect and not to 

bully, intimidate or do anything to compromise the 

impartiality of those who work for or on behalf of the 

Council. The Code also contains rules about 

“disclosable pecuniary interests” and sets out the 

action an elected member must take when they have 

such an interest in Council business, for instance 

withdrawing from the room or chamber when the 

matter is discussed and decided in committee, unless 

dispensation has been obtained from the Council’s 

Monitoring Officer. 

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE 
STATEMENT 

The LGPS Regulations 2013 require Pension Funds to 

prepare, publish and maintain a governance 

compliance statement; and to measure the 

governance arrangements in place against a set of 

best practice principles.  This measurement should 

result in a statement of full, partial or non-compliance 

with a further explanation provided for any non- or 

partial-compliance. 

The key issues covered by the best practice principles 

are: 

• Formal committee structure; 

• Committee membership and representation; 

• Selection and role of lay members; 

• Voting rights; 

• Training, facility time and expenses. 

The Fund’s Governance Compliance statement was 

updated in June 2015 can be found at Appendix 1. 

P
age 80



 

 

0
1

0
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

EXTERNAL PARTIES 

Investment Adviser Deloitte  

Investment Managers Equities (Active) 

London LGPS CIV Ltd - Majedie Asset 
Management 

Equities (Passive) 

Legal and General Investment Management 

Absolute Return Bonds 

Insight Investment Management 

Inflation Opportunities 

M & G Investments 

 Dynamic Asset Allocation 

London LGPS CIV Ltd - Ruffer LLP 

Multi-Asset Credit 

Oak Hill Advisers 

Partners Group 

Long Lease Property 

Standard Life Investments 

Infrastructure 

Partners Group 
Aviva Investors  

Private equity 

Invesco 

Unigestion 

Custodian Northern Trust  

Banker Nat West Bank  

Actuary Barnett Waddingham  

Auditor KPMG UK LLP   

Legal Adviser Eversheds Sutherland  

Scheme Administrators Surrey County Council  

AVC Providers Zurich Assurance Equitable Life Assurance Society 

OFFICERS 

Strategic Finance Director (section 151) Officer Hitesh Jolapara  

Tri-Borough Pensions Team Phil Triggs from December 2017 

Peter Carpenter to July 2017 

Matt Hopson from August 2017 

Miriam Adams from October 2017 

Alex Robertson 

Yvonne Thompson-Hoyte 

Sue Hands 

Jaimina Shah 

Director of Human Resources and 

Organisational Development 

Mark Grimley  

Pensions Manager Maria Bailey  

Contact details are provided in Section 7 of this report.  

Scheme Management and Advisors 

P
age 81



 

 

0
1

1
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

The Fund’s primary long-term risk is that its assets 

fall short of its liabilities such that there are 

insufficient assets to pay promised benefits to 

members.  The investment objectives have been set 

with the aim of maximising investment returns over 

the long term within specified risk tolerances.  This 

aims to optimise the likelihood that the promises 

made regarding members’ pensions and other 

benefits will be fulfilled. 

Responsibility for the Fund’s risk management strategy rests with the Pensions Sub-Committee. 

In order to manage risks a Pension Fund Risk Register is maintained and reviewed quarterly. Risks identified have 

been reduced through planned actions. The Risk Register is managed by the Tri-Borough Director of Pensions and 

Treasury and risks have been assigned to “Risk Owners”. 

The key risks identified within the Pension Fund risk register are: 

Objective area at risk  Risk Risk rating Responsible officer Mitigating actions 

Administration 3rd parties undertaking outsourced 
administration work are unable to 

unable to facilitate timely and 
accurate updating of service records. 
Inaccuracies in service records may 

impact on actuarial valuations, 
calculations of pension benefits and 
on notifications to starters and 

leavers. 

Medium 

 

Director of Human 
Resources 

Issue has been escalated by 
the Chief Executive for high 

level resolution with British 
Telecom 

Test files are currently with 
Surrey County Council 

Actuary undertakes data 
cleansing on service records 
as part of the triennial 

revaluation which should 
identify the extent of any 
inaccuracies 

Administration Loss of funds through fraud or 
misappropriation by 3rd parties could 

lead to negative impact on reputation 
of the Fund as well as financial loss. 

High 

 

Strategic Finance 
Director and 

Director of Human 
Resources 

Third parties regulated by the 
FCA. 

Separation of duties and 
independent reconciliation 
procedures in place. 

Review of third party internal 

control reports. 

Regular reconciliations of 
pension payments undertaken 

by Pensions Finance Team. 

Periodic internal audits of 
Pensions Finance and HR 
teams. 

 

Risk Management 

P
age 82



 

 

0
1

2
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

Risks arising from financial instruments are outlined in 

the notes to the Pension Fund Accounts (Note 16). 

The Funding Strategy Statement (at Appendix 4) sets 

out the key risks, including demographic, regulatory, 

governance, to not achieving full funding in line with 

the strategy.  The actuary reports on these risks at 

each triennial valuation or more frequently if 

required. 

 

Objective area at risk  Risk Risk rating Responsible officer Mitigating actions 

Regulation Introduction of European Directive 

MiFID II results is a restriction of Fund’s 
investment options and an increase in 
costs 

Low 

 

Strategic Finance 

Director 

Officers are engaging with 

Fund Managers to understand 
the position better 

Knowledge and Skills Policy in 
place for Officers and 

Members of the Committee 

Maintain links with central 
government and national 

bodies to keep abreast of 
national issues. 

Funding Scheme members live longer leading to 
higher than expected liabilities. 

Medium 

 

Strategic Finance 
Director 

Review at each triennial 
valuation and challenge 
actuary as required. 

Funding Assumed levels of inflation and interest 

rates may be inaccurate leading to 
higher than expected liabilities. 

Medium 

 

Strategic Finance 

Director 

Review at each triennial 

valuation and challenge 
actuary as required. 

Growth assets and inflation 
linked assets in the portfolio 

should rise as inflation rises. 

Funding Failure of an admitted or scheduled 

body leads to unpaid liabilities being left 
in the Fund to be met by others 

Medium Strategic Finance 

Director and 
Director of Human 
Resources 

Transferee admission bodies 

required to have bonds in 
place at time of signing the 
admission agreement. 

Regular monitoring of 
employers and follow up of 
expiring bonds 

Investment Fund managers fail to achieve the 
returns agreed in their management 

agreements. 

Medium Strategic Finance 
Director 

Independent monitoring of 
fund manager performance 

against targets. 

Fund manager performance is 
reviewed quarterly. 

  

Risk Management (continued) 

P
age 83



 

 

0
1

3
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

THIRD PARTY RISKS 

The Council has outsourced the following functions of 

the Fund: 

• Investment management; 

• Custodianship of assets; 

• Pensions administration. 

As these functions are outsourced, the Council is 

exposed to third party risk. A range of investment 

managers are used to diversify manager risk.   

To mitigate the risks regarding investment 

management and custodianship of assets, the Council 

obtains independent internal controls assurance 

reports from the reporting accountants to the 

relevant service providers. These independent reports 

are prepared in accordance with international 

standards. Any weaknesses in internal control 

highlighted by the controls assurance reports are 

reviewed and reported as necessary to the Pension 

Committee. 

The Council’s internal audit service undertakes 

planned programmes of audits of all the Councils’ 

financial systems on a phased basis, all payments and 

income/contributions are covered by this process as 

and when the audits take place.

                                                                 
Periods covered by the above reports are typically not 
aligned with the Pension Fund’s financial year. Bridging 
statements have been provided for the remainder of the year. 

The results of these reviews are summarised below and cover 99.5% of investment holdings at 31 March 2017. 

Fund manager  Type of assurance Control  framework Compliance with controls Reporting accountant 

Ruffer LLP ISAE34022 Reasonable assurance Reasonable assurance Ernst Young LLP 

Insight1 ISAE34022 Reasonable assurance Reasonable assurance KPMG LLP 

Legal & General Investment 
Management2 

ISAE34022 Reasonable assurance Reasonable assurance PwC LLP 

Oak Hill Advisers SOC10 Reasonable assurance Reasonable assurance RSM US LLP 

Partners Group ISAE34020 Reasonable assurance Reasonable assurance PwC LLP 

Majedie ISAE34020 Reasonable assurance Reasonable assurance KPMG LLP 

M & G Investments SOC10 Reasonable assurance Reasonable assurance Ernst Young LLP 

Unigestion ISAE34020 Reasonable assurance Reasonable assurance KPMG LLP 

Standard Life ISAE34022 Reasonable assurance Reasonable assurance PwC LLP 

Custodian     

Northern Trust SOC10 Reasonable assurance Reasonable assurance KPMG LLP 

 

Risk Management (continued) 

P
age 84



 

 

0
1

4
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

The Fund asset value increased by £7m to £1,010m as at 31 March 2018 due to the recovery in global markets 

since the uncertainty of 2016/17.  

The triennial revaluation was completed in 2016/17 showing an improvement in the overall funding level to 88% 

compared to 83% in 2013.  However, funding levels for different employers vary significantly. To improve funding 

levels, the Council’s medium-term financial plan already assumes an increase in employer contributions, which in 

combination with other employers, will improve the overall funding level over the next three years. 

The new valuation report will be used to determine contribution rates for the period 2017/18 to 2019/20. 

ANALYTICAL REVIEW 
 

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Fund Account £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Dealings with members     

Contributions (30,082) (30,617) (32,274) (33,454) 

Pensions 33,982 37,858 40,770 42,827 

Net  (additions)/withdrawals from dealings with members 3,900 7,241 8,496 9,373 

     

Management expense 7,216 7,762 6,530 4,503 

Net investment returns (11,167) (12,631) (12,799) (10,283) 

Change in market value (105,595) 9,784 (148,740) (10,384) 

Net (increase)/decrease in the Fund (105,646) 12,156 (146,513) (6,791) 

Over the four-year period, pensions paid have 

exceeded contributions by £29m in total. This reflects 

the maturity of the Fund membership in that there 

are fewer contributors than beneficiaries, although 

increased deficit recovery contributions in 2017/18 

have reduced this.   

Net investment returns in 2017/18 have remained 

healthy despite falling slightly in comparison to last  

years, reflecting the fact that 2016/17 was a 

particularly good year for equities compounded a 

little with the weakening of sterling.  

Both officers and the Pension Fund Committee 

monitor investment performance closely and refer to 

independent investment advisers as necessary to 

ensure the Fund’s investments are being managed 

effectively.   

Financial Performance 

P
age 85



 

 

0
1

5
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Net Asset Statement £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Bonds 31,923 36,771 0 0 

Equities 371,885 136,937 112,475 0 

Pooled investment vehicles 443,015 671,300 834,828 998,290 

Commodities 2,540 1,976 0 0 

Derivatives (709) (368) 0 0 

Cash deposits 15,410 7,544 7,856 6,168 

Other 717 1,504 486 35 

Total Investment Assets 864,781 855,664 1,002,682 1,004,494 

Current assets 4,840 1,842 4,373 6,420 

Current Liabilities (1,146) (1,187) (4,223) (1,291), 

Total Net Assets available to fund benefits 868,475 856,319 1,002,832 1,009,623 

 

The points to note are: 

• 95% of pooled investment vehicles comprise 

equity shareholdings both domestic and overseas, 

while the remaining 5% is in property pooled 

funds. (94% and 6% respectively in 2016/17). 

• The overall value of pooled investment vehicles 

increased by £163m (16%) during the year. 

Further details are given in the Investment Policy and 

Performance Section.

Financial Performance (continued) 

P
age 86



 

 

0
1

6
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

ANALYSIS OF DEALINGS WITH SCHEME MEMBERS 

 

 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Contributions receivable      

- Members (6,658) (6,795) (6,937) (6,781) 

- Employers (21,944) (22,412) (22,494) (24,268) 

- Transfers in (1,445) (1,375) (2,090) (3,012) 

- Other (35) (35) (753) 607 

Total Income (30,082) (30,617) (32,274) (33,454) 

 

Benefits/Expenses     

- Pensions 28,155 29,076 30,002 31,465 

- Lump sum retirements and death benefits 4,955 5,536 5,685 7,256 

- Transfers out 856 3,230 5,046 4,086 

- Refunds 16 16 37 20 

Total Expenditure 33,982 37,858 40,770 42,827 

Net Dealings with Members 3,900 7,241 8,496 9,373 

 

The key variances were due to the following: 

• Lump sums rose due to more members retiring 

than in previous years. 

• Transfers out were higher because more members 

chose to transfer their benefits to another 

employer or remove them under the freedom of 

choice legislation. 

• Transfers in were lower, reflecting fewer new 

starters joining the scheme and choosing to 

transfer in benefits on commencement of 

employment, than last year. 

Financial Performance (continued) 

P
age 87



 

 

0
1

7
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONAL EXPENSES 

The costs of running the pension fund are shown below. 

 
2016/17 2017/18 

 
£’000 £’000 

Administration   

Employees 138 235 

Supplies and services 381 165 

Other costs 1 3 
 

520 403 

Governance and Oversight   

Employees 103 341 

Investment advisory services 66 65 

Governance and compliance 43 0 

External audit 24 21 

Actuarial fees 31 25 
 

267 452 

Investment Management   

Management fees 4,310 3,223 

Performance fees 997 343 

Transaction costs 382 44 

Custodian fees 54 38 
 

5,743 3,648 

Total 6,530 4,503 

 

  

The key variances were due to the following: 

• Reduced costs for administrative services in 

2017/18 to 2016/17 reflects one-off IT costs and 

new software licences related to new online 

pension services for members and employers. 

• The reduction in investment management costs in 

2017/18 reflects participation in the London CIV 

which has led to economies of scale through lower 

management fees and transaction costs.  

Financial Performance (continued) 

P
age 88



 

 

0
1

8
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

The administration of the Fund is managed by Hammersmith and Fulham Council, but undertaken by Surrey County 

Council under a not-for-profit contractual arrangement operational from 1 September 2014. 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

The contract with Surrey County Council includes a number performance indicators included to ensure that service 

to members of the pension fund is effective.  The targets are set out below, along with actual performance. 

Performance Indicators Target Performance Performance 

  2016/17 2017/18 

Letter detailing transfer out quote 20 days 59% 34% 

Process refund and issue payment voucher 10 days 92% 98% 

Letter notifying estimate of retirement benefit 10 days 82% 100% 

Letter notifying actual retirement benefit 7 days 87% 100% 

Letter acknowledging death of member 5 days 100% 100% 

Letter notifying amount of dependant’s benefits 10 days 100% 100% 

Calculate and notify deferred benefits 20 days 70% 44% 

 

Staff shortages, new legislative requirements and implementing new online pension systems have all had a 

negative impact on the performance indicators shown above. However, there have been no delays in processing 

pension payments and no impact on the accuracy of final calculations made.   

Looking forward, staffing issues have been addressed and new legislative requirements are now in place although 

they do involve more detailed and complex information to be provided to scheme members. 

ORBIS 

The ORBIS on-line pension system is now in operation 

with a secure portal which enables members to: 

• Update personal details 

• Check membership records and calculate pension 

projections 

• View payslips and P60s 

• Nominate beneficiaries 

Scheme employers can use the new system to: 

• Submit starter and leaver details and other 

changes online 

• View and update employee details 

• Run benefit calculations, e.g. early retirements 

COMPLAINTS RECEIVED 

The pension administrators occasionally deal with 

members of the fund who dispute an aspect of their 

pension benefits. These cases are dealt with by the 

Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure (see section 4)  

No new complaints have been lodged with the 

Ombudsman in 2017/18.  

Administration Management Performance 

P
age 89



 

 

0
1

9
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

 

STAFFING INDICATORS 

The administration of the Fund comprises: 

• 3 full-time equivalent (FTE) staff engaged by 

Surrey CC working directly on pension 

administration for Hammersmith and Fulham 

• 1.8 FTE Hammersmith and Fulham HR staff to deal 

with internal administration. 

• 1.93 FTE Westminster Finance staff, assigned to 

the oversight and governance of the Pension 

Fund. 

• Costs remain below the average for London 

borough pension funds as shown in the chart, and 

are subject to regular review.

£0

£10

£20

£30

£40

£50

£60

£70

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Administration Cost per Member

London average 

Hammersmith & Fulham 

English pension fund 
average

Administration Management Performance (continued) 

P
age 90



 

 

0
2

0
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

Administration Management 
Performance (continued) 

MEMBERSHIP NUMBERS AND TRENDS 

Overall membership has increased by 21% over the 

past 10 years from 12,914 to 15,689.  

 

However, over this period the number of 

contributing members to the Pension Fund has 

declined steadily from 2008/09 to 2012/13.  

 

The introduction of auto-enrolment in 2013 and the 

increase in employers admitted into the Scheme has 

started to reverse this trend.  Nonetheless, the 

number of pensioners has continued to rise in 

common with other local government pension 

funds, reflecting the increasing maturity of the 

Fund.  

 

 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

31 March
2009

31 March
2010

31 March
2011

31 March
2012

31 March
2013

31 March
2014

31March
2015

31 March
2016

31 March
2017

31 March
2018

Fund Membership

Contributors Deferred Pensioners

P
age 91



 

 

0
2

1
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

The total number of pensioners in receipt of 

enhanced benefits due to ill health or early retirement 

on the grounds of redundancy or efficiency of the 

service is given below as at each year on 31 March. 

 

Reason for Leaving 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Ill Health Retirement 10 10 10 6 

Early Retirement 23 3 29 18 

Total 33 46 39 24 

 

Administration Management Performance (continued) 

P
age 92



 

 

0
2

2
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

CONTRIBUTING EMPLOYERS AND CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED 

Below is a list of the current active contributing employers and the contributions 

received for 2017/18 (Figures include early retirement and deficit funding 

contributions). 

   Employees 
Contributions 2 

 Employers 
Contributions  

 Total 
Contributions  

 

 £'000   £'000   £'000  

Administering Authority Employers 
   

LONDON BOROIUGH OF HAMMERSMITH 

AND FULHAM 4,295  15,480  19,775  

    

Addison Primary School 29  127  155  

All Saints Primary School 11  46  57  

Bayonne Nursery School 15  73  88  

Brackenbury Primary School 30  132  162  

Cambridge School (Special) 20  92  112  

Flora Gardens Primary School 20  85  105  

Holy Cross RC Primary School 30  133  163  

Jack Tizard School (Special) 46  200  246  

James Lee Nursery School 9  40  50  

Kenmont Primary School 14  61  74  

Larmenier & Sacred Heart Primary School 22  102  124  

Melcombe Primary School 40  175  215  

Miles Coverdale Primary School 26  113  140  

Normand Croft Community School for 
Early Years & Primary Education 19  85  104  

Old Oak Primary School 27  120  146  

                                                                 
2 Includes early retirement and deficit contributions 

   Employees 

Contributions 2 

 Employers 

Contributions  

 Total 

Contributions  

Queensmill School 96  418  514  

Randolph Beresford Early Years Centre 

Nursery School 45  185  230  

Sir John Lillie Primary School 28  120  147  

St Augustine's Primary School 13  57  70  

St John XXIII Catholic Primary School 
(previously called Pope John) 22  102  125  

St Johns CE Primary School 24  103  126  

St Mary's Primary School 17  72  89  

St Paul's Primary School 23  101  125  

St Peter's Church of England Primary 
School 14  63  77  

St Stephens CoE Primary School 34  148  181  

St. Thomas of Canterbury Primary School 10  42  52  

The Good Shepherd Primary School 17  82  100  

Vanessa Nursery School 16  68  84  

Wendall Park Primary School 26  114  141  

William Morris Sixth Form School 54  219  272  

Wood Lane High School 16  66  82  

Wormholt Park Primary School 32  130  161  

Total Contributions from Administering 

Authority 

5,140 19,152 24,292 

Administration Management Performance (continued) 

P
age 93



 

 

0
2

3
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

SCHEDULED BODIES 

The Fund provides pensions not only for employees of Hammersmith and Fulham 

Council, but also for the employees of a number of scheduled and admitted bodies.  

Scheduled bodies are organisations which have a statutory right to be a member of 

the Local Government Pension Scheme under the regulations e.g. academy schools. 

   Employees 
Contribution3 

 Employers’ 
Contributions  

 Total 
Contributions  

Scheduled Bodies 
   

Bentworth Academy 8  35  44  

Bridge Academy 0  0  0  

Brightwells Academy 79  309  388  

Burlington Danes Academy 95  207  302  

Conway Academy 10  43  53  

Fulham Boys Free School 17  60  76  

Fulham College Academy Trust (Boys) 42  151  193  

Fulham College Academy Trust (Girls) 44  149  193  

Futures (Phoenix) Academy 43  164  207  

Greenside Academy 18  70  88  

Hammersmith Academy 47  169  216  

Hurlingham and Chelsea Academy 28  101  130  

    

                                                                 
3 Includes early retirement and deficit contributions 

 

   Employees 
Contribution4 

 Employers’ 
Contributions  

 Total 
Contributions  

Scheduled Bodies 
   

Lady Margaret Academy 47  168  216  

Langford Academy 9  33  42  

Lena Gardens Academy 10  39  48  

London Oratory School 56  132  188  

Mortlake Crematorium Board 20  54  73  

Sacred Heart Academy 56  175  231  

Swift ARK Academy 18  74  91  

The Bridge AP Academy 70  243  313  

Thomas' Academy 17  74  91  

West London Free School 72  258  330  

    

Total Contributions From Scheduled Bodies 806 2,708 3,513 

4 Includes early retirement and deficit contributions 

Administration Management Performance (continued) 

P
age 94



 

 

0
2

4
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

ADMITTED BODIES 

Admitted bodies participate in the pension scheme via an admission agreement 

made between the Council and the employing organisation.  Examples of admitted 

bodies are not for profit organisations linked to the Council and contractors who 

have taken on delivery of services with Council staff also transferred to third parties. 

                                                                 
5 Includes early retirement and deficit contributions 

   Employees 
Contribution6 

 Employers’ 
Contributions  

 Total 
Contributions  

FM Conway (2012) 4  14  18  

Fulham Palace Trust 12  48  59  

Glencross Cleaning Ltd 0  0  0  

H & F Bridge Partnership 35  0  35  

HATS 3  11  14  

HCT 4  15  19  

Hestia 1  5  6  

Impact 24  80  104  

Innovate 6  23  30  

Interserve Schools Contract 41  175  215  

Medequip Assistive Technology Ltd 2  7  9  

Mitie 90  259  349  

Pinnacle PSG Ltd - Estates Services 62  193  255  

Pinnacle PSG Ltd - Housing Management 22  77  99  

Quadron Services Ltd 54  175  229  

Quadron Services Ltd (2018) - T/A Idverde 0  1  1  

RM Education 10  19  29  

Serco 187  437  624  

Starbus 0  0  0  

Urban Partnership Group 21  94  114  

Total contributions for admitted Bodies 836  2,409  3,245  

Grand Total 6,781 24,268 31,049 

 

  

6 Includes early retirement and deficit contributions 

Administration Management Performance (continued) 

    

   Employees 
Contribution5 

 Employers 
Contributions  

 Total 
Contributions  

Admitted Bodies 

   

3BM 109  259  369  

3BM (Governor Support) 1  3  4  

Abelian UK (Greenside Primary) 1  3  5  

Abelian UK (Miles Coverdale) 1  4  5  

Abelian UK (Wormholt Primary) 3  7  10  

Agilisys Ltd. 4  10  13  

Amey 81  249  331  

Birkin Clean 4  20  24  

BT - IT services 12  40  52  

C T Plus Transport (2017) 1  4  5  

Caterlink (2016 Schools) 16  105  120  

Caterlink (Hurlingham & Chelsea Academy 

contract) 5  14  18  

Civica 1  3  4  

Disabilities Trust 1  3  4  

Eden Food Services -17  -55  -72  

ETDE Infrastructure 5  15  21  

Family Mosaic Housing 18  53  71  

FM Conway (2009) 12  37  49  

P
age 95



 

 

0
2

5
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T A

N
D

 FIN
A

N
C

IA
L PER

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E 

EMPLOYER ANALYSIS 

The following table summarises the number of employers in the fund analysed by 

scheduled bodies and admitted bodies which are active (with active members) and 

ceased (no active members but with some outstanding liabilities). 

 
Active  Ceased Total 

Administering Authority 1  1 

Scheduled Body 22 3 25 

Admitted Body 38 20 58 

Total 61 23 84 

 

 

 

Administration Management Performance (continued) 

P
age 96



 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 97



 

 

0
2

7
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • IN
V

ESTM
EN

T P
O

LIC
Y A

N
D

 PER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E 

The Pensions Sub-Committee has set out a broad 

statement of the principles it has employed in 

establishing its investment and funding strategy in the 

Investment Strategy Statement (ISS). 

The ISS sets out responsibilities relating to the overall 

investment policy of the Fund including: 

• asset allocations 

• restrictions on investment types 

• methods of investment management  

• performance monitoring.  

The ISS also sets out the Fund’s approach to 

responsible investment and corporate governance 

issues, and how the Fund demonstrates compliance 

with the “Myners Principles”. These Principles are a 

set of recommendations relating to the investment of 

pension funds originally prepared by Lord Myners in 

2001 and subsequently endorsed by Government.  

The current version of the Myners Principles covers 

the following areas: 

• Effective decision making; 

• Clear objectives; 

• Risk & liabilities; 

• Performance Measurement; 

• Responsible ownership; 

• Transparency and reporting. 

The Fund’s ISS can be found at Appendix 2.

For 2017/18, the LGPS (Management and Investment 

of Funds) Regulations 2016, requires the Fund to 

publish an ISS.   

The ISS addresses each of the objectives included in 

the 2016 Regulations, namely: 

• The administering requirement to invest fund 

money in a wide range of instruments 

• The administering authority’s assessment of the 

suitability of particular investments and types of 

investment 

• The administering authority’s approach to risk, 

including the ways in which risks are to be 

measured and managed 

• The administering authority’s approach to pooling 

investments, including the use of collective 

investment vehicles 

• The administering authority’s policy on how social, 

environmental or corporate governance 

considerations are taken into account in the 

selection, non-selection, retention and realisation 

of investments. 

The ISS can be obtained from: 

Pensions Fund Team, 5th Floor, City Hall,  

5 The Strand, London WC2N 5HR 

Email: pensionfund@lbhf.gov.uk 

  

Investment Policy 

P
age 98



 

 

0
2

8
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • IN
V

ESTM
EN

T P
O

LIC
Y A

N
D

 PER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E 

The strategic asset allocation is agreed by the 

Pensions Sub-Committee and the Fund’s advisers.  

The allocation effective during the year ended 31 

March 2018 was as follows: 

Asset Class Target 
Allocation  

UK equities 22.5% 

Overseas Equities  

Secure Income  

Dynamic Asset Allocation  

Absolute Return Bonds 47.5% 

Inflation Opportunities 20% 

Long Lease Property 15% 

TOTAL 100% 

 

The Pensions Sub-Fund Committee holds Fund 

Managers accountable for decisions on asset 

allocation within the Fund mandate that they operate 

under.  In order to follow the Myners’ Committee 

recommendation, Fund Managers are challenged 

deliberately and formally about asset allocation 

proposals.   

Investment portfolios are reviewed at each 

Committee meeting in discussion with the Investment 

Adviser and Officers, and Fund Managers are called to 

a Sub-Committee meeting if there are issues that 

need to be addressed.  Officers meet Fund Managers 

regularly and advice is taken from the Investment 

Adviser on matters relating to fund manager 

arrangement and performance. 

Fund managers provide a rationale for asset allocation 

decisions based upon their research resource in an 

effort to ensure that they are not simply tracking the 

peer group or relevant benchmark index.  The Fund’s 

asset allocation strategy can be found in the ISS. 

The asset allocation of the Pension Fund at the start 

and end of the financial year are set out below. 

As funding levels have improved the Sub-Committee 

has sought to move away from equities and re-

balance the portfolio in line with the target allocation 

in the SIP.  

These figures are based on market value and reflect 

the relative performance of investment markets and 

the impact of tactical asset allocation decisions made 

by the Pensions Sub-Committee. 

 

 

Asset Allocation 

22%

29%

13%

10%

9%

10%

5% 2%

46%

0%12%

16%

9%

10%

5%
2%

UK equities

Overseas equities

Secure income

Dynamic asset allocation

Absolute return bonds

Inflation opportunities

Long lease property

Liquid 
funds

2016/17 2017/18

P
age 99



 

 

0
2

9
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • IN
V

ESTM
EN

T P
O

LIC
Y A

N
D

 PER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E 

FUND VALUE 

The value of the Fund has more than doubled over 

the past ten years. The slight fall in value in 2015/16 

reflected uncertainty around the strength of the 

global economy and China in particular, but the Fund 

recovered well and continued with a slight increase in 

2017/18 of 1.2% 

 

The Fund is invested to meet liabilities over the 

medium to long-term and therefore its performance 

should be judged over a corresponding period. Annual 

returns can be volatile and do not necessarily indicate 

the underlying health of the Fund. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Asset Allocation (continued) 

0

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1,200,000

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

764,894

864,781 855,664

1,002,682 1,004,494

£
 m

ill
io

n

Fund Assets

P
age 100



 

 

0
3

0
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • IN
V

ESTM
EN

T P
O

LIC
Y A

N
D

 PER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E 

The Fund’s overall performance in 2017/18 underperformed the benchmark for the year by 2.4%, as shown below. 

Annualised performance has exceeded the benchmark since inception, and over the past 2 and 5 years. 

 

 

 

 

Performance of the Fund is measured against an 

overall strategic benchmark. Below this, each Fund 

Manager is given individual performance targets 

which are linked to index returns for the assets they 

manage.  Details of these targets can be found in the 

Statement of Investment Principles.  

Performance of Fund Managers is reviewed quarterly 

by the Pension Fund Committee which is supported 

by the Fund’s independent investment advisor, 

Deloitte. 

 

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

6.0%

7.0%

8.0%

9.0%

10.0%

1 year 2 years 3 years 5 years

1.7%

9.8%

6.5%

8.1%

3.6%

8.9%

7.2%

5.2%

Annualised fund performance

Hammersmith and Fulham Pension Fund Strategic Benchmark

Investment Performance 

P
age 101



 

 

0
3

1
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • IN
V

ESTM
EN

T P
O

LIC
Y A

N
D

 PER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E 

The overall performance of each manager is measured over rolling three and five year periods, as inevitably there 

will be short-term fluctuations in performance. 

. 

 

 

 

The portfolio is a mixture of active and passively 

managed asset classes:  

• Targets for active fund mandates are set to out-

perform the benchmark by a set percentage 

through active stock selection and asset 

allocation.  Fund managers with active fund 

mandates are Majedie, Ruffer (CIV), Insight, 

Partners Group MAC (Multi Asset Credit), Oak Hill 

Advisors and Partners Group Infrastructure.  

• Targets for passive funds are set to achieve the 

benchmark through investment in a stable 

portfolio.  Fund managers with passive fund 

mandates are LGIM, M&G and Standard Life. 

Note: The holdings with Majedie and Ruffer are 

measured over 5 years. The remainder of the holdings 

are measured over 1 year following a strategic re-

alignment of the investment portfolio. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

-15.0%

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0% 8.7%

2.8%

3.8%

-0.8%

4.1%

2.2%

-10.4%

4.2%

9.9%

6.5%

2.9%

4.5%

2.4%

4.4% 4.4%

8.4%

5.8%

2.4%

Fund manager performance

Since Inception

Benchmark

Investment Performance (continued) 

P
age 102



 

 

0
3

2
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • IN
V

ESTM
EN

T P
O

LIC
Y A

N
D

 PER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E 

RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT POLICY 

The Council has a paramount fiduciary duty to obtain 

the best possible financial return on Fund investments 

without exposing assets to unnecessary risk.  It 

believes that following good practice in terms of 

social, environmental and ethical issues is generally 

likely to have a favourable effect on the long-term 

financial performance of a company and will improve 

investment returns to its shareholders. 

The Fund investment managers, acting in the best 

financial interests of the Fund, are expected to 

consider, amongst other factors, the effects of social, 

environmental and ethical issues on the performance 

of a company when undertaking the acquisition, 

retention or realisation of investments for the Fund. 

In line with this policy the Fund has used 

infrastructure funds to invest in sustainable 

technologies such solar and wind power. 

The Council’s investment managers have adopted 

socially responsible investment policies which are 

subject to regular review both by officers and by the 

Council’s Pensions Sub-Committee.  

PROFESSIONAL BODIES  

The Council is a member of the CIPFA Pensions 

Network which provides a central coordination point 

for all LGPS funds and local authority members.  

CIPFA staff and the network more generally are able 

to advise subscribers on all aspects of pensions and 

related legislation. Relevant training and seminars are 

also available to officers and members of participating 

funds. 

While the Fund is a member of the Pensions Lifetime 

and Savings Association (formerly the National 

Association of Pension Funds), it does not subscribe to 

nor is it a member of the Local Authority Pension 

Fund Forum, UK Sustainable Investment & Finance 

Association or the Institutional Investors Group on 

Climate change or any other bodies. 

VOTING 

Fund Managers have the delegated authority to vote 

at shareholder meetings in accordance with their own 

guidelines, which have been discussed and agreed 

with the Pensions Sub-Committee.  The Committee 

keeps under close review the various voting reports 

that it receives from Fund managers. 

  

COLLABORATIVE VENTURES 

The Fund has been working closely with other London 

LGPS funds in the London Collective Investment 

Vehicle set up to enable greater buying power, 

reduced fees and enhanced governance 

arrangements. The Hammersmith and Fulham 

Pension Fund is a shareholder in London LGPS CIV 

Limited.  

Following FCA approval in 2016, the CIV has 

continued to trade and the Hammersmith and Fulham 

Pension Fund transferred the Ruffer mandate (valued 

at £102m) into the CIV in June 2016. This was 

followed by the transferring £127m of Majedie assets 

in May 2017.  

Corporate Governance 

P
age 103



 

 

0
3

3
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • IN
V

ESTM
EN

T P
O

LIC
Y A

N
D

 PER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E 

SEPARATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES 

The Fund has appointed a global custodian (Northern 

Trust), independent to the investment managers, to 

be responsible for the safekeeping of all of the Fund’s 

investments.  Northern Trust are also responsible for 

the settlement of all investment transactions and the 

collection of income.  

The Fund’s bank account is held with Lloyd’s Bank. 

Funds not immediately required to pay benefits are 

held as interest bearing operational cash with Lloyds 

Bank.   

The actuary is responsible for assessing the long term 

financial position of the pension fund and issues a 

Rates and Adjustments statement following their 

triennial valuation of the Pension Fund, which sets out 

the minimum contributions which each employer in 

the Scheme is obliged to pay over the following three 

years.  

FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT 

The Funding Strategy Statement (Appendix 4) sets out 

the aims and purpose of the pension fund and the 

responsibilities of the administering authority as 

regards funding the scheme. 

Its purpose is: 

• To establish a clear and transparent fund-specific 

strategy to identify how employers’ pension 

liabilities are best met going forward; 

• To support the regulatory requirement to 

maintain as nearly constant employer contribution 

rates as possible; 

• To take a prudent longer-term view of funding 

those liabilities. 

STEWARDSHIP CODE 

The Pensions Sub-Committee believes that investor 

stewardship is a key component of good governance, 

and is committed to exercising this responsibility with 

the support of its investment managers. In line with 

this approach, all of the Council’s equity investment 

managers are signatories to the UK Stewardship Code.  

The Pensions Sub-Committee believes that companies 

should be accountable to shareholders and should be 

structured with appropriate checks and balances so as 

to safeguard shareholders’ interests, and deliver long-

term returns. 

The Pensions Sub-Committee encourages Fund 

Managers to consider a range of factors before 

making investment decisions, such as the company’s 

historical financial performance, governance 

structures, risk management approach, the degree to 

which strategic objectives have been met and 

environmental and social issues.  Such considerations 

may also be linked to voting choices at company 

AGMs. 

The Pensions Sub-Committee’s role is not to micro-

manage companies but provide perspective and share 

with boards and management our priorities for 

investment and approach to corporate governance. 

The ultimate aim is to work with management, 

shareholders and stakeholders to bring about changes 

that enhance long-term performance.  

Corporate Governance (continued) 

P
age 104



 

 

 

 

P
age 105



 

 

0
3

5
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • SC
H

EM
E A

D
M

IN
ISTR

A
TIO

N
 

SERVICE DELIVERY 

Although the LGPS is a national scheme, it is 

administered locally. Hammersmith and Fulham 

Council has a statutory responsibility to administer 

the pension benefits payable from the Pension Fund 

on behalf of the participating employers and the past 

and present members and their dependents. 

The Council administers the scheme for 65 employers 

(a complete list of employers is provided in section 2) 

These employers include not only the Council, but 

also academy schools within the borough and a small 

number of organisations linked to the Council which 

have been “admitted” to the pension fund under 

agreement with the Council. 

A not-for-profit contractual arrangement is in place 

with Surrey CC for the provision of pension 

administration services. Performance of this service 

against targets within the contract is reported on 

page 18 The Council’s Human Resources provide 

oversight of the administration service. 

COMMUNICATION POLICY STATEMENT 

The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 

2013 require Pension Funds to prepare, publish and 

maintain a communication policy statement, which 

can be found on page 90.  The Communication Policy 

details the overall strategy for involving stakeholders 

in the pension fund.  A key part of this strategy is a 

dedicated pension fund website, which includes a 

great deal more information about the benefits of the 

pension fund and this can be accessed via the 

following link: 

www.lbhfpensionfund.org 

INTERNAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
PROCEDURE 

Members of pension schemes have statutory rights to 

ensure that complaints, queries and problems 

concerning pension rights are properly resolved.  To 

facilitate this process, an Internal Disputes Resolution 

Procedure (IDRP) has been established.  While any 

complaint is progressing, fund members are entitled 

to contact The Pensions Advisory Service (TPAS), who 

can provide free advice. 

IDRP Stage 1 involves making a formal complaint in 

writing. This would normally be considered by the 

body that made the decision in question. In the event 

that the fund member is not satisfied with actions 

taken at Stage 1 the complaint will progress to Stage 

2. 

IDRP Stage 2 involves a referral to the administering 

authority, Hammersmith and Fulham Council to take 

an independent view.  

IDRP Stage 3 is a referral of the complaint to the 

Pension Ombudsman. 

• one complaint was received in 2016/17 but 

resolved before reaching IDRP Stage 1 

• one complaint went to IDRP Stage 1 but was then 

resolved 

No complaints have been received or referred to the 

Pensions Ombudsman in 2017/18   

Both TPAS and the Pensions Ombudsman can be 

contacted at: 

11 Belgrave Road 

Pimlico 

London 

SW1V 1RB 

  

Scheme Administration 

P
age 106

http://www.lbhfpension/


 

 

 

Section 5 ACTUARIAL INFORMATION 

P
age 107



 

 

0
3

7
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 • A
C

TU
A

R
IA

L IN
FO

R
M

A
TIO

N
 

INTRODUCTION 

The last full triennial valuation of the Hammersmith 

and Fulham Pension Fund (“the Fund”) was carried 

out as at 31 March 2016 in accordance with the 

Funding Strategy Statement of the Fund. The results 

were published in the triennial valuation report dated 

March 2017.  

This statement gives an update on the funding 

position as at 31 March 2018 and comments on the 

main factors that have led to a change since the full 

valuation. 

  

2016 VALUATION 

The results for the Fund at 31 March 2016 were as 

follows: 

• The Fund as a whole had a funding level of 88% 

i.e. the assets were 88% of the value that they 

would have needed to be to pay for the benefits 

accrued to that date, based on the assumptions 

used. This corresponded to a deficit of £114m 

which is lower than the deficit at the previous 

valuation in 2013. 

• To cover the cost of new benefits a total 

contribution rate of 15.5% of pensionable salaries 

would be needed. 

• The contribution rate for each employer was set 

based on the annual cost of new benefits plus any 

adjustment required to pay for their share of the 

deficit. 

• Full details of all the assumptions underlying the 

valuations are set out in our valuation report. 

 

UPDATED POSITION 

Using assumptions consistent with those adopted at 

the 2016 valuation, we estimate that the funding 

position at 31 March 2018 has improved compared 

with the position as at 31 March 2016 although the 

primary rate has increased due to changes in market 

conditions. 

The next formal valuation will be carried out as at 31 

March 2019 with new contribution rates set from 1 

April 2020.  

 

Graeme Muir FFA 

Partner, Barnett Waddingham LLP 

 

Report by Actuary 

P
age 108



 

 

6. PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS 

P
age 109



 

 

0
3

9
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

Responsibility for the Financial Statements, which 

form part of this Annual Report, is set out in the 

following declaration. 

THE COUNCIL’S RESPONSIBILITIES  

The Council is required to:  

• make arrangements for the proper administration 

of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its 

officers has the responsibility for the 

administration of those affairs, in line with statute 

this is the Strategic Director of Finance;  

• manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient 

and effective use of resources and safeguard its 

assets;  

• approve the Statement of Accounts.  

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE STRATEGIC 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

The Strategic Director of Finance and Governance is 

responsible for the preparation of the Pension Fund 

Statement of Accounts which, in terms of the CIPFA 

Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 

Great Britain ('the Code'), is required to present fairly 

the financial position of the Pension Fund at the 

accounting date and the income and expenditure for 

the year then ended.  

In preparing these Statements of Accounts, the 

Strategic Director of Finance and Governance has:  

• selected suitable accounting policies and then 

applied them consistently 

•  made judgments and estimates that were 

reasonable and prudent;  

• compied with the Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting. 

The Strategic Director of Finance has also:  

• kept proper accounting records which were up to 

date;  

• taken reasonable steps for the prevention and 

detection of fraud and other irregularities.  

CERTIFICATE OF THE STRATEGIC 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

I certify that the Statement of Accounts (set out on 

pages 41 to 112) present a true and fair view of the 

financial position of the London Borough of 

Hammersmith and Fulham Pension Fund as at 31 

March 2017 and income and expenditure for the year 

for the financial year 2016/17. 

   

Hitesh Jolapara 

Strategic Director of Finance and governance, Section 

151 Officer 

Date:  31 May 2018 

  

Statement of Responsibilities 

P
age 110



 

 

0
4

0
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of the 

London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

Pension Fund on the pension fund financial 

statements published with the pension fund annual 

report 

 

We have audited the pension fund financial 

statements of Hammersmith and Fulham Council (the 

"Authority") for the year ended 31 March 2018 under 

the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 

"Act"). The pension fund financial statements 

comprise the Fund Account, the Net Assets Statement 

and the related notes. The financial reporting 

framework that has been applied in their preparation 

is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 

Kingdom 2017/18 

This report is made solely to the members of the 

Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the 

Act and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of 

Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies 

published by Public Sector Audit Appointments 

Limited. 

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 

state to the members those matters we are required 

to state to them in an auditor's report and for no 

other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 

we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 

other than the Authority and the Authority's members 

as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 

the opinions we have formed.  

 

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE 
STRATEGIC DIRECTOR OF FINANCE & 
GOVERNANCE AND THE AUDITOR 

As explained more fully in the Statement of the 

Strategic Finance Director’s Responsibilities, the 

Strategic Director of Finance is responsible for the 

preparation of the Authority’s Statement of Accounts, 

which include the pension fund financial statements, 

in accordance with proper practices as set out in the 

CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18, and for 

being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our 

responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on 

the pension fund financial statements in accordance 

with applicable law and International Standards on 

Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us 

to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 

Standards for Auditors. 

Independent Auditors Report 

P
age 111



 

 

0
4

1
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE PENSION 
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the 

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 

sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 

financial statements are free from material 

misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This 

includes an assessment of whether the accounting 

policies are appropriate to the pension fund’s 

circumstances and have been consistently applied and 

adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 

significant accounting estimates made by the 

Strategic Director of Finance; and the overall 

presentation of the pension fund financial 

statements. In addition, we read all the financial and 

non-financial information in the Authority's Statement 

of Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with 

the audited pension fund financial statements and to 

identify any information that is apparently materially 

incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, 

the knowledge acquired by us in the course of 

performing the audit. If we become aware of any 

apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies, 

we consider the implications for our report. 

 

OPINION ON THE PENSION FUND 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

In our opinion the pension fund financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial 

transactions of the pension fund during the year 

ended 31 March 2018 and of the amount and 

disposition at that date of the fund’s assets and 

liabilities; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with 

the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 

2017/18 and applicable law. 

 

OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS 

In our opinion, the other information published 

together with the audited pension fund financial 

statements in the Authority's Statement of Accounts 

is consistent with the pension fund financial 

statements. 

 

 

 

Andrew Sayers 

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Appointed Auditor 

KPMG LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

15 Canada Square 

London 

E14 5GL 

xx August 2018 

  

Independent Auditors Report (continued) 

P
age 112



 

 

0
4

2
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

 

FUND ACCOUNT 

2016/17   Notes 2017/18 

£'000    £'000 

 Dealings with members, employers and others directly involved in the fund   

 Contributions   

(22,494) From Employers 8 (24,268 

(6,937) From Members 8 (6, 781) 

(2,090) Individual Transfers in from Other Pension Funds 
 

(3,012) 

(753) Other income  607 

(32,274)  
 

(33,454) 

    

 Benefits 
 

 

30,002 Pensions 9 31,465 

5,685 Commutation, Lump Sum Retirement and Death  Benefits 9 7,256 

      

  Payments to and on Account of Leavers 
 

  

5,046 Individual Transfers Out to Other Pension Funds 
 

4,087 

37 Refunds to Members Leaving Service 
 

20 

    

40,770  
 

42,828 

 

  

Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes 

P
age 113



 

 

0
4

3
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

2016/17   Notes 2017/18 

£'000 

  

£'000 

8,496 Net (Additions)/Withdrawals from Dealings with Members 
 

9,374 

    

6,530 Management Expenses 10 4,503 

    

 Returns on Investments   

(12,822) Investment Income 11 (10,283) 

23 Taxes on Income (Irrecoverable Withholding Tax) 
 

- 

    

(148,740) (Profit) and loss on disposal of investments and changes in the market value of investments 12 (10,384) 

    

(161,539) Net return on investments 
 

(20,667) 

    

(146,513) Net (Increase)/Decrease in the Net Assets Available for Benefits During the Year 
 

(6,791) 

(856,319) Opening Net Assets of the Scheme 
 

(1,002,832) 

(1,002,832) Closing Net Assets of the Scheme 
 

(1,009,623) 

 

  

Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes (continued) 

P
age 114



 

 

0
4

4
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

2016/17   Notes 2017/18 

£’000  

 

£’000 

 Investment assets 
 

 

112,475  Equities 13  -    

    765,856  Pooled Investment Vehicles 13  891,097  

      47,037  Pooled Property 13  51,933  

      68,973  Private equity/infrastructure 13  55,261  

 Derivative Contracts:   

            (1) Forward Foreign Exchange 13  -    

7,856    Cash deposits 13  6,168  

 Other Investment Balances:    

521 Income Due 13  35  

76 Debtors 13  -    

 Investment Liabilities 
 

 

(111) Amounts outstanding on purchase of investments 13  -    

1,002,682  Net investment assets 13 1,004,494 

  

Net Assets Statement for the year ended 31 March 2018* 

P
age 115



 

 

0
4

5
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

2016/17  Notes 2017/18 

£'000  

 

£'000 

    

1,539 Current Assets 22 2,059 

(4,223) Current Liabilities 23 (1,291) 

2,834 Cash Balances  4,361 

1,002,832 Net Assets of the Fund Available to Fund Benefits at the Period End 
 

1,009,623 

 

* The Fund's financial statements do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the 

period end.  The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is disclosed in Note 20a.

 

Net Assets Statement for the year ended 31 March 2018* (continued) 

P
age 116



 

 

0
4

6
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

a) General 

The Pension Fund (the Fund) is part of the Local 

Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and is administered 

by Hammersmith and Fulham Council. It is a contributory 

defined benefits scheme established in accordance with 

statute, which provides for the payment of benefits to 

employees and former employees of Hammersmith and 

Fulham Council and the admitted and scheduled bodies in 

the Fund.  These benefits include retirement pensions 

and early payment of benefits on medical grounds and 

payment of death benefits where death occurs either in 

service or in retirement. The benefits payable in respect 

of service from 1st April 2014 are based on career 

average revalued earnings and the number of years of 

eligible service.   The benefits payable in respect of 

service prior to 1st April 2014 are based on an employee’s 

final salary and the number of years eligible service. 

Pensions are increased each year in line with the 

Consumer Price Index. 

 The Fund is governed by the Public Service Pensions Act 

2013 and the following secondary legislation: 

• The LGPS Regulations 2013 (as amended) 

• The LGPS (transitional Provisions, Savings and 

Amendment) Regulations 2014 (as amended) and 

• The LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) 

Regulations 2016.  

The Fund is financed by contributions from employees, 

the Council, the admitted and scheduled bodies and from 

returns on the Fund’s investments. Contributions from 

employees are made in accordance with the Local 

Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 and range 

from 5.5% to 12.5% of pensionable pay for the financial 

year ending 31 March 2018. Employer contributions are 

set based on the triennial actuarial funding valuation, as 

detailed in Note 20. b) Pensions Sub-Committee. 

b) Pensions Sub-Committee 

The Council has delegated management of the Fund to 

the Audit, Pensions and Standards Committee, who in 

December 2014 formed a Pensions Sub-Committee and 

delegated all pensions responsibilities to it. The Sub-

Committee decide on the investment strategy most 

suitable to meet the liabilities of the Fund and have 

responsibility for the investment strategy. The Sub-

Committee is made up of five elected representatives of 

the Council, including two opposition party 

representatives, each having voting rights. Members of 

the admitted bodies and representatives of the Trade 

Unions may attend the Sub-Committee meeting but have 

no voting rights. 

The Sub-Committee reports annually to the Audit, 

Pensions and Standards Committee and has full delegated 

authority to make investment decisions. The Sub-

Committee obtains and considers advice from the 

Strategic Director of Finance, and, as necessary, from the 

Fund’s appointed actuary, investment managers and 

adviser. 

c) Pension Board  

The Sub-Committee reports annually to the Audit, 

Pensions and Standards Committee and has full 

delegated authority to make investment decisions. The 

Sub-Committee obtains and considers advice from the 

Strategic Director of Finance, and, as necessary, from the 

Fund’s appointed actuary, investment managers and 

adviser. 

 

d) Investment Principles 

In accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 the Sub-

Committee approved an Investment Strategy on 20 June 2017 (available 

on the Council’s website). The Statement shows the Authority's 

compliance with the Myner’s principles of investment management.  

The Sub-Committee has delegated the management of 

the Fund’s investments to regulated investment 

managers (see note 12), appointed in accordance with 

the regulations, and whose activities are specified in 

detailed investment management agreements and 

monitored on a quarterly basis. 

  

Note 1 Description of Hammersmith and Fulham Pension 

Fund 

P
age 117



 

 

0
4

7
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

e))Membership  

Membership of the LGPS is voluntary and employees are 

free to choose whether to join the scheme, remain in 

the scheme or make their own personal pension 

arrangements outside the scheme. Organisations 

participating in the Hammersmith and Fulham Pension 

Fund include: 

• Scheduled bodies, which are local authorities and 

similar bodies whose staff are automatically entitled 

to be members of the Fund.  

• Admitted bodies, which are other organisations that 

participate in the Fund under an admission agreement 

between the Fund and the relevant organisation. 

Admitted bodies include voluntary, charitable and 

 similar bodies or private contractors undertaking a 

local authority function following outsourcing to the 

private sector. 

• The Deferred member numbers include 865 

undecided leavers, who are no longer paying 

contributions or in receipt of benefits. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The following table summarises the membership 

numbers of the scheme: 

 

Note 1 Description of Hammersmith and Fulham Pension Fund (continued  

31 March 
2017 

 31 March 
2018 

45 Number of employers with  
active members 

61 

   

4,383 Active members 4,166 

4,800 Pensioners receiving benefits 4,920 

6,670 Deferred Pensioners* 6,603 

15,853  15,689 

P
age 118



 

 

0
4

8
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

 

The Statement of Accounts summarise the Fund’s 

transactions for 2017/18 and its position at year end as at 

31st March 2018. The accounts been prepared in 

accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18 (the Code) 

issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy (CIPFA) which is based upon International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as amended for the 

UK public sector.   

The accounts have been prepared on an accruals basis, 

apart from transfer values which have been accounted for 

on a cash basis. 

 

The accounts do not take account of obligations to pay 

pensions and benefits which fall due after the end of the 

financial year, nor do they take into account the actuarial 

present value of promised retirement benefits.  The Code 

gives administering authorities the option to disclose this 

information in the Net Asset Statement, in the notes to 

the accounts or by appending an actuarial report 

prepared for this purpose.  The authority has opted to 

disclose this information in a note to the accounts (Note 

19). 

The pension Fund Accounts have been prepared on a 

going concern basis. 

  

Note 2 Basis of preparation of financial statements 

P
age 119



 

 

0
4

9
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

 

FUND ACCOUNT – REVENUE RECOGNITION 

a) Contribution Income 

Normal contributions, both from the members and from 

the employer, are accounted for on an accruals basis at 

the percentage rate recommended by the actuary in the 

payroll period to which they relate. 

Employer deficit funding contributions are accounted for 

on the due dates on which they are due under the 

schedule of contributions set by the actuary or on receipt 

if earlier than the due date. 

 

b) Transfers to and from other schemes 

Transfer values represent the amounts received and paid 

during the year for members who have either joined or 

left the Fund during the financial year and are calculated 

in accordance with the LGPS Regulations.  Individual 

transfers in/out are accounted for when received/paid, 

which is normally when the member liability is accepted 

or discharged.   

 

c) Investment Income 

Investment income is reported gross of withholding taxes 

which are accrued in line with the associated investment 

income.  Investment income arising from the underlying 

investments of the Pooled Investment Vehicles is either 

reinvested within the Pooled Investment Vehicles and 

reflected in the unit price or taken as a cash dividend to 

support the Fund’s outgoing cash flow requirements. 

Interest income is recognised in the fund account as it 

accrues, using the effective interest rate of the financial 

instrument as at the date of acquisition or origination. 

Distributions from pooled funds are recognised at the 

date of issue. Any amount not received by the end of the 

reporting period is recognised as a current financial asset.  

Any amount not received by the end of the reporting 

period is disclosed in the net assets statement as a 

current financial asset.  Where the amount of an income 

distribution has not been received from an investment 

manager by the balance sheet date, an estimate based 

upon the market value of their mandate at the end of the 

year is used. 

Changes in the net market value of investments are 

recognised as income and comprise all realised and 

unrealised profits and losses during the year. 

 

FUND ACCOUNT – EXPENSE ITEMS  

d) Benefits Payable 

Pensions and lump-sum benefits payable include all 

amounts known to be due as at the end of the financial 

year. Lump sums are accounted for in the period in which 

the member becomes a pensioner.  Any amounts due but 

unpaid are disclosed in the net assets statement as 

current liabilities. 

e) Taxation 

The Fund is an exempt approved fund under section 1(1) 

of Schedule 36 of the Finance Act 2004 and as such is 

exempt from UK income tax on interest received and 

from capital gains tax on the proceeds of investments 

sold. As the Council is the administering authority for the 

Fund, VAT input tax is recoverable on all Fund activities 

including expenditure on investment expenses. Where tax 

can be reclaimed, investment income in the accounts is 

shown gross of UK tax. Income from overseas investments 

suffers withholding tax in the country of origin, unless 

exemption is permitted. Irrecoverable tax is accounted for 

as a fund expense as it arises. 

  

Note 3 Summary of significant accounting policies 

P
age 120



 

 

0
5

0
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

f) Management Expenses 

Pension fund management expenses are accounted for in 

accordance with the CIPFA guidance “Accounting for 

Local Government Pension Scheme Management Costs 

2016”.: 

All administrative expenses are accounted for on an 

accruals basis. All staff costs of the pension administration 

team are charged direct to the Fund. Associated 

management, accommodation and other overheads are 

apportioned to this activity and charged as expenses to 

the Fund. 

Oversight and governance expenses are accounted for on 

an accruals basis. All staff costs associated with 

governance and oversight are charged to the Fund. 

Associated management, accommodation and other 

overheads are apportioned to this activity and charged as 

expenses to the Fund.  

The cost of obtaining investment advice from the external 

advisor is included in oversight and governance costs. 

All investment management expenses are accounted for 

on an accruals basis. The Pension-Sub Committee has 

appointed external investment managers to manage the 

investments of the Fund.  Managers are paid a fee based 

on the market value of the investments they manage 

and/or a fee based on performance.   

Where an investment manager’s fee note has not been 

received by the balance sheet date, an estimate based 

upon the market value of the mandate as at the end of 

the year is used for inclusion in the fund account. 

NET ASSETS STATEMENT 

g) Financial Assets 

Financial assets are included in the net assets statement 

on a fair value basis as at the reporting date. A financial 

asset is recognised in the net asset statement on the date 

the Fund becomes party to the contractual acquisition of 

the asset. From this date any gains or losses arising from 

changes in the value of the asset are recognised in the 

Fund account. 

 

The values of investments as shown in the net asset 

statement have been determined at fair value in 

accordance with the requirements of the Code and IFRS 

13 (see Note 15a). 

 

h) Derivatives  

The Fund uses derivative financial instruments to manage 

its exposure to specific risks arising from its investment 

activities. The Fund does not hold derivatives for 

speculative purposes (see Note 15a). 

 

 i) Foreign Currency Transactions  

Dividends, interest and purchases and sales of 

investments in foreign currencies have been accounted 

for at the spot market rates at the date of the transaction. 

End of year spot market exchange rates are used to value 

cash balances held in foreign currency bank accounts, 

market values of overseas investments and purchases and 

sales outstanding at the end of the reporting period. 

  

 

 

j) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and 

deposits with financial institutions which are repayable on 

demand without penalty.  

k) Financial Liabilities 

The Fund recognises financial liabilities at fair value as at 

the reporting date. A financial liability is recognised in the 

net assets statement on the date the Fund becomes party 

to the liability. From this date any gains or losses arising 

from changes in the fair value of the liability are 

recognised by the Fund. 

l) Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits 

The actuarial present value of promised retirement 

benefits should be disclosed and based on the 

requirements of IAS 19 Post-Employment Benefits and 

relevant actuarial standards. As permitted under the 

Code, the financial statements include a note disclosing 

the actuarial present value of retirement benefits (see 

Note 20a). 

m) Additional Voluntary Contributions 

AVCs are not included in the accounts in accordance with 

Regulation 4(1)(b) of the Local Government Pension 

Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 

Regulations 2016, but are disclosed as a note only (Note 

23). There are also some residual policies with Equitable 

Life, which are disclosed in Note 23, but it is not open for 

new members. 

 

Note 3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

P
age 121



 

 

0
5

1
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

 

n) Additional Voluntary Contributions 

The LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) 

Regulations 2016 permit the Council to charge 

administration costs to the Fund.  A proportion of the 

relevant Council costs have been charged to the Fund on 

the basis of actual time spent on Pension Fund business.  

Costs incurred in the administration and the oversight and 

governance of the Fund are set out separately in Note 26. 

  

  

Note 3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

P
age 122



 

 

0
5

2
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

The accounts contain certain estimated figures that are 

based on assumptions made by the Council and other 

bodies about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. 

Estimates are made because they are required to satisfy 

relevant standards or regulations and are on the basis of 

best judgement at the time, derived from historical 

experience, current trends and other relevant factors. As 

a result, actual results may differ materially from those 

assumptions. 

The items for which there is a significant risk of material 

adjustment are: 

A) PENSION FUND LIABILITY 
The Pension Fund liability is calculated triennially by the 

appointed actuary with annual updates in the intervening 

years.  The methodology used follows generally agreed 

guidelines and is in accordance with IAS 19. These 

assumptions are summarised in the accompanying 

actuarial report.  The estimates of the net liability to pay 

pensions depends on a number of judgements and 

assumptions.  In particular, are those relating to the 

discount rate, the rate at which salaries are projected to 

increase, change in retirement ages, mortality rates and 

expected returns on the Fund’s assets. 

The effect of changes in individual assumptions can be 

measured.  A 0.5% increase in the discount rate would 

result in a decrease in the pension liability of £153m.  A 

0.2% increase in assumed earnings would increase the 

value of liabilities by approximately £4m, a 0.2% increase 

in pension increases would increase the liability by about 

£56m and a one year increase in life expectancy would 

increase the liability by about £61m 

B) UNQUOTED PRIVATE EQUITY 
INVESTMENTS 

The fair value of private equity investments is unavoidably 

subjective. The valuations are based on forward-looking 

estimates and judgements involving many factors. 

Unquoted private equity assets are valued by the 

investment managers in accordance with industry 

standards.  The value of private equity investments at the 

balance sheet date was £5.6m. 

The fair value of the Partners Multi Asset Credit fund and 

the Partners infrastructure fund is also to some extent 

subjective.  A number of the underlying assets are traded 

in private markets only and therefore judgements need to 

be made about value, using factors such as the enterprise 

value and net debt.  The value in the net assets statement 

is £49.6m. 

  

Note 4 Critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies 

P
age 123



 

 

0
5

3
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

Preparing financial statements requires management 

to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 

affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities at 

the year-end and the amounts reported for income 

and expenditure during the year. Estimates and 

assumptions are made taking into account historical 

experience, current trends and other relevant factors. 

However the nature of estimation means that the 

actual results could differ from the assumptions and 

estimates.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Item Uncertainties Effect if actual results differ from 

assumptions 

Actuarial present value of promised 
retirement benefits 

Estimation of the net liability to pay 
pensions depends on a number of 
complex judgments relating to the 
discount rates used, the rate at 
which salaries are projected to 
increase, changes in retirement 
ages, mortality rates and expected 
returns on pension fund assets. A 
firm of consulting actuaries is 
engaged to provide the fund with 
expert advice about the assumptions 
to be applied. 

The effects on the net pension 
liability of changes in assumptions 
can be measured. For instance, a 
0.5% increase in the discount rate 
assumption would result in a 
decrease in the pension liability of 
£182m. A 0.2% increase in assumed 
earnings would increase the value of 
liabilities by approximately £8m, a 
0.2% increase in pension increases 
would increase the liability by about 
£70m and a one year increase in life 
expectancy would increase the 
liability by about £62m. 

Note 5 Assumptions made about the future and other 
major sources of uncertainty 

P
age 124



 

 

0
5

4
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

At the balance sheet date, the following new standards 

and amendments to existing standards had been 

published but not yet adopted by the Code of Practice on 

Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which introduces 

extensive changes to the classification and 

measurement of financial assets, and a new 

“expected credit loss” model for impairing financial 

assets. The impact will be to reclassify assets 

currently classified as loans and receivables to 

amortised cost. There are not expected to be any 

changes in the measurement of financial assets and 

the Fund does not at this stage anticipate any 

adjustments for impairments. 

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, 

presents new requirements for the recognition of 

revenue, based on a control-based revenue 

recognition model. The Fund does not have any 

revenue streams within the scope of the new 

standard.

• IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (Disclosure 

Initiative), will potentially require some additional 

analysis of Cash Flows from Financing Activities, 

however since the Fund is not currently required 

to prepare a Cash Flow Statement it does not 

anticipate any additional disclosure. 

• IAS 12 Income Taxes (Recognition of Deferred Tax 

Assets for Unrealised Losses), applies to deferred 

tax assets related to debt instruments measured at 

fair value. Currently the Fund does not hold such 

financial instruments. 

  

Note 6 Accounting Standards issued but not yet adopted 

P
age 125



 

 

0
5

5
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

There were no material events arising after the Balance 

Sheet date. 

 

 

 

 

Note 7 Events after the Balance Sheet date 

P
age 126



 

 

0
5

6
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

Employees contributions are calculated on a sliding scale based on a percentage of their 

gross pay. The Council, scheduled and admitted bodies are required to make 

contributions determined by the Fund’s actuary to maintain the solvency of the Fund.  

 The table below shows a breakdown of the total amount of employers’ and employees 

contributions. 

BY AUTHORITY 

2016/17  2017/18 

£'000  £'000 

23,290 Administering Authority 24,292 

3,158 Scheduled bodies 3,244 

2,983 Admitted bodies 3,513 

29,431  31,049 

 

BY TYPE 

2016/17  2017/18 

£'000  £'000 

6,937 Employees' normal contributions 6,781 

 Employer's contributions:  

13,450 Normal contributions 16,368 

9,044 Deficit recovery contributions 7,900 

29,341  31,049 

 

 

Note 8 Contributions receivable 

P
age 127



 

 

0
5

7
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

The table below shows a breakdown of the total amount of benefits payable by 

category. 

 

BY TYPE 

2016/17  2017/18 

£'000  £'000 

30,002 Pensions 31,465 

5,093 Commutation and lump sum retirement benefits 6,360 

592 Lump sum death benefits 896 

35,687  38,721 

 

BY AUTHORITY 

2016/17  2017/18 

£'000  £'000 

33,353 Administering Authority 35,914 

1,977 Scheduled Bodies 2,427 

357 Admitted Bodies 380 

35,687  38,721 

 

 

 

 

 

Note 9 Benefits payable 

P
age 128



 

 

0
5

8
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

The table below shows a breakdown of the management expenses incurred during the 

year. 

2016/17  2017/18 

£'000  £'000 

520 Administration Expenses 403 

267 Oversight and Governance 452 

5,743 Investment Management Expenses 3,648 

6,530  4,503 

 

Investment management expenses have fallen significantly during the year, as 
a result of there being no Majedie performance fees, reductions gained both 
by joining London CIV and those negotiated with Legal & General  The table 
below provides a breakdown of the Investment Management Expenses. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

. 

 

Note 10 Management Expenses 

2016/17  2017/18 

£'000  £'000 

4,310 Management fees 3,223 

997 Performance fees 343 

54 Custody fees 44 

382 Transaction costs* 38 

5,743  3,648 

*Transaction costs incurred on segregated assets only 

P
age 129



 

 

0
5

9
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

The table below shows a breakdown of the investment income for the year: 

2016/17  2017/18 

£'000  £'000 

35 Income from Bonds (47) 

9,975 Equity dividends (5,331) 

16 Interest and cash deposits (17) 

2,796 Private Equity/Other (4,888) 

12,822 Total before taxes (10,283) 

(23) Taxes - 

12,799 Total (10,283) 

  

Note 11 Investment Income 

P
age 130



 

 

0
6

0
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

In August 2015 a commitment was made to the 

Partners Group Direct Infrastructure fund and this is 

being funded over time from the cash held in the Legal 

and General sterling liquidity fund. 

 The private equity commitments were made some 

years ago and the funds are now in the distributing 

phase. 

 As shareholders of London LGPS CIV Ltd. (the 

organisation set up to run pooled LGPS investments in 

London), the Fund has purchased £150,000 of 

regulatory capital.  This is in the form of unlisted UK 

equity shares.  

The Council has been active in the transfer of assets under 

management to the London Collective Investment Vehicle (CIV) 

to gain efficiencies and fee reductions.  

The £127m Majedie portfolio transferred to CIV in May 2017. 

Work was also undertaken to realise some of the equity gains 

made on the Majedie segregated equity fund, which resulted in 

the £60m proceeds being temporarily invested in the LCIV Ruffer 

Fund. These monies will be used to cover future capital call 

payment for the Partners Group & the new Aviva Infrastructure 

Funds totalling £30m each, over the next few years which was 

agreed at the September 2017 Sub-Committee.  

The market value and proportion of investments managed by 

each fund manager at 31 March 2018was as follows: 

 

 

 

 

  

31 March 2017 

Market Value 

% Fund Manager Mandate 31 March 2018 

Market Value 

% 

£'000   £'000 

 

  Investments managed by London CIV Ltd asset pool   

101,628 10.1% Ruffer Absolute Return (Active) 157,466 15.7% 

- 0.0% Majedie UK Equity (Active) 125,194 12.5% 

101,628 10.1%   282,660 28.1% 

  Investments managed outside of London CIV Ltd asset pool   

294,433 29.4% LGIM World Equity (Passive) 302,920 30.2% 

224,141 22.4% Majedie UK Equity (Active) 33,940 3.4% 

89,121 8.9% Insight Bonds 88,885 8.8% 

10,827 1.1% LGIM Liquidity Fund 10,868 1.1% 

52,593 5.2% Partners Group Private Equity 41,711 4.2% 

8,743 0.9% Partners Group Private Infrastructure 7,923 0.8% 

70,334 7.0% Oak Hill advisers UK Equity (Active)  72,371  7.2% 

94,998 9.5% M & G Inflation Opportunities 99,302 9.9% 

47,037 4.7% Standard Life Long Lease Property 51,933 5.2% 

5,366 0.5% Invesco Private Equity 3,757 0.4% 

2,945 0.3% Unigestion Private Equity 1,871 0.2% 

366 0.0% In-house Cash Cash 6,168 0.6% 

150 0.0% London CIV Ltd  150 0.0% 

901,054 89.9%   721,799 71.9% 

1,002,682 100.0%  Total 1,004,458 100.0% 

Note 12 Investment Management Arrangements 

P
age 131



 

 

0
6

1
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

The table below shows a reconciliation of the movement in the total investment assets by Asset Class during 2017/18, as opposed to by Fund Manager, as was previously the 

case:  

2017/18 

 

 

 

Market value 1 April 2017 Purchases during the year 
and derivative payments 

Sales during the year and 
derivative receipts 

Change in market value 
during the year 

Market value 31 March 2018 

Asset Class £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Equities 112,475 6,485 (120,878) 1,918  -    

Pooled equity investments 765,856 197,903 (74,163) 1,500 891,096 

Pooled property investments 47,037 - (248) 5,144 51,933 

Private equity/infrastructure 68,973 5,614 (20,065) 739 55,261 

Derivatives:      

Forward foreign exchange (1) 1 - - - 

Total 994,340 210,004 (215,354) 9,301 998,291 

Cash deposits 7,856   1,065 6,168 

Amounts receivable from sales of investments 76   - - 

Investment income due 521   - 35 

Spot FX contracts 0   18 - 

Amounts payable for purchases of investments (111)   - - 

Net investment assets 1,002,682 210,004 (215,354) 9,468 1,004,494 

Note 13 Reconciliation in movement in investments 

P
age 132



 

 

0
6

2
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

The equivalent analysis for 2016/17 is provided below: 

 

2016/17 

 

 

Market value 1 April 2016 

 

Purchases during the year 
and derivative payments 

 

Sales during the year and 
derivative receipts 

 

Change in market value 
during the year 

 

Market value 31 March 2017 

Asset Class £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Bonds 36,771 1,624 (39,237) 842 - 

Equities 141,522 42,916 (95,168) 23,205 112,475 

Pooled equity investments 562,331 1,005,823 (919,863) 117,565 765,856 

Pooled property investments 43,925 - (224) 3,336 47,037 

Private equity/infrastructure 62,336 12,461 (10,230) 4,406 68,973 

Derivatives:      

     Forward foreign exchange (368) 4,777 (3,658) (752) (1) 

Total 846,616 1,067,601 (1,068,479) 148,602 994,340 

Cash deposits 7,544   181 7,856 

Amounts receivable from sales of investments 278   (1) 76 

Investment income due 1,242   - 521 

Spot FX contracts -   (42) - 

Amounts payable for purchases of investments (16)   - (111) 

Net investment assets 855,664 1,067,601 (1,068,479) 148,740 1,002,682 

  

Note 13 Reconciliation in Movement in Investments (continued) 

P
age 133



 

 

0
6

3
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

The table below shows the Fund’s investments 

which exceed 5% of net assets.  These are all 

pooled investment vehicles, which are made up 

of underlying investments, each of which 

represent substantially less than 5%. 

 

* 2016/17 restated as LCIV Ruffer assets were not 

included 

 

 

.   

Note 14 Investments exceeding 5% of net assets 

31 March 2017 

Market Value 

 Holding 31 March 2018 

Market Value 

 

 % Holding 

 

£'000 % Holding 

294,433 29.4% Legal & General World ex UK Dev equity fund index 302,920 30.2% 

101,628 10.1% LCIV Ruffer Absolute Return* 157,480 15.7% 

- 0.0% LCIV Majedie UK Equity 125,193 12.5% 

94,998 9.5% M&G Inflation Opportunities Fund V 99,302 9.9% 

89,121 8.9% Insight Investment Bonds Plus Fund 88,885 8.8% 

70,334 7.0% Oak Hill Advisers Diversified Credit Strategies Fund 72,371 7.2% 

47,037 4.7% Standard Life Long Lease Fund 51,933 5.2% 

52,593 5.2% Partners Group Multi Asset Credit 2014 Fund 41,711 4.2% 

224,141 22.4% Majedie Focus Fund 33,946 3.4% 

974,285 97.2% Total Top Holdings  973,741  96.9% 

1,002,682 100.0%  Total Value of Investments 1,004,458 100.0%  

P
age 134



 

 

0
6

4
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

The following table analyses the carrying amounts of 

financial assets and liabilities split by UK and Overseas, 

by category and net assets statement heading as at the 

balance sheet date. All investments are quoted unless 

stated.   

Note 15a Classification of Financial Instruments 
31 March 2017   31 March 2018 

Fair value 

through 

profit and 

loss 

Loans and 

receivables 

Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised 

cost 

 

 

 

Financial Assets  

Fair value 

through 

profit and 

loss 

Loans and 

receivables 

Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised 

cost 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

   Equities    

98,241   UK quoted    

14,234   UK unquoted    

   Pooled funds - investment vehicles    

665,907   UK Equity Funds 791,194   

10,827     UK Cash Funds 10,867   

47,037     UK Property Fund 51,933   

89,121   Overseas fixed Income Fund 88,885   

-     London LGPS CIV  150   

52,587     UK Venture Capital 41,711   

16,386     Overseas Venture Capital 13,551   

521   Investment income due  35  

76   Pending trade sales    

 7,856  Cash deposits with fund managers  6,168  

 1,539  Debtors  2,059  

 2,834  Cash balances (held by fund)  4,361  

994,937 12,229  -   998,291 12,623  -  

   Financial Liabilities    

(111)   Pending trade purchases -   

  (3,568) Creditors   (620) 

(111)  -  (3,568)  -  -  (620) 

994,826 12,229 (3,568) Total 998,291 12,623 (620) 

       

P
age 135



 

 

0
6

5
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

This table summarises the net gains and losses on 

financial instruments classified by type of instrument. 

 

 

  

 

Note 15b Net Gains and Losses on Financial Instruments 

This table summarises the net gains and losses on financial instruments classified by type of instrument. 

Note 15 Fair Value – Basis of Valuation 

31 March 2017   31 March 2018 

£'000   £'000 

  Financial Assets   

149,311 Designated at fair value through profit and loss 10,235 

181 Loans and receivables 149 

149,492   10,384 
 

Financial Liabilities 
 

(752) Designated at fair value through profit and loss - 

(752)   - 

148,740 Total 10,384 

P
age 136



 

 

0
6

6
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

The valuation of financial instruments has been 

classified into three levels, according to the quality and 

reliability of information used to determine fair values. 

Level 1 – where fair values are derived from unadjusted 

quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities (quoted equities, quoted fixed securities, 

quoted index linked securities and unit trusts).  Listed 

investments are shown at bid prices. The bid value is 

based on the market quotation of the relevant stock 

exchange. 

Level 2 – where market prices are not available, for 

example, where an instrument is traded in a market 

that is not considered to be active or where valuation 

techniques are used to determine fair value and where 

these techniques use inputs that are based significantly 

on observable market data. 

Level 3 – where at least one input that could have a 

significant effect on the instrument’s valuation is not 

based on observable market data.  Such instruments 

would include unquoted equity investments and hedge 

fund of funds, neither of which the Fund currently 

invests in. 

The following table provides an analysis of the financial 

assets and liabilities of the Fund grouped into the level 

at which fair value is observable.  

 

  

Note 15c Valuation of Financial Instruments carried at 
Fair Value 

31 March 2017  31 March 2018 

Quoted Market 

Price 

Level 1 

Using Observable 

Inputs 

Level 2 

With Significant 

Unobservable 

Inputs 

Level 3 

 Quoted 

Market 

Price 

Level 1 

Using 

Observable 

Inputs 

Level 2 

With Significant 

Unobservable 

Inputs 

Level 3 

£'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 £'000 

   Financial Assets    

217,252 707,965 69,123 Financial assets at fair 
value through profit 
and loss 

33,940 908,939 55,412 

486 0 0 Financial liabilities at 
fair value through 

profit and loss 

0 0 0 

217,738 707,965 69,123  33,940 908,939 55,412 

994,826  998,291 

 

P
age 137



 

 

0
6

7
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

The basis of the valuation of each class of investment 

asset is set out below. There has been no change in the 

valuation techniques used during the year. All assets 

have been valued using fair value techniques based on 

the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall 

objective of maximising the use of market- based 

information. 

  

Note 16a Fair Value – Basis of Valuation 

Description of asset Valuation hierarchy 

16/17 

Valuation hierarchy 

17/18 

Bas of valuation Observable and unobservable inputs Key sensitivities affecting the valuations provided 

Pooled Investments - 

Equity Funds UK and 
Overseas Managed 
Funds 

Level 1 Level 2 Published bid market price ruling on the final day of 
the accounting period.  
 

Evaluated price feeds. Not required. 

Forward foreign 

exchange 

derivatives 

Level 2 Level 2 Market forward exchange rates at the year-end.  
  

 

Exchange rate risk. Not required. 

Pooled Long Lease 
Property Fund 

Level 2 Level 2 The Standard Life Long Lease Property Fund is priced 
on a Single Swinging Price. 

In house evaluation of market data. Not required. 

Private equity Level 3 Level 3 Valuations are prepared by Fund managers based 

on the latest profit forecasts and other 

financial information available at the time of 

preparing the Fund's financial statements . 

Fund managers valuation statements 
are prepared in accordance with ECVA 

Guidelines. 

Key sensitivities include market prices achieved by 
comparable investments, future income projections 

and the cost of replacing key business assets. 

Infrastructure funds Level 3 Level 3 Valued by Fund Managers at the lower of cost and 
fair value.  

 

Managers use their judgement having 
regard to the EVCA guidelines noted 
above for valuing unquoted 
investments.  

 

Upward valuations are only considered where there 
is validation of the investment objectives and such 

progress can be demonstrated. Downward 
valuations are enacted where the manager 
considers there is an impairment to the underlying 

investment. 

Pooled Investments – 

Property Funds 

Level 3 Level 2 Closing bid price where bid and offer prices are 

published. 

Adjusted for net capital current assets Estimated acquisition and disposal costs. 

P
age 138



 

 

0
6

8
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

 
£127m of Majedie UK Equities (Level 1) were sold & the 
proceeds used purchase assets in the London CIV 
Majedie Fund (Level 2) 
 
£60m of Majedie Focus Fund (Level 1) assets were sold, 
in order to realise some of the profits gained on 
Equities, the proceeds were used to re-balance the 
portfolio and resulting funds were used to purchase an 
assets in the London CIV Ruffer Fund (Level 2), for the 
purposes of future capitals due on Partners Group 
Infrastructure & the new Aviva Infrastructure Fund. 

 

TRANSFERS BETWEEN LEVELS 2 AND 3 
As a result of additional pricing information becoming 
available during the year: 

 
 
 

  

Note 16b Transfers between Levels 1 and 2 

  Now Previously 

LGIM - STERLING LIQUIDITY FUND Level 2 Level 1 

LONDON LGPS CIV RUFFER -  LT RF ABSOLUTE RETURN A GBP  Level 2 Level 3 

INSIGHT - LDI SOLUTIONS PLUS BONDS PLUS B GBP Level 2 Level 1 

P
age 139



 

 

0
6

9
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

Transferred from level 2 to level 3 due to reappraisal of 

property valuation techniques – balances restated due 

to cash balances held in the property portfolio  

  

 Note 16c Reconciliation of Fair Value Measurements 
within Level 3 

2017/18 Opening 
balance 

Transfers 
in/out 

Level 3 

Purchases Sales Unrealised 
gains/losses 

Realised 
gains/losses 

Closing 
balance 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  

UK Equities 150 (150) - - - - -  

Overseas Venture Capital 16,386 - 5,614 (7,672) (2,540) 1,763 13,551  

UK Venture Capital 52,587 - - (12,393) 1,516 - 41,711  

London LGPS CIV - 150 - - - - 150  

Total 69,123 - 5,614 (20,065) (1,024) 1,763 55,412  

P
age 140



 

 

0
7

0
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Fund’s primary long-term risk is that its assets will 

fall short of its liabilities (i.e. promised benefits 

payable to members).  Therefore the aim of 

investment risk management is to minimise the risk of 

an overall reduction in the value of the Fund and to 

maximise the opportunity for gains across the whole 

fund portfolio.  The Fund achieves this through asset 

diversification to reduce exposure to market and 

credit risk to an acceptable level.  In addition, the 

Fund manages its liquidity risk to ensure there is 

sufficient liquidity to meet the Fund’s forecast cash 

flows. 

Responsibility for the Fund’s risk-management 

strategy rests with the Committee. Risk management 

policies are established that aim to identify and 

analyse the investment risks faced by the Fund and 

these are regularly reviewed in the light of changing 

market and other conditions. 

a) Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk of loss emanating from general 

market fluctuations in equity and commodity prices, 

interest and foreign exchange rates and credit 

spreads. The Fund is exposed to market risk across all 

its investment activities.  In general, excessive 

volatility in market risk is managed through the 

diversification of the portfolio in terms of asset class, 

geographical and industry sectors and individual 

securities.  To mitigate market risk, the Committee 

and its investment advisors undertake regular 

monitoring of market conditions and benchmark 

analysis. 

Price Risk 

Price risk represents the risk that the value of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 

changes in market prices (other than those arising 

from interest rate risk or foreign exchange risk), 

whether those changes are caused by factors specific 

to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors 

affecting  

 

all such instruments in the market. The Fund is 

exposed to share and derivative price risk. This arises 

from investments held by the Fund for which the 

future price is uncertain. All securities represent a risk 

of loss of capital. The maximum risk resulting from 

financial instruments (with the exception of 

derivatives where the risk is currency related) is 

determined by the fair value of the financial 

instruments. The Fund’s investment managers aim to 

mitigate this price risk through diversification and the 

selection of securities and other financial instruments. 

The following table demonstrates the change in the 

net assets available to pay benefits if the market price 

had increased or decreased by 10%.  The analysis 

excludes cash, debtors, creditors, other investment 

balances and forward foreign exchange, as these 

financial instruments are not subject to price risk. 

 

 

Note 17 Nature and extent of risks arising from Financial 
Instruments 

Price Risk 
Assets exposed to  

price risk 

Value Value on 10%  
price increase 

Value on 10%  
price decrease 

 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

As at 31 March 2017 994,340 1,093,774 894,906 

As at 31 March 2018 998,291 1,098,120 898,462 

P
age 141



 

 

0
7

1
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

Interest Rate Risk 

The Fund invests in financial assets for the primary 

purpose of obtaining a return on its investments. Fixed 

interest securities and cash are subject to interest rate 

risks, which represent the risk that the fair value or future 

cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 

of changes in market interest rates. The Committee and 

its investment advisors regularly monitor the Fund’s 

interest rate risk exposure during the year. The Fund 

manages its interest risk exposure through the use of 

futures derivatives (see Note 15).  

Fixed interest securities, cash and cash equivalents are 

exposed to interest rate risk.  The table below 

demonstrates the change in value of these assets at the 

balance sheet date (and the prior year) and what the 

value would have been if interest rates had been 1% 

higher or 1% lower. 

 

Currency Risk 

Currency risk represents the risk that the fair value of 

future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund is 

exposed to currency risk on financial instruments that are 

denominated in any currency other than pounds sterling. 

The Fund recognises that a 

strengthening/weakening of the pound 

against the various currencies in which the 

Fund holds investments would 

increase/decrease the net assets available 

to pay benefits. 

In order to mitigate the risk, one of the 

Fund’s investment managers enters into 

forward foreign exchange contracts (accounted for as derivatives) to hedge the currency risk which arises 

from undertaking non sterling transactions.  In addition, several of the pooled investment vehicles partially or 

fully hedge the currency back into sterling.  These actions reduce the overall currency risk the Fund is exposed 

to. 

Overseas equities, overseas index linked securities, cash in foreign currencies, the value of the forward 

foreign exchange contracts and some elements of the pooled investment vehicles are exposed to currency 

risk.  The table overleaf shows the value of these assets at the balance sheet date (and the prior year) and 

what the value would have been if currencies had been 10% higher or 10% lower

Note 17 Nature and extent of risks arising from Financial Instruments (continued) 

Assets exposed to  

interest rate risk 

Value Value on 

1%  
price 

increase 

Value on 

1%  
price 

decrease 
 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

As at 31 March 2017 210,364 212,468 208,261 

As at 31 March 2018 220,573 222,779 218,367 

Assets exposed to  

currency risk 

Value Value on 10%  

foreign exchange 
rate increase 

Value on 10%  

foreign exchange 
rate decrease 

 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

As at 31 March 
2017 

360,756 396,832 324,680 

As at 31 March 2018 418,816  460,698 376,934 

P
age 142



 

 

0
7

2
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

 

b) Credit Risk 

Credit risk represents the risk that the counterparty to a 

transaction or a financial instrument will fail to discharge 

an obligation and cause the Fund to incur a financial loss. 

The market values of investments generally reflect an 

assessment of credit in their pricing and consequently the 

risk of loss is implicitly provided for in the carrying value 

of the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities. 

In essence, the Fund’s entire investment portfolio is 

exposed to some form of credit risk. However, the 

selection of high quality fund managers, counterparties, 

brokers and financial institutions minimises credit risk 

that may occur through the failure to settle a transaction 

in a timely manner. 

There is a risk that some admitted bodies may not honour 

their pension obligations with the result that any ensuing 

deficit might fall upon the Fund. To mitigate this risk, the 

Fund regularly monitors the state of its admitted bodies. 

c) Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 

The Fund therefore takes steps to ensure that there are adequate cash resources to meet its commitments. 

This will particularly be the case for cash to meet the pensioner payroll costs; and also cash to meet investment 

commitments. The Fund has immediate access to its cash holdings. 

The only assets in the Fund which cannot be liquidated within a month are detailed in the table below.  These 

amounted to 10.2% of the Fund's Net Assets at 31st March 2018 (12.1% at 31st March 2017).  The remaining 

investments can all be liquidated within days.   

Note 17 Nature and extent of risks arising from Financial Instruments (continued) 

Manager Portfolio Value at 31 

March 2017 

Value at 31 

March 2018 
 

 £'000 £'000 

Partners Group Multi Asset Credit 52,587 41,711 

Partners Group Infrastructure 16,386 7,924 

Standard Life Property 43,925 51,933 

Invesco Private Equity 5,301 3,757 

Unigestion Private Equity 3,524 1,871 

Total  121,723 107,195 

P
age 143



 

 

0
7

3
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

The Fund had the following commitments at the balance sheet date: 

 
31 March 

2017  

£000 

31 March 
2018  

£000 

Invesco Partnership Fund V L.P. 451 - 

Partners Group Direct Infrastructure Fund 2015 38,553 45,851 

Aviva Infrastructure - 30,000 

 
39,004 75,851 

 

 

The Fund did not participate in stock lending or underwriting.

Note 18 Contingent liabilities and contractual 
commitments 

Note 19 Stock Lending  

P
age 144



 

 

0
7

4
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

The LGPS Regulations require that a full actuarial 

valuation is carried out every third year. The purpose 

of this is to establish that the London Borough of 

Hammersmith & Fulham Pension Fund is able to meet 

its liabilities to past and present contributors and to 

review employer contribution rates. 

The latest full triennial valuation of the Fund was 

carried out by Barnett Waddingham, the Fund’s 

actuary, as at 31 March 2016 in accordance with the 

Funding Strategy Statement of the Fund and 

Regulation 36 of the Local Government Pension 

Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008.  The 

results were published in the triennial valuation 

report dated 31 March 2017.  

The 2016 valuation certified a common contribution 

rate of 15.5% of pensionable pay (13.6% as at March 

2013) to be paid by each employing body 

participating in the Fund, based on a funding level of 

88% (83% as at March 2013). In addition, each 

employing body has to pay an individual adjustment 

to reflect its own particular circumstances and 

funding position within the Fund. Details of each 

employer’s contribution rate are contained in the 

Statement to the Rates and Adjustment Certificate in 

the triennial valuation report.  

The actuary’s smoothed market value of the scheme’s 

assets at 31 March 2016 was £851.2m and the 

Actuary assessed the present value of the funded 

obligation at £965.6m.  This indicates a net liability of 

£114.4m,  

The actuarial valuation, carried out using the 

projected unit method, is based on economic and 

statistical assumptions, the main ones being: 

i. The rate of accumulation of income and capital 

on new investments over the long-term and 

the increase from time to time of income from 

existing investments. 

ii. Future rises in pensionable pay due to inflation 

and pension increases. 

iii. Withdrawals from membership due to 

mortality, ill health and ordinary retirement. 

iv. Progression of pensionable pay due to 

promotion. 

The contribution rate is set on the basis of the cost of 

future benefit accrual, increased to bring the funding 

level back to 100% over a period of 22 years, as set 

out in the Funding Strategy Statement.  It is set to be 

sufficient to meet the additional annual accrual of 

benefits allowing for future pay increases and 

increases to pension payments when these fall due, 

plus an amount to reflect each participating 

employer’s notional share of value of the Fund’s 

assets compared with 100% of their liabilities in the 

Fund in respect of service to the valuation date. 

The next actuarial valuation of the Fund will be as at 

31st March 2019 and will be published in 2020. 

 

Note 20 Funding Arrangements 

P
age 145



 

 

0
7

5
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

The table below shows the total net liability of the 

Fund as at 31st March 2018. The figures have been 

prepared by Barnett Waddingham, the Fund’s 

actuary, only for the purposes of providing the 

information required by IAS26.  In particular, they are 

not relevant for calculations undertaken for funding 

purposes or for other statutory purposes under UK 

pension’s legislation. 

In calculating the required numbers, the actuary 

adopted methods and assumptions that are 

consistent with IAS19. 

  31 March 2018 31 March 2017 

  £'000 £'000 

Present Value of 
Promised Retirement 

Benefits* 

1,629,783 1,656,377  

Fair Value of Scheme 

Assets (bid value) 

(992,168)  (1,000,383) 

Net Liability 637,615 655,994 

 

*Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits 

comprise of £1,592.5m (2016/17: £1,613.3m) and 

£37.3m (2016/17: £43.0m) in respect of vested 

benefits and non-vested benefits respectively as at 31 

March 2018. 

ASSUMPTIONS 

The assumptions applied by the actuary are set out 

below: To assess the value of the Fund’s liabilities at 

31 March 2018, the value of the Fund’s liabilities 

calculated for the funding valuation as at 31 March 

2016 have been rolled forward, using financial 

assumptions that comply with IAS19. 

DEMOGRAPHIC ASSUMPTIONS 

The demographic assumptions used are consistent 

with those used for the most recent Fund valuation, 

which was carried out as at 31 March 2016, hence 

they are different from those used for the 2017/18 

statement of accounts. 

The post mortality tables adopted are the S1PA 

tables.  The base tables are projected using the CMI 

2012 Model, allowing for a long term rate of 

improvement of 1.5% p.a.   

The assumed life expectancies from age 65 are: 

Life expectancy from age 

65 years 

 31 

March 
2018 

31 

March 
2017 

Retiring today Males 24.5 24.4 

  Females 26.1 26.0 

Retiring in 20 years Males 26.8 26.6 

  Females 28.4 28.3 

FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS 

The main financial assumptions are: 

 

OTHER ASSUMPTIONS 

• Members will exchange half of their 

commutable pension for cash at retirement; 

• Members will retire at one retirement age for 

all tranches of benefit, which will be the 

pension weighted average tranche 

retirement age; 

• 5% of active members will take up the 

option under the new LGPS to pay 50% of 

contributions for 50% of benefits. 

 

 

Note 20a Actuarial Present Value of Promised 
Retirement Benefits 

Financial Assumptions 31 March 2018 
% 

31 March 2017 

% 

RPI increases 3.3 3.6 

CPI increases 2.3 2.7 

Salary increases 3.8 4.2 

Pension increases 2.3 2.7 

Discount rate 2.6 2.7 

P
age 146



 

 

0
7

6
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

 

31 March 2017   31 March 2018 

£'000   £'000 

  Debtors:   

334 Contributions due - employers 736  

113 Contributions due - employees 197 

1,085 London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 228 

7 Sundry debtors  898 

1,539 
 

2,059 

2,834 Cash balances 4,361 

4,373 Total 6,420 

 

 

31 March 2017   31 March 2018 

£'000   £'000 

 Creditors  

(2,439) Unpaid benefits (75) 

(1,062) Investment management expenses (369) 

(655) HM Revenues and Customs (672) 

(67) Sundry creditors (175) 

(4,223) Total (1,291) 

 

ANALYSIS OF DEBTORS 

31 March 
2017 

  31 March 
2018 

£'000   £'000 

1,117 Local authorities 228 

422 Other entities and individuals 1,831 

1,539 Total  2,059 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ANALYSIS OF CREDITORS 

31 March 

2017 

  31 March 

2018 

£'000   £'000 

(67) Local authorities (158) 

(655) Central government bodies (672) 

(3,501) Other  Entities and individuals (461) 

(4,223) Total (1,291) 

 

 

Note 21 Current Assets 

Note 22 Current Liabilities 

P
age 147



 

 

0
7

7
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

The Pension Fund’s Additional Voluntary Contributions 

(AVC) providers are Zurich Assurance and the Equitable 

Life Assurance Society.  The table below shows 

information about these separately invested AVCs. 

 

In accordance with Regulation 4(1) (b) of the Pension 

Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 

Regulations 2016, the contributions paid and the assets 

of these investments are not included in the Pension 

Fund Accounts.  

The AVC providers secure benefits on a money purchase 

basis for those members electing to pay AVCs.  

Members of the AVC schemes each receive an annual 

statement confirming the amounts held in their account 

and the movements in the year.  The Fund relies on 

individual contributors to check that deductions are 

accurately reflected in the statements provided by the 

AVC provider. 

  

Note 24 Additional Voluntary Contributions 

31 March 2017 

Market Value 

  31 March 2018 

Market Value  

£'000   £'000 
 

Zurich Assurance  

1,172 Market Value at 31st March 824 

21 Contributions during the year 35 

41 Number of members at 31st March 40 

   

 Equitable Life Assurance  

193 Market Value at 31st March 203 

- Contributions during the year - 

30 Number of members at 31st March 29 

P
age 148



 

 

0
7

8
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• P

EN
SIO

N
 FU

N
D

 A
C

C
O

U
N

TS 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

The Pension Fund is administered by the London 

Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham.  The Council 

incurred costs of £0.285m in 2017/18 (£0.240m in 

2016/17) in relation to the administration of the Fund 

and were reimbursed by the Fund for the expenses. 

Governance Arrangements 

One member of the Pensions Sub-Committee is a 

deferred member of the Hammersmith and Fulham 

Pension Fund.  Members of the Sub-Committee 

Members of the sub-committee are required to make a 

declaration of interests at the beginning of each 

meeting. 

 

 

 

Key management personnel 

The key management personnel of the Fund are the Members of the Pension Sub-Committee, 

the Strategic Director of Finance, the Tri-Borough Director of Pensions and Treasury and the 

Director of People Services. Total remuneration payable to key management personnel in 

respect of the pension fund is set out below: 

 

 

  

Note 25 Related Party Transactions 

31 March 2017   31 March 2018 

£'000    £'000 

  37      Short-term benefits   26 

39      Post-employment benefits (3) 

7      Termination benefits - 

174       Total 23 

P
age 149



 

 

 

 

The Hammersmith and Fulham Pension Fund pays discretionary awards to the former 

employees of London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham council. The amounts paid are 

not included within the Fund Account but are provided as a service and fully reclaimed from 

the council. The gross sum paid out is disclosed below.  In 2017/18 the pension fund paid 

discretionary awards of £2.342 (£2.588m in 2016/17). £766k was outstanding from the 

Council at year end. 

 

NOTE 27 External Audit Costs 
The external audit fee payable to Fund’s external auditors, KPMG LP, was £21,000 (£21,000 in 2016/17). 

  

2016/17    2017/18  

£'000   £'000 

2,588 Payments on behalf of London Borough of 

Hammersmith and Fulham 

2,342 

2,588  2,342 

Note 26 Agency Transactions 

P
age 150



 

 

The external audit fee payable to Fund’s external auditors, KPMG LLP, was £21,000 (£21,000 in 2016/17). 

 

Section 7 Glossary 

P
age 151



 

 

0
8

1
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• G

LO
SSA

R
Y A

N
D

 C
O

N
TA

C
TS 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The rules and practices adopted by the authority that 

determine how the transactions and events are 

reflected in the accounts. 

ACCRUALS 

Amounts included in the accounts for income or 

expenditure in relation to the financial year but not 

received or paid as at 31 March. 

ACTIVE MANAGEMENT 

Active management or active fund management is 

where the fund manager makes specific investments 

with the aim of outperforming an investment 

benchmark. 

ACTIVE MEMBER 

Current employee who is contributing to a pension 

scheme. 

ACTUARIAL GAINS AND LOSSES 

These arise where actual events have not coincided 

with the actuarial assumptions made for the last 

valuations (known as experience gains and losses) or 

the actuarial assumptions have been changed. 

ACTUARY 

An independent professional who advises the Council 

on the financial position of the Fund.  Every three 

years the actuary values the assets and liabilities of 

the Fund and determines the funding level and the 

employers’ contribution rates. 

 

ADDITIONAL VOLUNTARY 
CONTRIBUTIONS (AVC) 

An option available to active scheme members to 

secure additional pension benefits by making regular 

contributions to separately held investment funds 

managed by the Fund’s AVC provider. 

ADMITTED BODY 

An organisation, whose staff can become members of 

the Fund by virtue of an admission agreement made 

between the Council and the organisation.  It enables 

contractors who take on the Council’s services with 

employees transferring, to offer those staff continued 

membership of the Fund. 

ASSET ALLOCATION 

The apportionment of a Fund’s assets between 

different types of investments (or asset classes). The 

long-term strategic asset allocation of a Fund will 

reflect the Fund’s investment objectives.   

BENCHMARK 

A measure against which the investment policy or 

performance of an investment manager can be 

compared. 

BONDS 

Investments, mainly in government stocks, which 

guarantee a fixed rate of interest.  The securities 

represent loans which are repayable at a future date 

but which can be traded on a recognised stock 

exchange in the meantime. 

CIPFA (CHARTERED INSTITUTE OF 
PUBLIC FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING) 

CIPFA is the professional institute for accountants 

working in the public services. CIPFA publishes the 

Code. 

CREDITORS 

Amounts owed by the Council for goods and services 

received but not paid for as at 31 March. 

DEBTORS 

Amounts owed to the Council for goods and services 

provided but where the associated income was not 

received as at 31 March. 

DEFERRED MEMBERS 

Scheme members, who have left employment or 

ceased to be active members of the scheme whilst 

remaining in employment, but retain an entitlement 

to a pension from the scheme. 

DEFINED BENEFIT SCHEME 

A type of pension scheme, where the pension that will 

ultimately be paid to the employee is fixed in 

advance, and not impacted by investment returns.  It 

is the responsibility of the sponsoring organisation to 

ensure that sufficient assets are set aside to meet the 

pension promised. 

Glossary of Terms 

P
age 152



 

 

0
8

2
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• G

LO
SSA

R
Y A

N
D

 C
O

N
TA

C
TS 

DERIVATIVE 

A derivative is a financial instrument which derives its 

value from the change in price (e.g. foreign exchange 

rate, commodity price or interest rate) of an 

underlying investment (e.g. equities, bonds, 

commodities, interest rates, exchange rates and stock 

market indices), which no net initial investment or 

minimal initial investment and is settled at a future 

date 

EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION RATES 

The percentage of the salary of employees that 

employers pay as a contribution towards the 

employees’ pension. 

EQUITIES 

Ordinary shares in UK and overseas companies traded 

on a stock exchange.  Shareholders have an interest in 

the profits of the company and are entitled to vote at 

shareholders’ meetings. 

EXCHANGE TRADED 

This describes a financial contract which is traded on a 

recognised exchange such as the London Stock 

Exchange or the London International Financial 

Futures Exchange. 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Financial assets are cash, equity instruments within 

another entity (e.g. shares) or a contractual right to 

receive cash or another asset from another entity 

(e.g. debtors) or exchange financial assets or financial 

liabilities under potentially favourable conditions (e.g. 

derivatives). 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT 

Any contract giving rise to a financial asset in one 

entity and a financial liability or equity in another 

entity. 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Financial assets are contractual obligations to deliver 

cash or another financial asset (e.g. creditors) or 

exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under 

potentially unfavourable conditions (e.g. derivatives). 

FORWARD FOREIGN EXCHANGE 
DERIVATIVE 

Forward foreign exchange derivatives are over the 

counter contracts whereby two parties agree to 

exchange two currencies on a specified future date at 

an agreed rate of exchange.  

INDEX 

A calculation of the average price of shares, bonds, or 

other assets in a specified market to provide an 

indication of the average performance and general 

trends in the market. 

OVER THE COUNTER 

This describes a financial contract which is potentially 

unique as they are not usually traded on a recognised 

exchange 

PASSIVE MANAGEMENT 

Passive management is where the investments mirror 

a market index. 

 

POOLED INVESTMENT VEHICLES 

Funds which manage the investments of more than 

one investor on a collective basis. Each investor is 

allocated units which are revalued at regular intervals. 

Income from these investments is normally returned 

to the pooled fund and increases the value of the 

units. 

PROJECTED UNIT METHOD – 
PENSION FUND VALUATION 

An accrued benefits valuation method in which the 

scheme liabilities make allowance for projected 

earnings. An accrued benefits valuation method is a 

valuation method in which the scheme liabilities at 

the valuation date relate to: 

• the benefits for pensioners and deferred 

pensioners (i.e. individuals who have ceased to be 

active members but are entitled to benefits 

payable at a later date) and their dependents, 

allowing where appropriate for future increases, 

and 

• the accrued benefits for members in service on 

the valuation date. 

 

  

Glossary of Terms (continued) 

P
age 153



 

 

0
8

3
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• G

LO
SSA

R
Y A

N
D

 C
O

N
TA

C
TS 

RELATED PARTIES 

Two or more parties are related parties when at any 

time during the financial period: 

• one party has direct or indirect control of the 

other party; or 

• the parties are subject to common control from 

the same source; or 

• one party has influence over the financial and 

operational policies of the other party, to an 

extent that the other party might be inhibited 

from pursuing at all times its own separate 

interests; or 

• the parties, in entering a transaction, are subject 

to influence from the same source, to such an 

extent that one of the parties to the transaction 

has subordinated its own separate interests. 

Advice from CIPFA is that related parties to a local 

authority include Central Government, bodies 

precepting or levying demands on the Council Tax, 

members and chief officers of the authority and its 

pension fund. 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION 

A related party transaction is the transfer of assets or 

liabilities or the performance of services by, to or for a 

related party, irrespective of whether a charge is 

made. Examples of related party transactions include: 

• the purchase, sale, lease, rental or hire of assets 

between related parties; 

• the provision by a pension fund to a related party 

of assets of loans, irrespective of any direct 

economic benefit to the pension fund; 

• the provision of services to a related party, 

including the provision of pension fund 

administration services; and 

• transactions with individuals who are related 

parties of an authority or a pension fund, except 

those applicable to other members of the 

community or the pension fund, such as Council 

Tax, rents and payments of benefits. 

RETURN 

The total gain from holding an investment over a 

given period, including income and increase or 

decrease in market value. 

SCHEDULED BODY 

An organisation that has the right to become a 

member the Local Government Pension Scheme 

under the scheme regulations.  Such an organisation 

does not need to be admitted, as its right to 

membership is automatic. 

THE CODE 

The Code incorporates guidance in line with IFRS, 

IPSAS and UK GAAP Accounting Standards. It sets out 

the proper accounting practice to be adopted for the 

Statement of Accounts to ensure they ‘present fairly’ 

the financial position of the Council. The Code has 

statutory status via the provision of the Local 

Government Act 2003.  

UNREALISED GAINS/LOSSES 

The increase or decrease in the market value of 

investments held by the fund since the date of their 

purchase. 

NOTE: values throughout these accounts are 

presented rounded to whole numbers. Totals in 

supporting tables and notes may not appear to cast, 

cross-cast, or exactly match to the core statements or 

other tables due to rounding differences. 

 

 

Glossary of Terms (continued) 

P
age 154



 

 

0
8

4
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8
• G

LO
SSA

R
Y A

N
D

 C
O

N
TA

C
TS 

Hammersmith and Fulham Pensions Website 

www.lbhfpensionfund.org  

Shared Service Pensions Finance Team 

City Hall 

5 The Strand 

London 

WC2N 5HR 

Telephone: 020 7641 6925 

Email: pensionfund@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Bi-borough Pensions Manager 

c/o Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea 

The Town Hall 

Hornton Street 

London 

W8 7NX 

Email: pensions@rbkc.gov.uk 

 

Surrey County Council 

Pension Services 

Surrey County Council 

Room 243 County Hall 

Penrhyn Road 

Kingston upon Thames 

Surrey, KT1 2DN 

Email: myhelpdeskpensions@surreycc.gov.uk 

Telephone: 020 8213 2802 

National Local Government Pension Scheme 

information website 

www.lgps.org.uk 

 

The Pensions Advisory Service (TPAS) 

11 Belgrave Road 

London  SW1V 1RB 

Telephone: 0845 601 2923 

www.pensionsadvisoryservice.org.uk/online-enquiry 

 

The Office of the Pensions Ombudsman 

11 Belgrave Road 

London, SW1V 1RB 

Telephone: 020 7630 2200 

Email: enquiries@pensions-ombudsman.org.uk 

  

Contact Information 

P
age 155

http://www.lbhfpensionfund.org/


 

 

Section 8 Appendices 

Full Council of London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 

Audit, Pensions and 
Standards Committee 

Pensions Board 

Pensions Sub-Committee 

Director for Finance 

P
age 156



 

 

0
8

6
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

BACKGROUND 

The London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham is 

the administering authority for the London Borough 

of Hammersmith and Fulham (“the Fund”) and it 

administers the Local Government Pension Scheme 

on behalf of the participating employers. 

Regulation 55 of the Local Government Pension 

Scheme Regulations 2013 requires all administering 

authorities for local government pension schemes to 

publish a Governance Compliance Statement setting 

out the Fund’s governance arrangements.  

Information on the extent of the Fund’s compliance 

with guidance issued by the Secretary of State for 

Communities and Local Government is also a 

requirement of this regulation. 

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 

The diagram below shows the governance structure in 

place for the Fund. 

Full Council has delegated its functions in relation to 

the Pension Fund regulations, as shown in the 

diagram. The sections below explain the role of each 

party and provide the terms of reference. 

 

 

Governance Compliance Statement 

P
age 157



 

 

0
8

7
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

AUDIT, PENSIONS AND STANDARDS 
COMMITTEE 

Full Council has delegated all decisions in relation to 

the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 to the Audit, 

Pensions and Standards Sub-Committee.  In order to 

manage the workload of the committee, the 

committee has delegated decisions in relation to all 

pensions’ matters to the Pensions Sub-committee. 

PENSIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 

The role of the Pensions Sub- Committee is to have 

responsibility for all aspects of the investment and 

other management activity of the Fund.   

The sub-committee is made up of five elected 

members of the Audit, Pensions and Standards 

Committee – three administration councillors and two 

opposition councillors. The sub-committee is chaired 

by the Chair of the Audit, Pensions and Standards 

Committee. The Sub Committee may co-opt non-

voting independent members, including Trade Unions 

and representatives from the admitted and scheduled 

bodies in the Pension Fund. 

All Councillors on the sub-committee have voting 

rights. In the event of an equality of votes, the Chair 

of the Sub-committee shall have a second casting 

vote. Where the Chair is not in attendance, the Vice-

Chair has the casting vote.  

The Sub-committee meets four times a year and may 

convene additional meetings as required. Three 

members of the Sub-committee are required to 

attend for a meeting to be quorate. 

The terms of reference for the sub-committee are: 

1. To agree the investment strategy and strategic 

asset allocation having regard to the advice of the 

fund managers and the Investment Consultant.  

2. To monitor performance of the Pension Fund, 

individual fund managers, custodians, actuary and 

other external advisors to ensure that they remain 

suitable;  

3. To determine the Fund management 

arrangements, including the appointment and 

termination of the appointment of the Fund 

Managers, Actuary, Custodians and Fund Advisers.  

4. To agree the Statement of Investment Principles, 

the Funding Strategy Statement, the Business Plan 

for the Fund, the Governance Policy Statement, 

the Communications Policy Statement and the 

Governance Compliance Statement and to ensure 

compliance with these.  

5. To approve the final statement of accounts of the 

Pension Fund and to approve the Annual Report. 

6. To receive actuarial valuations of the 

Superannuation Fund regarding the level of 

employers’ contributions necessary to balance the 

Superannuation Fund. 

7. To oversee and approve any changes to the 

administrative arrangements, material contracts 

and policies and procedures of the Council for the 

payment of pensions, and allowances to 

beneficiaries. 

8. To make and review an admission policy relating 

to admission agreements generally with any 

admission body.  

9. To ensure compliance with all relevant statutes, 

regulations and best practice with both the public 

and private sectors.  

10. To review the arrangements and managers for the 

provision of Additional Voluntary Contributions for 

fund members. 

11. To receive and consider the Auditor’s report on 

the governance of the Pension Fund. 

12. To determine any other investment or pension 

fund policies that may be required from time to 

time so as to comply with Government regulations 

and to make any decisions in accordance with 

those policies. 

  

Governance Compliance Statement (continued) 

P
age 158



 

 

0
8

8
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

PENSION BOARD 

With effect from 1st April 2015, all administering 

authorities are required by the Public Services 

Pensions Act 2013 to establish a Pension Board to 

assist them.  The London Borough of Hammersmith 

and Fulham Pension Board was established by full 

Council on 25th February 2015. 

The role of the Pension Board is to assist the 

administering authority with securing compliance 

with Local Government Pension Scheme regulations 

and other legislation relating to the governance and 

administration of the scheme.  The Board does not 

have a decision making role in relation to 

management of the Fund, but is able to make 

recommendations to the Pension Fund Committee. 

The membership of the Board is as follows: 

• Three employer representatives comprising one 

from an admitted or scheduled body and two 

nominated by the Council;  

• Three scheme member’s representatives from the 

Council or an admitted or scheduled body. 

All Board members are entitled to vote, but it is 

expected that as far as possible Board members will 

reach a consensus.  Three Board members are 

required to attend for a meeting to be quorate.  The 

Board will meet a minimum of twice a year but is 

likely to meet on a quarterly basis to reflect the same 

frequency as the Pension Fund Committee. 

COMPLIANCE WITH STATUTORY 
GUIDANCE 

It is a regulatory requirement that the Fund publishes 

the extent to which it complies with statutory 

guidance issued by the Secretary of State for 

Communities and Local Government.  The guidance 

and compliance levels are set out in Annex 1. 

 

REVIEW OF STATEMENT 

This statement will be kept under review and updated 

as required.  Consultation with the admitted and 

scheduled bodies of the Fund will take place before 

the statement is finalised at each change. 

 

Governance Compliance Statement (continued) 

P
age 159



 

 

0
8

9
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

Compliance Requirement Compliance Notes 

Structure 

The management of the administration of benefits and strategic management of fund assets clearly rests with the main 
committee established by the appointing council. 

Compliant As set out in terms of reference of the Pensions Sub-
Committee. 

That representatives of participating LGPS employers, admitted bodies and scheme members (including pensioner and 
deferred members) are members of either the main or secondary committee established to underpin the work of the main 

committee. 

Not fully compliant Representatives of the employers and scheme members are 
Pension Board members, rather than members of the 

Pensions Sub-Committee. 

That where a secondary committee or panel has been established, the structure ensures effective communication across both 
levels 

Not applicable All Pension Fund matters are considered by the Pensions 
Sub-Committee 

That where a secondary committee or panel has been established, at least one seat on the main committee is allocated for a 
member from the secondary committee or panel 

Not applicable All Pension Fund matters are considered by the Pensions 
Sub-Committee 

Committee membership and representation 

That all key stakeholders are afforded the opportunity to be represented within the main or secondary committee structure. 
These include: - 

i)  employing authorities (including non-scheme employers, e.g. admitted bodies); 

ii)  scheme members (including deferred and pensioner scheme members),  

iii) where appropriate, independent professional observers, and 

iv) expert advisors (on an ad hoc basis). 

Not fully compliant Representatives of the employers and scheme members are 
Pension Board members, rather than members of the 
Pensions Sub-Committee.  Expert advisers attend the Sub-

Committee as required 

That where lay members sit on a main or secondary committee, they are treated equally in terms of access to papers and 
meetings, training and are given full opportunity to contribute to the decision making process, with or without voting rights 

Not applicable All Pension Fund matters are considered by the Pensions 
Sub-Committee 

Selection and role 

That committee or panel members are made fully aware of the status, role and function they are required to perform on 
either a main or secondary committee 

Compliant As set out in terms of reference of the Pensions Sub-
Committee 

That at the start of any meeting, committee members are invited to declare any financial or pecuniary interest related to 
specific matters on the agenda 

Compliant This is a standing item on the Pensions Sub-Committee 
agendas 

Voting 

The policy of individual administering authorities on voting rights is clear and transparent, including the justification for not 
extending voting rights to each body or group represented on main LGPS committees. 

Compliant As set out in terms of reference of the Pensions Sub-
Committee 

  

Governance Compliance Statement (continued) 

P
age 160



 

 

0
9

0
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

Compliance Requirement Compliance Notes 

Training, facility time and expenses 

That in relation to the way in which statutory and related decisions are taken by the administering authority, there is a clear 
policy on training, facility time and reimbursement of expenses in respect of members involved in the decision-making 
process 

Compliant As set out in the Council’s allowances policy and the Pension 
Fund Knowledge and Skills policy 

That where such a policy exists, it applies equally to all members of committees, sub-committees, advisory panels or any 
other form of secondary forum 

Compliant As set out in the Council’s constitution 

Meetings 

That an administering authority’s main committee or committees meet at least quarterly. Compliant As set out in terms of reference of the Pensions Sub-

Committee 

That an administering authority’s secondary committee or panel meet at least twice a year and is synchronised with the dates 

when the main committee sits 

Not applicable All Pension Fund matters are considered by the Pensions 

Sub-Committee. 

That administering authorities who do not include lay members in their formal governance arrangements, provide a forum 

outside of those arrangements by which the interests of key stakeholders can be represented 

Compliant Represented on the Pensions Board 

Access 

That subject to any rules in the council’s constitution, all members of main and secondary committees or panels have equal 
access to committee papers, documents and advice that falls to be considered at meetings of the main committee 

Compliant As set out in the Council’s constitution 

Scope 

That administering authorities have taken steps to bring wider scheme issues within the scope of their governance 
arrangements 

Compliant as set out in terms of reference of the Pensions Sub-
Committee 

Publicity 

That administering authorities have published details of their governance arrangements in such a way that stakeholders with 
an interest in the way in which the scheme is governed, can express an interest in wanting to be part of those arrangements 

Compliant All meeting minutes, reports and Pension Fund policies are 
published on the Council’s website 

 

Governance Compliance Statement (continued) 

P
age 161



 

 

0
9

1
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

1. BACKGROUND 
Regulation 61 of the Local Government Pension 

Scheme Regulations 2013 requires administering 

authorities to prepare, publish and maintain a policy 

statement setting out its communication strategy for 

communicating with: 

• Scheme Members  

• Members’ representatives 

• Prospective members 

• Employers participating in the Fund 

This is the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 

Communications Policy Statement for the London 

Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham (LBHF). 

LBHF in its capacity as the Administering Authority 

engages with other employers (under their status as 

Admitted and Scheduled Bodies) and has 4071 active 

members 5915 deferred members and 4518 

pensioners as at 31st March 2016 

This policy document sets out the mechanisms that 

LBHF uses to meet their communication 

responsibilities. 

2. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
Retained team within HR 

The Retained Team are responsible for setting the 

pensions administration management strategy which 

includes the drafting of this document and the 

allocation of communication responsibilities, including 

those to third parties. 

They are also responsible for the monitoring of the 

quality, timeliness and accuracy of pensions 

communications from third parties and for the 

periodic review of this document. 

The Retained Team will approve significant 

communications prior to them being issued that have 

been drafted on behalf of LBHF by Surrey County 

Council (SCC) and British Telecom (BT). 

Surrey County Council 

SCC are responsible for the day to day transactional 

pensions administration service under a section 101 

agreement with LBHF. 

Under this agreement SCC are responsible for the 

quality, timeliness and accuracy of pensions 

communications within their normal business 

activities. 

They are also responsible for communications within 

specific projects and tasks agreed and allocated to 

them by the Retained Team. 

British Telecom 

SCC are responsible for the day to day transactional 

pensions administration service under a section 101 

agreement with LBHF. 

Under this agreement SCC are responsible for the 

quality, timeliness and accuracy of pensions 

communications within their normal business 

activities. 

They are also responsible for communications within 

specific projects and tasks agreed and allocated to 

them by the Retained Team. 

3. HOW INFORMATION IS 
COMMUNICATED 
The table below shows the LBHF communication 

methods, the frequency of issue and the intended 

audiences. 

Communication Policy 

P
age 162



 

 

0
9

2
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

 

Communication Type 

P
ap

er
 B

as
e

d
 

W
e

b
si

te
 

In
tr

an
e

t 

Fa
ce

 t
o

 f
ac

e 

El
e

ct
ro

n
ic

 

Frequency of issue Communication 
method 

A
ct

iv
e

 m
em

b
e

r 

D
e

fe
rr

e
d

 

m
em

b
e

r 

P
e

n
si

o
n

e
r 

P
ro

sp
e

ct
iv

e
 

m
em

b
e

rs
 

Em
p

lo
ye

rs
 

U
n

io
n

 R
e

p
s 

P
e

n
si

o
n

 f
u

n
d

 

co
m

m
it

te
e 

P
e

n
si

o
n

 B
o

ar
d

 

R
e

si
d

e
n

ts
 a

n
d

 

ta
xp

ay
e

rs
 

M
e

d
ia

 

O
th

e
r 

st
ak

e
h

o
ld

er
s 

Joiner information with Scheme 
details 

   During the 
recruitment process 

and upon request  

Sent to home 
address/via 

employers 

          

Newsletters    Annually and/or 

when the scheme 
changes 

Sent to home 

address/via 
employers 

          

Fund Reports and Accounts      Continually available Link publicised           

Annual Benefit Statements    Annually and on 
request 

Sent to home address 
and/or via employers 
for active members. 

Sent to home address 
for deferred members 

          

Factsheets    On request On request           

Roadshows     When major scheme 
changes occur 

Advertised in 
newsletters, via 
posters 

          

Personal discussions     When required Displayed in the 
workplace 

          

Posters    Continually available On request           

Employers Guide     Annually Annually           

 

  

P
age 163



 

 

0
9

3
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

 

Communication Type 

P
ap

er
 B

as
e

d
 

W
e

b
si

te
 

In
tr

an
e

t 

Fa
ce

 t
o

 f
ac

e 

El
e

ct
ro

n
ic

 

Frequency of issue Communication 
method 

A
ct

iv
e

 m
em

b
e

r 

D
e

fe
rr

e
d

 

m
em

b
e

r 

P
e

n
si

o
n

e
r 

P
ro

sp
e

ct
iv

e
 

m
em

b
e

rs
 

Em
p

lo
ye

rs
 

U
n

io
n

 R
e

p
s 

P
e

n
si

o
n

 f
u

n
d

 

co
m

m
it

te
e 

P
e

n
si

o
n

 B
o

ar
d

 

R
e

si
d

e
n

ts
 a

n
d

 

ta
xp

ay
e

rs
 

M
e

d
ia

 

O
th

e
r 

st
ak

e
h

o
ld

er
s 

Employers meetings     Annually  Notifications sent           

Briefing papers   When required Within Committee 
papers dispatch 

          

Committee Reports   With the committee 
cycle 

Within Committee 
papers dispatch 

          

Training and Development    Available and/or as 
when requested 

On request           

Press releases    As required Email           

Other employers joining the fund    As required Email           

Pension disputes IDRP    As required Email           

Statutory returns and 
questionnaires 

   As required Email           

 

P
age 164



 

 

0
9

4
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

 

4. DETAILS OF WHAT IS 
COMMUNICATED 

Joiner information with Scheme details 

A document providing an overview of the LGPS, 

including who can join, the contribution rates, the 

retirement and death benefits and how to increase 

the value of benefits. 

Newsletters 

An annual newsletter which provides updates on 

changes to the LGPS as well as other related news, 

such as national changes to pensions regulations, 

forthcoming roadshows and contact details. 

Fund Report and Accounts 

Details of the value of the Pension Fund during the 

financial year, income and expenditure etc. 

Annual Benefit Statements 

For active members these include the value of current 

and projected benefits. The associated death benefits 

are also shown along with details of any individuals 

nominated to receive the lump sum death grant. 

In relation to deferred members, the benefit 

statement includes the current value of the deferred 

benefits and the earliest payment date of the benefits 

as well as the associated death benefits. 

Factsheets  

Information that provides a summary in relation to 

specific topics, such as topping up pension rights, 

transfer values in and out of the scheme, death 

benefits and, for pensioners, annual pensions 

increases. 

Roadshows  

As required a representative from SCC and/or the 

Retained Team will visit a particular location to 

provide a presentation on a particular topic of 

interest.  

Face to face/personal discussions.  

Face to face discussions with a representative from 

SCC and/or the Retained Team to discuss personal 

circumstances.  

Posters  

These are to engage with staff that are not in the 

LGPS, to help them to understand the benefits of 

participating in the scheme and to provide guidance 

on how to join.  

Employers’ Guide  

A detailed guide that provides guidance on the 

employer responsibilities including the forms and 

other necessary communications: - 

Employers meeting  

A seminar style event with a number of speakers 

covering topical LGPS issues.  

Briefing papers  

Formal briefings that highlight key issues or 

developments relating to the LGPS and the Fund, 

these are used by senior managers when attending 

committee meetings.  

Committee papers  

Formal documents setting out relevant issues in 

respect of the LGPS, in many cases seeking specific 

decisions or directions from elected members.  

Training and Development.  

Pension issues are included in appropriate training 

and development events – specific pension training 

and development events are run at significant times 

such as when the scheme changes.  

Press releases  

Bulletins providing briefing commentary on LBHF’s 

opinion on various matters relating to the Pension 

Fund, for example. the actuarial valuation results. 

Other employers joining the fund  

A legal requirement to notify both organisations of 

the name and type of employer entered into the Fund 

(e.g. following the admission of third party service 

providers into the scheme).  

Pension disputes IDRP  

Formal notification of pension dispute resolutions to 

the complainant, together with any additional 

correspondence relating to the dispute.  

Statutory returns and questionnaires  

Statutory and various questionnaires that are 

received, requesting specific information in relation to 

the structure of the LBHF fund or the composition of 

the Fund. 

Communication Policy (continued) 

P
age 165



 

 

0
9

5
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

FURTHER INFORMATION 
If you need more information about the Scheme you 

should contact Surrey County Council at the following 

address: 

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL  
Pension Services (LBHF Team) 

Surrey County Council 

Room G59, County Hall 

Penrhyn Road 

Kingston upon Thames 

Surrey KT1 2DN 

Email: myhelpdeskpensions@surreycc.gov.uk 

 

General enquiries and complaints: 

Helpdesk: 0208 231 2802 

General enquiries and complaints: 0208 541 9293 

 

RETAINED HR TEAM 
Maria Bailey  

Pensions Manager  

Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea,  

Town Hall,  

Hornton Street,  

London  

W8 7NX  

 

Email: Maria.Bailey@rbkc.gov.uk  

Phone: 0207 361 2333  

Communication Policy (continued) 

P
age 166



1. PURPOSE OF THE FUNDING STRATEGY 
STATEMENT  
1.1 The purpose of this Funding Strategy Statement is to 

explain the funding objectives of the London Borough 

of Hammersmith and Fulham Pension Fund (the 

“Fund”) and in particular: -  

• How the costs of the benefits provided under the 

Local Government Pension Scheme (the “Scheme”) 

are met though the Fund in a prudent way; 

• The objectives in setting employer contribution 

rates and the desirability of maintaining stability in 

the primary contribution rate; and 

• Ensuring that the regulatory requirements to set 

contributions that will maintain the solvency and 

long term cost-efficiency of the Fund are met.  

2. AIMS AND PURPOSE OF THE FUND  
2.1 The aims of the Fund are to:  

• Manage employers’ liabilities effectively and 

ensure that sufficient resources are available to 

meet all liabilities as they fall due; 

• Enable primary contribution rates to be kept as 

nearly constant as possible; and

 

• Seek returns on investment within reasonable risk 

parameters.  

2.2 The purpose of the Fund is to:  

• Pay pensions, lump sums and other benefits under 

the Regulations;  

• Meet the costs associated in administering the 

Fund;  

• Receive monies in respect of contributions, 

transfer values and investment income.  

3. RESPONSIBILITIES OF KEY PARTIES  
3.1 The key parties involved in the funding process and 

their responsibilities are as follows:  

The Administering Authority  

3.2 The Administering Authority for the Pension Fund is 

the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham. 

The main responsibilities of the Administering 

Authority are:  

• Operate a pension fund 

• Collect employee and employer contributions 

investment income and other amounts due to the 

Fund, as stipulated in the LGPS Regulations; 

 

• Invest the Fund’s assets in accordance with the 

LGPS regulations; 

• Pay the benefits due to Scheme members; as 

stipulated by the LGPS regulations; 

• Ensure that cash is available to meet liabilities as 

and when they fall due; 

• Take measures as set out in the regulations to 

safeguard the Fund against the consequences of 

employer default; 

• Manage the actuarial valuation process in 

conjunction with the Fund Actuary; 

• Prepare and maintain this FSS, the SIP and ISS after 

consultation with other interested parties; and 

• Monitor all aspects of the Fund’s performance and 

funding, amending the FSS and ISS accordingly; 

• Manage any potential conflicts of interest arising 

from the Borough’s dual role as scheme employer 

and fund administrator 

• Enable the pension board to review the valuation 

process as set out in their terms of reference.  

  

Funding Strategy Statement 

P
age 167



 

 

0
9

7
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

Individual Employers  

3.3 In addition to the Administering Authority, various 
scheduled and admitted bodies participate in the 
Fund.  
 
The responsibilities of each individual employer that 
participates in the Fund, including the administering 
authority, are to:  

 

• Deduct contributions from employees’ salaries 

correctly and pay these, together with their own 

employer contributions as certified by the Fund 

Actuary, to the administering authority within the 

statutory timescales; 

• Notify the administering authority of all changes in 

Scheme membership and any other membership 

changes promptly; 

• Exercise any discretions permitted under the 

Regulations; and 

• Meet the costs of any augmentations or other 

additional costs, such as early retirement strain, in 

accordance with agreed policies and procedures.  

The Fund Actuary  

4.4 The Pension Fund’s Actuary is Barnett Waddingham 

LLP. Their main responsibilities of the Fund Actuary 

are to:  

• Prepare valuations including the setting of employers’ 

contribution rates at a level to ensure Fund solvency 

and long term cost efficiency, after agreeing 

assumptions with the administering authority and 

having regard to the FSS and the LGPS regulations; 

• Prepare advice and calculations in connection with 

bulk transfers and the funding aspects of individual 

benefit related matters, such as pension strain 

costs, ill health retirement costs, compensatory 

added years costs, etc.; 

• Provide advice and valuations on the exiting of 

employers from the Fund; 

• Advise the administering authority on Bonds and 

other forms of security against the financial effect 

on the Fund of employer default; 

• Assist the administering authority in assessing 

whether employer contributions need to be 

revised between valuations, as permitted or 

required by the regulations; 

• Ensure that the administering authority is aware of 

any professional guidance or other professional 

requirements that may be of relevance to the 

administrator’s role in advising the fund; and 

• Advise on other actuarial matters affecting the 

financial position of the Fund. 

4. SOLVENCY ISSUES AND TARGET 
FUNDING LEVELS 
5.1 Given the statutory position of the LGPS administering 

authorities and the tax-backed nature of employing 

authorities who make up the core of the Scheme and 

the statutory basis of the Scheme, the LGPS remains 

outside the solvency arrangements established for 

private sector occupational pension schemes. 

5.2 LGPS regulations require each administering authority 

to secure fund solvency and long-term cost efficiency 

by means of employer contribution rates established 

by mandatory valuation exercises. 

5.3 Maintaining as nearly a constant a primary employer 

contribution rate is a desirable outcome, but not a 

regulatory requirement.  It is for LGPS administering 

authorities to seek to achieve a balance between the 

objectives in a prudent manner.  

5.4 Solvency is defined as meaning that the rate of 

employer contributions should be set at such a level 

as to ensure that the scheme’s liabilities can be met as 

they arise. This does not mean that the Fund should 

be 100% funded at all times, but that the rate of 

employer contributions should be set to target a 

funding level for the whole fund of 100% over an 

appropriate time period and using an appropriate set 

of actuarial assumptions.  

Funding Strategy Statement (continued) 

P
age 168



 

 

0
9

8
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

5.5 Employers should collectively have the financial 

capacity to increase employer contributions and/or 

the Fund should be able to realise contingent assets if 

future circumstances require, in order to continue to 

target a funding level of 100%. If these conditions are 

met, it is anticipated that the Fund will be able to pay 

scheme benefits as they fall due.  

5.6 The rate of employer contributions shall be deemed 

to be set at an appropriate level to ensure long-term 

cost efficiency, if the rate of employer contributions is 

sufficient to make provision for the cost of current 

benefit accrual, with an appropriate adjustment to the 

rate for any surplus or deficit in the Fund. The 

Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) will assess 

whether this condition is met. 

6. PRIMARY RATE OF THE EMPLOYERS’ 
CONTRIBUTION 
6.1 The primary rate for each employer is that employer’s 

future service contribution rate which is the 

contribution rate required to meet the cost of the 

future accrual of benefits, expressed as a percentage 

of pensionable pay, ignoring any past service surplus 

or deficit, but allowing for any specific employer 

circumstances. 

6.2 The primary rate for the whole Fund is the weighted 

average, by payroll, of the individual employers’ 

primary rates. 

6.3 The secondary rate of the employer’s contribution is 

an adjustment to the primary rate to arrive at the rate 

each employer is required to pay.  It may be expressed 

either as a percentage adjustment to the primary rate 

and/or as a cash adjustment for each of the three 

years of the inter-valuation period.  This will be set out 

in the rates and adjustments certificate.  For any 

employer, the rate they are actually required to pay is 

the sum of the primary and secondary rates. 

6.4  The actuary should disclose the secondary rates 

for the whole scheme in each of the three inter-

valuation years.  These should be calculated as a 

weighted average based on the whole scheme payroll.  

The purpose of this is to facilitate a single net rate of 

contributions expected to be received over each of 

the three years that can be readily compared with 

other rates and reconciled with actual receipts. 

7 SOLVENCY ISSUES AND NON LOCAL 
AUTHORITY EMPLOYERS 
7.1 The number and type of non-local government bodies 

operating within the LGPS has grown considerably 

since 2004, when Funding Strategy Statements were 

first introduced.  There are now many more private 

sector contractors, companies spun off from local 

authorities and academies which have employees who 

continue to qualify for membership by dint of 

transferred rights under the TUPE regulations.  

Employees in academies qualify for the scheme 

because of academies’ scheduled body status. Key 

issues are: 

• The need to set appropriate employer contribution 

levels and deficit recovery periods for these 

employers which do not have tax-raising powers 

and therefore have weaker covenants than local 

authorities; 

• The underlying investment strategy of the assets 

backing the liabilities of these employers; 

• The financial standing of those employers (or their 

parent companies or guarantors) and their ability 

to meet the cost of current membership, fund any 

deficit and ability to ensure against default; 

• The long and short term effects of high 

contribution rates on non-local authority 

employers in terms of their financial viability. 

7.2 In the interests of transparency, the FSS should clearly 

set out the risk assessment methodology to assess the 

long term financial health of employers and how this 

will be monitored. This is undertaken by: 

• Having the correct Risk Assessments made when 

new Admitted and Scheduled bodies join the fund 

and security via a bond is requested; 

• Admitted and Scheduled bodies being consulted 

on Triennial revaluation rates; and 

• Pension contributions being monitored “in year” to 

ensure Admitted and Scheduled bodies are making 

the required payments. 

8. VALUATION ASSUMPTIONS AND 
FUNDING MODEL 
8.1 In completing the actuarial valuation it is necessary to 

formulate assumptions about the factors affecting the 

Fund's future finances such as inflation, pay increases, 

investment returns, rates of mortality, early 

retirement and staff turnover etc. 

 

Funding Strategy Statement (continued) 

P
age 169



 

 

0
9

9
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

8.2 The assumptions adopted at the valuation can 

therefore be considered as: 

• The statistical assumptions which are essentially 

estimates of the likelihood of benefits and 

contributions being paid; and 

• The financial assumptions which will determine 

the estimates of the amount of benefits and 

contributions payable and their current or present 

value. 

Future Price Inflation 

8.3 The base assumption in any valuation is the future 

level of price inflation over a period commensurate 

with the duration of the liabilities.  This is derived by 

considering the average difference in yields over the 

appropriate period from conventional and index 

linked gilts during the six months straddling the 

valuation date to provide an estimate of future price 

inflation as measured by the Retail Price Index (or 

“RPI”). 

Future Pay Inflation 

8.4 As some of the benefits are linked to pay levels at 

retirement, it is necessary to make an assumption as 

to future levels of pay inflation.  Historically, there has 

been a close link between price and pay inflation with 

pay increases exceeding price inflation in the longer 

term. However, in recent years, this model has broken 

down due to pay freezes in the public sector and 

continuing restraint to restrict salary growth across 

many sectors. 

Future Pension Increases 

8.5 Pension increases are linked to changes in the level of 

the Consumer Price Index (or “CPI”). Inflation as 

measured by the CPI has historically been less than 

RPI due mainly to different calculation methods.  An 

adjustment is therefore made to the RPI assumption 

to derive the CPI assumption. 

Future Investment Returns/Discount Rate 

8.6 To determine the value of accrued liabilities and 

derive future contribution requirements it is necessary 

to discount future payments to and from the Fund to 

present day values. 

8.7 The discount rate that is adopted will depend on the 

funding target adopted for each employer. 

8.8 For open employers, the discount rate that is applied 

to all projected liabilities reflects a prudent estimate 

of the rate of investment return that is expected to be 

earned from the underlying investment strategy by 

considering average market yields in the six months 

straddling the valuation date.  The discount rate so 

determined may be referred to as the “on-going” 

discount rate. 

8.9 For closed employers, an adjustment may be made to 

the discount rate in relation to the remaining 

liabilities, once all active members are assumed to 

have retired if at that time (the projected “termination 

date”), the employer either wishes to leave the Fund, 

or the terms of their admission require it. 

8.10The Fund Actuary will incorporate such an 

adjustment after consultation with the Administering 

Authority. 

8.11The adjustment to the discount rate for closed 

employers is to set a higher funding target at the 

projected termination date, so that there are 

sufficient assets to fund the remaining liabilities on a 

“minimum risk” rather than on an on-going basis.  The 

aim is to minimise the risk of deficits arising after the 

termination date. 

Asset Valuation 

8.12For the purposes of the valuation, the asset value 

used is the market value of the accumulated Fund at 

the valuation date adjusted to reflect average market 

conditions during the six months straddling the 

valuation date. 

Statistical Assumptions 

8.13The statistical assumptions incorporated into the 

valuation, such as future mortality rates, are based on 

national statistics. These are adjusted as appropriate 

to reflect the individual circumstances of the Fund 

and/or individual employers. 

 

 

 

 

 

Funding Strategy Statement (continued) 

P
age 170



 

 

1
0

0
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

9. DEFICIT RECOVERY/SURPLUS 
AMORTISATION PERIODS 

9.1 Whilst one of the funding objectives is to build up 

sufficient assets to meet the cost of benefits as they 

accrue, it is recognised that at any particular point in 

time, the value of the accumulated assets will be 

different to the value of accrued liabilities, depending 

on how the actual experience of the Fund differs to 

the actuarial assumptions.  Accordingly, the Fund will 

normally either be in surplus or in deficit. 

9.2 Where the actuarial valuation discloses a significant 

surplus or deficit then the levels of required 

employers’ contributions will include an adjustment to 

either amortise the surplus or fund the deficit over a 

period of years. 

9.3 The period that is adopted for any particular employer 

will depend on:  

• The significance of the surplus or deficit relative to 

that employer’s liabilities; 

• The covenant of the individual employer and any 

limited period of participation in the Fund; and 

• The implications in terms of stability of future 

levels of employers’ contribution. 

10. POOLING OF INDIVIDUAL 
EMPLOYERS 

10.1 The policy of the Fund is that each individual 

employer should be responsible for the costs of 

providing pensions for its own employees who 

participate in the Fund.  Accordingly, contribution 

rates are set for individual employers to reflect their 

own particular circumstances.  

10.2 However, certain groups of individual employers 

are pooled for the purposes of determining 

contribution rates to recognise common 

characteristics or where the number of Scheme 

members is small.  This is the reason for pooling 

academies within the Fund.  

10.3 The main purpose of pooling is to produce more 

stable employer contribution levels in the longer term 

whilst, recognising that ultimately there will be some 

level of cross-subsidy of pension cost amongst pooled 

employers. 

11. CESSATION VALUATIONS 

11.1 On the cessation of an employer’s participation 

in the Scheme, the Fund Actuary will be asked to make 

a termination assessment.  Any deficit in the Fund in 

respect of the employer will be due to the Fund as a 

termination contribution, unless it is agreed by the 

Administering Authority and the other parties involved 

that the assets and liabilities relating to the employer 

will transfer within the Fund to another participating 

employer. 

11.2 In assessing the deficit on termination, the Fund 

Actuary may adopt a discount rate based on gilt yields 

and adopt different assumptions to those used at the 

previous valuation in order to protect the other 

employers in the Fund from having to fund any future 

deficits which may arise from the liabilities that will 

remain in the Fund. 

 

12. Links with the Investment Strategy Statement 

(ISS) 

12.1 The main link between the Funding Strategy 

Statement (FSS) and the ISS relates to the discount 

rate that underlies the funding strategy as set out in 

the FSS, and the expected rate of investment return 

which is expected to be achieved by the underlying 

investment strategy as set out in the ISS. 

12.2 As explained above, the on-going discount rate 

that is adopted in the actuarial valuation is derived by 

considering the expected return from the underlying 

investment strategy.  This ensures consistency 

between the funding strategy and investment 

strategy. 

13. RISKS AND COUNTERMEASURES 

13.1 Whilst the funding strategy attempts to satisfy 

the funding objectives of ensuring sufficient assets to 

meet pension liabilities and stable levels of employer 

contributions, it is recognised that there are risks that 

may impact on the funding strategy and hence the 

ability of the strategy to meet the funding objectives. 

13.2 The major risks to the funding strategy are 

financial, although there are other external factors 

including demographic risks, regulatory risks and 

governance risks. 

  

Funding Strategy Statement (continued) 

P
age 171



 

 

1
0

1
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

14. FINANCIAL RISKS 

14.1 The main financial risk is that the actual 

investment strategy fails to produce the expected rate 

of investment return (in real terms) that underlies the 

funding strategy.  This could be due to a number of 

factors, including market returns being less than 

expected and/or the fund managers who are 

employed to implement the chosen investment 

strategy failing to achieve their performance targets.   

14.2 The valuation results are most sensitive to the 

real discount rate.  Broadly speaking an 

increase/decrease of 0.5% per annum in the real 

discount rate will decrease/increase the liabilities by 

10%, and decrease/increase the required employer 

contribution by around 2.5% of payroll. 

14.3 However, the Pensions Sub-committee regularly 

monitors the investment returns achieved by the fund 

managers and receives advice from the independent 

advisers and officers on investment strategy.  

14.4 The Pensions Sub-committee may also seek 

advice from the Fund Actuary on valuation related 

matters.   

14.5 In addition, the Fund Actuary provides funding 

updates between valuations to check whether the 

funding strategy continues to meet the funding 

objectives. 

15. DEMOGRAPHIC RISKS 

15.1 Allowance is made in the funding strategy via the 

actuarial assumptions for a continuing improvement 

in life expectancy.  However, the main demographic 

risk to the funding strategy is that it might 

underestimate the continuing improvement in 

longevity.  For example, an increase of one year to life 

expectancy of all members in the Fund will reduce the 

funding level by between 0.5 to 1%. 

15.2 The actual mortality of pensioners in the Fund is 

monitored by the Fund Actuary at each actuarial 

valuation and assumptions are kept under review. 

15.3 The liabilities of the Fund can also increase by 

more than has been planned as a result of early 

retirements. 

15.4 However, the Administering Authority monitors 

the incidence of early retirements; and procedures are 

in place that require individual employers to pay 

additional amounts into the Fund to meet any 

additional costs arising from early retirements. 

16. REGULATORY RISKS 

16.1 The benefits provided by the Scheme and 

employee contribution levels are set out in 

Regulations determined by central government.  The 

tax status of the invested assets is also determined by 

central government.   

16.2 The funding strategy is therefore exposed to the 

risks of changes in the Regulations governing the 

Scheme and changes to the tax regime which may 

affect the cost to individual employers participating in 

the Scheme. 

16.3 However, the Administering Authority 

participates in any consultation process of any 

proposed changes in Regulations and seeks advice 

from the Fund Actuary on the financial implications of 

any proposed changes. 

17. GOVERNANCE 

17.1 Many different employers participate in the 

Fund.  Accordingly, it is recognised that a number of 

employer-specific events could impact on the funding 

strategy including: 

• Structural changes in an individual employer’s 

membership; 

• An individual employer deciding to close the 

Scheme to new employees; and 

• An employer ceasing to exist without having fully 

funded their pension liabilities. 

17.2 However, the Administering Authority monitors 

the position of employers participating in the Fund, 

particularly those which may be susceptible to the 

events outlined, and takes advice from the Fund 

Actuary when required. 

17.3 In addition, the Administering Authority keeps in 

close touch with all individual employers participating 

in the Fund to ensure that, as Administering Authority, 

it has the most up to date information available on 

individual employer situations.  It also keeps individual 

employers briefed on funding and related issues. 

  

Funding Strategy Statement (continued) 

P
age 172



 

 

1
0

2
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

18. MONITORING AND REVIEW 

18.1 This FSS is reviewed formally, in consultation 

with the key parties, at least every three years to tie in 

with the triennial actuarial valuation process. 

18.2 The Administering Authority also monitors the 

financial position of the Fund between actuarial 

valuations and may review the FSS more frequently if 

necessary. 

  

Funding Strategy Statement (continued) 

P
age 173



 

 

1
0

3
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & 
FULHAM PENSION FUND INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY STATEMENT 2017/18 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This is the first Investment Strategy Statement 

(ISS) adopted by the London Borough of Hammersmith & 

Fulham  Pension Fund (“the Fund”). 

Under The Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 

the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham Pension 

Fund is required to publish this ISS. It replaces the 

Statement of Investment Principles which was previously 

required under Schedule 1 of The Local Government 

Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 

Regulations 2009. 

The Regulations require administering authorities to 

outline how they meet each of 6 objectives aimed at 

improving the investment and governance of the Fund. 

1.2 This Statement addresses each of the objectives 

included in the 2016 Regulations: 

• A requirement to invest fund money in a wide 

range of instruments 

• The authority’s assessment of the suitability of 

particular investments and types of investment 

• The authority’s approach to risk, including the 

ways in which risks are to be measured and managed 

• The authority’s approach to pooling investments, 

including the use of collective investment vehicles 

• The  authority’s  policy  on  how  social,  

environmental  or  corporate governance considerations  

 

are taken into account in the selection, non-selection, 

retention and realisation of investments 

We deal with each of these in turn below. 

1.3 The Pension Sub-Committee of the Fund 

oversees the management of the Fund’s assets. Although 

not trustees, the Members of the Pension Sub- 

Committee owe a fiduciary duty similar to that of trustees 

to the council-tax payers, who would ultimately have to 

meet any shortfall in the assets of the Fund, as well as to 

the contributors and beneficiaries of the Fund. 

 

1.4 The relevant terms of reference for the Pension 

Sub-Committee within the Council’s Constitution are: 

• To make all decisions under Regulations made 

pursuant to Sections 7, 12 or 24 of the Superannuation 

Act not otherwise falling to the Director of Finance to 

determine as set out in the officers’ scheme of 

delegation. 

• Consideration and approval of the authority 

statement of accounts in accordance with the relevant 

Accounts & Audit Regulations made from time to time. 

• The Committee shall be a member of the Local 

Authority Pension Fund Forum. 

 The role of the Pensions Sub-Committee is to have 

responsibility for all aspects of the investment and other 

management activity of the Fund: 

• To agree the investment strategy and strategic 

asset allocation having regard to the advice of the fund 

managers and the Investment Consultant. 

• To monitor performance of the Pension Fund, 

individual fund managers, custodians, actuary and other 

external advisors to ensure that they remain suitable; 

• To determine the Fund management 

arrangements, including the appointment and 

termination of the appointment of the Fund Managers, 

Actuary, Custodians and Fund Advisers. 

• To agree the ISS, the Funding Strategy 

Statement, the Business Plan for the Fund, the 

Governance Policy Statement, the Communications 

Policy Statement and the Governance Compliance 

Statement and to ensure compliance with these. 

• To approve the final statement of accounts of 

the Fund and to approve the Annual Report. 

• To receive actuarial valuations of the Fund 

regarding the level of employers’ contributions necessary 

to balance the Fund. 

• To oversee and approve any changes to the 

administrative arrangements, material contracts and 

policies and procedures of the Council for the payment of 

pensions, and allowances to beneficiaries. 

• To make and review an admission policy relating 

to admission agreements generally with any admission 

body. 

• To ensure compliance with all relevant statutes, 

regulations and best practice with both the public and 

private sectors. 

• To review the arrangements and managers for 

the provision of Additional Voluntary Contributions for 

fund members. 

• To receive and consider the Auditor’s report on 

the governance of the Fund. 

• To determine any other investment or pension 

fund policies that may be required from time to time so 

as to comply with Government regulations and to make 

any decisions in accordance with those policies. 

P
age 174



 

 

1
0

4
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

The Pension Sub-Committee has responsibility for: 

• Determining an overall investment strategy and 

strategic asset allocation, with regard to diversification 

and the suitability of asset classes 

• Appointing the investment managers, an 

independent custodian, the actuary, the investment 

advisor(s) and any other external consultants considered 

necessary 

• Reviewing on a regular basis the investment 

managers’ performance against benchmarks, portfolio 

risk and satisfying themselves as to the managers’ 

expertise and the quality of their internal systems and 

controls 

• Monitoring compliance with the ISS & Funding 

Strategy Statement (FSS) and reviewing its contents 

• Reviewing policy on social, environmental and 

ethical considerations, and on the exercise of voting rights 

The Director of Finance and the appointed consultants 

and actuaries support the Committee. The day-to-day 

management of the Fund’s assets is delegated to 

investment managers. 

1.5 This ISS will be reviewed at least once a year, or 

more frequently as required - in particular following 

valuations, future asset/liability studies and performance 

reviews, which may indicate a need to change investment 

policy, or significant changes to the FSS. 

1.6 Under the previous Regulations the Statement of 

Investment Principles required administering authorities 

to state how they complied with the revised six 

investment principles as outlined within the CIPFA 

Pensions Panel Principles. Although not formally required 

under the 2016 Regulations this information is given in 

Appendix A. 

 

2. OBJECTIVE 7.2 (A): A REQUIREMENT TO 
INVEST FUND MONEY IN A WIDE RANGE 
OF INSTRUMENTS 

2.1 Funding and investment risk is discussed in more 

detail later in this ISS. However, at this stage it is 

important to state that the Committee is aware of the 

risks it runs within the Fund and the consequences of 

these risks. 

2.2 In order to control risk the Pension Sub-

Committee recognises that the Fund should have an 

investment strategy that has: 

• Exposure to a diverse range of sources of return, 

such as market, manager skill and through the use of less 

liquid holdings. 

• Diversity in the asset classes used. 

• Diversity  in  the  approaches  to  the  

management  of  the  underlying assets. 

A consequence of this approach is that the Fund’s assets 

are invested in a wide range of instruments. 

2.3 This approach to diversification has seen the 

Fund dividing its assets across 7 broad categories; UK 

equities, Global equities, Secure Income, Dynamic Asset 

Allocation, Absolute Return Bonds, Inflation Opportunities 

and Long Lease Property. The table in Section 5 (on page 

8) below shows current asset allocation. The size of assets 

invested in each category will vary depending on 

investment conditions. However, it is important to note 

that each category is itself diversified. 

2.4 The main risk the Pension Sub-Committee is 

concerned with is to ensure the long-term ability of the 

fund to meet pension and other benefit obligations, as 

they fall due, is met. As a result the Pension Sub-

Committee place a high degree of importance on 

ensuring the expected return on the assets is sufficient to 

do so, and does not have to rely on a level of risk which 

the Pension Sub- Committee considers excessive. 

The Fund currently has a surplus of income over 

expenditure when taking into account investment 

income. The Pensions Sub-Committee keeps the liquidity 

within the Fund monitored through regular reporting of 

cash flows. 

 At all times the Pension Sub-Committee takes the view 

that their investment decisions, including those involving 

diversification, in the best long term interest of Fund 

beneficiaries. 

2.5 To mitigate these risks the Pension Sub-

Committee regularly reviews both the performance and 

expected returns from the Fund’s investments to 

measure whether it has met, and is likely to meet in 

future, its return objective.  In addition to keeping their 

investment strategy and policy under regular review the 

Pension Sub-Committee will keep this ISS under review to 

ensure that it reflects the approaches being taken. 

3. OBJECTIVE 7.2(B): THE AUTHORITY’S 
ASSESSMENT OF THE SUITABILITY OF 
PARTICULAR INVESTMENTS AND TYPES OF 
INVESTMENT 

3.1 When assessing the suitability of investments the 

Fund takes into account a number of factors: 

• Prospective return 

• Risk 

• Concentration 

• Risk management qualities the asset has, when 

the portfolio as a whole is considered 

• Geographic and currency exposures 

P
age 175



 

 

1
0

5
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

• Whether the management of the asset meets 

the Fund’s ESG criteria. 

3.2 Suitability is a critical test for whether or not a 

particular investment should be made. 

3.3 Each of the Fund’s investments has an individual 

performance benchmark which their reported 

performance is measured against. 

3.3 The Pension Sub-Committee monitors the 

suitability of the Fund’s assets on a quarterly basis.  To 

that end, they monitor the investment returns and the 

volatility of the individual investments together with the 

Fund level returns and risk.  This latter point being to 

ensure the risks caused by interactions between 

investments within the portfolio is properly understood. 

Where comparative statistics are available the Pension 

Sub-Committee will also compare the Fund asset 

performance with those of similar funds. 

3.4 The Pension Sub-Committee relies on external 

advice in relation to the collation of the statistics for 

review. 

4. OBJECTIVE 7.2(C): THE AUTHORITY’S 
APPROACH TO RISK, INCLUDING WAYS IN 
WHICH RISKS ARE TO BE MEASURED AND 
MANAGED 

4.1 The Pension Sub-Committee recognises that 

there are a number of risks involved in the investment of 

the assets of the Fund amongst which are the following: 

4.2 Geopolitical and currency risks: 

• are measured by the value of assets (the 

concentration risk), in any one market leading to the risk 

of an adverse influence on investment values arising from 

political intervention; and 

  

• are managed by regular reviews of the actual 

investments relative to policy and through regular 

assessment of the levels of diversification within the 

existing policy. 

4.3 Manager risk: 

• is measured by the expected deviation of the 

prospective risk and return as set out in the manager(s) 

investment objectives, relative to the investment policy; 

and 

• is managed by monitoring the actual deviation of 

returns relative to the objective and factors inherent in 

the manager(s) investment process. 

4.4 Solvency and mismatching risk: 

• are measured through a qualitative and 

quantitative assessment of the expected development of 

the liabilities relative to the current and alternative 

investment policies; and 

• are managed by assessing the progress of the 

actual growth of the liabilities relative to the selected 

investment policy. 

4.5 Liquidity risk: 

• is measured by the level of cash flow required 

over a specified period; and 

• managed by assessing the level of cash held in 

order to limit the impact of the cash flow requirements 

on the investment cash policy 

4.6 Custodial risk: 

• is measured by assessing the creditworthiness of 

the global custodian and the ability of the organisation to 

settle trades on time and provide secure safekeeping of 

the assets under custody. 

 

4.7 Employer contributions are based upon financial 

and demographic assumptions determined by the 

actuary. The main risks to the Fund are highlighted within 

sections 12 to 15 of the Funding Strategy Statement. The 

risks to the Fund are controlled in the following ways: 

• The adoption and monitoring of asset allocation 

benchmarks, ranges and performance targets constrain 

the investment managers from deviating significantly 

from the intended approach while permitting the 

flexibility for managers to enhance returns 

• The appointment of more than one manager 

with different mandates and approaches    provides    for    

the    diversification    of    manager    risk 

4.8 The investment management agreements 

constrain the manager’s actions in areas of particular risk 

and set out the respective responsibilities of both the 

manager and the Fund. 

 4.9 The Fund and the Pension Sub-Committee are 

aware investment risk is only one aspect of the risks 

facing the Fund. The other key risk they are aware of is 

the ability of the Fund to ascertain the required future 

contributions, support the investment risk (i.e. the level of 

volatility of investment returns) and underwrite actuarial 

risk, namely the volatility in the actuarial funding position 

and the impact this has on contributions. 

4.10 The Fund and the Pension Sub-Committee are of 

the view that  the diversification of the Fund assets is 

sufficiently broad to ensure the investment risk is low and 

will continue to be low. When putting in place the 

investment strategy the Pension Sub-Committee carefully 

considered both the individual asset risk characteristics 

and those of the combined portfolio to ensure the risks 

were appropriate. 

 

P
age 176



 

 

1
0

6
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

Estimating the likely volatility of future investment returns 

is difficult as it relies on both estimates of individual asset 

class returns and also the correlation between them. 

These can be based on historic asset class information for 

some of the listed asset classes the Fund uses. However, 

for other private market and less liquid assets it is much 

more difficult. 

The Pension Sub-Committee is also mindful that 

correlations change over time and at times of stress can 

be significantly different from they are in more benign 

market conditions. 

To help manage risk the Pension Sub-Committee uses an 

external investment adviser to monitor the risk. In 

addition when carrying out their investment strategy 

review the Pension Sub-Committee also had different 

investment advisers asses the level of risk involved. 

4.11 The Fund targets a return of 5.9% as aligned with 

the latest triennial valuation from the actuary. The 

investment strategy is considered to have a low degree of 

volatility. 

4.12 When reviewing the investment strategy on a 

quarterly basis the Pension Sub- Committee considers 

advice from their advisers and the need to take additional 

steps to protect the value of the assets that may arise or 

capitalise on opportunities if they are deemed suitable. 

4.13 At each review of the Investment Strategy 

Statement the assumptions on risk and return and their 

impact on asset allocation will be reviewed. 

5. OBJECTIVE 7.2(D):  THE AUTHORITY’S 
APPROACH TO POOLING INVESTMENTS, 
INCLUDING THE USE OF COLLECTIVE 
INVESTMENT VEHICLES. 

5.1 The Fund recognises the Government’s 

requirement for LGPS funds to pool their investments and 

is committed to pursuing a pooling solution that ensures 

maximum cost effectiveness for the Fund, both in terms 

of return and management cost. 

 5.2 The Fund has formally agreed to join the London 

Collective Investment Vehicle (CIV) as part of the 

Government’s pooling agenda. The London CIV has been 

operational for some time and is in the process of 

opening a range of sub-funds covering liquid asset classes, 

with less liquid asset classes to follow. 

5.3 The Fund has already transitioned assets into the 

London CIV with a value of 

£101.6m or 10.3% of the assets and will look to transition 

further liquid assets as and when there are suitable 

investment strategies available on the platform that meet 

the needs of the Fund. 

5.4 The Fund will transition liquid assets into the 

London CIV when there are suitable investment strategies 

that meet the asset allocation and investment strategy 

available on the London CIV platform. The Fund 

anticipates being able to transition some of the liquid 

assets across in advance of April 2018. 

5.5 The Fund is monitoring developments and the 

opening of investment strategy fund openings on the 

London CIV platform with a view to transitioning liquid 

assets across to the London CIV as soon as there are 

suitable sub-funds to meet the Fund’s investment 

strategy requirements. 

5.6 The Fund holds £278.6m or 28.4% of its assets in 

life funds and intends to retain these outside of the 

London CIV in accordance with government guidance on 

the retention of life funds outside pools for the time 

being. The Fund agrees for the London CIV to monitor the 

passive funds as part of the broader pool. 

 

5.7 The Fund holds £71.6m or 7.3% of the Fund held 

in illiquid assets and these will remain outside of the 

London CIV pool. The cost of exiting these strategies  

early would have a negative financial impact on the Fund. 

These will be held as legacy assets until such time as they 

mature and proceeds re-invest through the pool 

assuming it has appropriate strategies available or until 

the Fund changes asset allocation and makes a decision to 

disinvest. 

5.8 The Fund and the Pension Sub-Committee are 

aware that certain of the assets held within the Fund have 

limited liquidity and moving them would come at a cost. 

Whilst it is the expectation to make use of the London CIV 

for the management of the majority of the Fund assets in 

the longer term, the Pension Sub-Committee recognises 

that transitioning from the current structure to the 

London CIV will be a protracted exercise spread over a 

number of years to ensure unnecessary costs are not 

incurred. 

  

P
age 177



 

 

1
0

7
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

London Borough 

of Hammersmith 

& 
Fulham Pension 
Fund 

Value as at 31 

Dec 
2016 (£m) 

Available on CIV Transferred 
(£m) 

UK Equities    

Majedie 221.0 Due April 2017  

Overseas Equities    

L&G World 
Equity 

278.6 Not yet – see 
5.6 above 

 

Secure Income    

Oak Hill Advisers 69.2 Not yet  

Partners Group 
Multi Asset 
Credit 

53.5 n/a – illiquid  

Infrastructure    

Partners Group 
Infrastructure 

8.3 n/a – illiquid  

Dynamic Asset 
Allocation 

   

Ruffer 101.6 Yes 101.6 

Absolute Return 
Bonds 

   

Insight Bonds 88.9 Not yet  

Inflation 
Opportunities 

   

M&G Inflation 
Opportunities 
Fund 

91.6 Not yet  

Long Lease 
Property 

   

Standard Life 45.8 Not yet  

Private Equity    

Invesco 6.2 n/a – illiquid  

Unigestion 3.6 n/a – illiquid  

Cash and 

liquidity funds 
L&G Liquidity 
Fund 

 

 

13.8 

 

 

n/a – illiquid 

 

Total 982.1  101.6 

5.9 At each review of the investment strategy, which 

will happen at least every three years, the investment of 

the above assets will be actively considered by the Fund, 

including in particular  whether  a  collective  investment  

option  is appropriate. 

5.10 More information on the London CIV and its 

operation is included in Appendix D of this statement. 

6. OBJECTIVE 7.2(E):  HOW SOCIAL, 
ENVIRONMENTAL OR CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS ARE 
TAKEN INTO ACCOUNT IN THE SELECTION, 
NON-SELECTION, RETENTION AND 
REALISATION OF INVESTMENTS 

6.1 The Fund recognises that the neglect of 

corporate governance and corporate social responsibility 

may lead to poor or reduced shareholder returns. The 

Pensions Sub-Committee has considered how the Fund 

may best implement a corporate social responsibility 

policy, given the current resources available to the Fund. 

Accordingly, the Pensions Sub-Committee has delegated 

social, environmental and ethical policy to the investment 

managers, but also approved a Governance Strategy. The 

Pensions Sub-Committee believes this is the most 

efficient approach whilst ensuring the implementation of 

policy by each manager is consistent with current best 

practice and there is appropriate disclosure and reporting 

of actions taken. To that extent, the Pensions Sub-

Committee maintains a policy of non-interference with 

the day-to-day decision making of the investment 

managers 

6.2 As a responsible investor the Fund wishes to 
promote corporate social responsibility, good 
practice and improved performance amongst all 
companies in which it invests. Whilst there has been 
a great deal of emphasis on the relationship of 

business, financial and economic factors to 
investment performance, the impact on returns of 
less tangible non-financial and reputational factors is 
more difficult to identify. Nevertheless, it is clear 
that adverse publicity relating to low corporate, 
environmental or social standards can have an 
adverse impact on shareholder value, the Fund, its 

beneficiaries and local taxpayers. By having a good public 

image, the morale of the workforce will be higher, thus 

making it easier to attract and retain quality employees. 

The Fund considers that the pursuit of high corporate 

social responsibility standards by Companies will lead to 

higher returns in the long term. A good public image may 

help to increase sales volumes. An improved financial 

standing will improve credit ratings, thus allowing a 

company to attract lower cost funding. By addressing 

outside factors, the company is able to demonstrate an 

above average standard of management competence 

which will improve the long term potential and 

sustainability of the organisation. At the very least the 

Fund expects the Companies in which it invests to comply 

with all applicable laws and regulations in home markets 

and to conform to local best practice when operating 

overseas. 

6.3 In furtherance of this stance, the Fund will 

support standards of best practice by Companies in both 

the disclosure and management of corporate social 

responsibility issues consistent with the Fund’s fiduciary 

responsibilities. To this end the Fund will pursue a policy 

of active shareholder engagement with companies using 

its own efforts, those of its Fund managers and alliances 

with other investors. The Fund is a member of the Local 

Authority Pension Fund Forum. 

6.4 The Fund will consider excluding certain types of 

investment from its actively managed portfolios, following 

appropriate advice on the implications for performance 

and diversification. Fund managers are instructed not to 

P
age 178



 

 

1
0

8
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

invest segregated elements of their portfolio in 

companies that generate over half of their income from 

tobacco products on investment prospects grounds. Fund 

managers are required to have policies regarding 

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) issues and to 

monitor their compliance with those policies. 

6.5 The Fund is committed to being a long term 

steward of the assets in which it invests and expects this 

approach to protect and enhance the value of the Fund in 

the long term. In making investment decisions, the Fund 

seeks and receives proper advice from internal and 

external advisers with the requisite knowledge and skills. 

In addition the Pension Sub-Committee undertakes 

training on a regular basis and this will include on training 

and information sessions on matters of social, 

environmental and corporate governance. 

6.6 Sections 6.7 to 6.12 below relate to the Fund’s 

holdings in the London CIV. 

6.7 The Fund requires its investment managers to 

integrate all material financial factors, including corporate 

governance, environmental, social, and ethical 

considerations, into the decision-making process for all 

fund investments. It expects its managers to follow good 

practice and use their influence as major institutional 

investors and long-term stewards of capital to promote 

good practice in the investee companies and markets to 

which the Fund is exposed. 

6.8 The Fund expects its external investment 

managers (and specifically the London CIV through which 

the Fund will increasingly invest) to undertake 

appropriate monitoring of current investments with 

regard to their policies and practices on all issues which 

could present a material financial risk to the long-term 

performance of the fund, such as corporate governance 

and environmental factors. The Fund expects its fund 

managers to integrate material ESG factors within its 

investment analysis and decision making. 

6.9 Effective monitoring and identification of these 

issues can enable engagement with boards and 

management of investee companies to seek resolution of 

potential problems at an early stage. Where collaboration 

is likely to be the most effective mechanism for 

encouraging issues to be addressed, the Fund expects its 

investment managers to participate in joint action with 

other institutional investors as permitted by relevant legal 

and regulatory codes. 

6.10 The Fund monitors this activity on an ongoing 

basis with the aim of maximising its impact and 

effectiveness. 

6.11 The Fund will invest on the basis of financial risk 

and return having considered a full range of factors 

contributing to the financial risk including social, 

environment and governance factors to the extent these 

directly or indirectly impact on financial risk and return. 

6.12 The Fund in preparing and reviewing its 

Investment Strategy Statement will consult with 

interested stakeholders including, but not limited to  Fund 

employers, investment managers, Local Pension Board, 

advisers to the Fund and other parties that it deems 

appropriate to consult with. 

7. OBJECTIVE 7.2(F): THE EXERCISE OF 
RIGHTS (INCLUDING VOTING RIGHTS) 
ATTACHING TO INVESTMENTS 

 

7.1 The Fund is committed to making full use of its 

shareholder rights. The Fund’s policy on voting rights is 

based on the Cadbury, Greenbury and Hampel codes, as 

well as the stock exchange combined code, and the 

principles of protecting shareholder rights, minimising risk 

and enhancing value. 

 

7.2 The Fund expects its Fund Managers to vote in 

an appropriate and informed manner and report their 

voting actions in their quarterly investment reports. The 

exercise of shareholder’s rights is delegated to the Fund 

Managers as part of their mandate. Fund Managers will 

vote in accordance with their Corporate Governance 

Policy Statements. These policy statements have been 

developed with the recommendations of Institutional 

Shareholder Service, National Association of Pension 

Funds and the Association of British Insurers. 

7.3 The Pensions Sub-Committee has delegated the 

Fund’s voting rights to its investment managers, who are 

required, where practical, to make considered use of 

voting in the interests of the Fund. The Committee 

expects the investment managers to vote in the best 

interests of the Fund. 

7.4 Sections 7.5 to 7.20 below relate to the Fund’s 

holdings in the London CIV. 

7.5 The investment managers are required to 

regularly report voting actions and highlight where they 

do not vote in accordance with their stated policy. 

7.6 The Fund recognises the importance of its role as 

stewards of capital and the need to ensure the highest 

standards of governance and promoting corporate 

responsibility in the underlying companies in which its 

investments reside. The Fund recognises that ultimately 

this protects the financial interests of the Fund and its 

ultimate beneficiaries. The Fund has a commitment to 

actively exercising the ownership rights attached to its 

investments reflecting the Fund’s conviction that 

responsible asset owners should maintain oversight of the 

companies in which it ultimately invests, recognising that 

the companies’ activities impact upon not only their 

customers and clients, but more widely upon their 

employees and other stakeholders and also wider society. 

 

P
age 179



 

 

1
0

9
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

7.7 The Fund’s investments through the London CIV 

are covered by the voting policy of the CIV which has 

been agreed by the Pensions Sectoral Joint Committee. 

Voting is delegated to the external managers and 

monitored on a quarterly basis. The CIV will arrange for 

managers to vote in accordance with voting alerts issued 

by the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) as far 

as practically possible to do so and will hold managers to 

account where they have not voted in accordance with 

the LAPFF directions. 

7.8 The Fund will incorporate a report of voting 

activity as part of its Pension Fund Annual Report which is 

published on the Council website: 

http://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk 

7.9 The Fund has not issued a separate Statement of 

Compliance with the Stewardship Code, but fully 

endorses the principles embedded in the 7 Principles of 

the Stewardship Code. 

7.10 The Fund expects its external investment 

managers to be signatories of the Stewardship Code and 

reach Tier One level of compliance or to be seeking to 

achieve a Tier One status within a reasonable timeframe. 

Where this is not feasible the Fund expects a detailed 

explanation as to why it will not be able to achieve this 

level. 

7.11 In addition, the Fund expects its investment 

managers to work collaboratively with others if this will 

lead to greater influence and deliver improved outcomes 

for shareholders and more broadly. 

7.12 The Fund through its participation in the London 

CIV will work closely with other LGPS Funds in London to 

enhance the level of engagement both with external 

managers and the underlying companies in which it 

invests 

  

8 FEEDBACK ON THIS STATEMENT 

Any feedback on this investment Strategy Statement is 

welcomed. If you have any comments or wish to discuss 

any issues then please contact: 

Phil Triggs – Tri-Borough Director of Pensions and 

Treasury, ptriggs@westminster.gov.uk  

020 7641 2832 

  

P
age 180

mailto:ptriggs@westminster.gov.uk


 

 

1
1

0
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

Compliance with CIPFA Pensions Panel Principles for 

investment decision making in the local government 

pension scheme in United Kingdom 

 

DECISION MAKING 

Regulation 12(3) of The Local Government Pension 

Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 

Regulations 2009 requires an administering authority to 

report on its compliance with the six Myners’ Principles, 

in accordance with guidance given by the Secretary of 

State. The guidance for the Local Government Pension 

Scheme is set out in the CIPFA publication “Investment 

Decision Making and Disclosure in the Local Government 

Pension Scheme in the United Kingdom 2012”. 

The Fund aims to comply with all of the Myners’ 

Principles, recognising it is in all parties’ interests if the 

Fund operates to standards of investment decision-

making and governance identified as best practice. It is 

also recognised as important to demonstrate how the 

Fund meets such principles and best practice. 

The Secretary of State has previously highlighted the 

principle contained in Roberts 

v. Hapwood whose administering bodies exercise their 

duties and powers under regulations governing the 

investment and management of Funds: 

“A body charged with the administration for definite 

purposes of funds contributed in whole or in part by 

persons other than members of that body owes, in my 

view, a duty to those latter persons to conduct that 

administration in a fairly business-like manner with 

reasonable care, skill and caution, and with a due and 

alert regard to the interest of those contributors who are 

not members of the body. Towards these latter persons 

the body stands somewhat in the position of trustees or 

managers of others”. 

The Myners’ Principles are seen as supporting this 

approach. The principles, together with the Fund’s 

position on compliance, are set out below: 

PRINCIPLE 1 - EFFECTIVE DECISION-
MAKING 

Administrating authorities should ensure that: 

• Decisions are taken by persons or organisations 

with the skills, knowledge, advice and resources 

necessary to make them effectively and monitor their 

implementation; and 

• Those persons or organizations have sufficient 

expertise to be able to evaluate and challenge the advice 

they receive, and manage conflicts of interest. 

Full Compliance 

The Council has delegated the management and 

administration of the Fund to the Pension Sub-

Committee, which meets at least quarterly. The 

responsibilities of the Pension Sub-Committee are 

described in paragraph 1.4 of the ISS. 

The Pension Sub-Committee is made up of elected 

members of the Council who each have voting rights. 

Representatives from the admitted and scheduled bodies 

within the Fund and from trade unions may attend as 

observers. 

The Pension Sub-Committee obtains and considers advice 

from and is supported by the Director of Finance, 

Corporate Finance and as necessary from the Fund’s 

appointed actuary, investment managers and advisors. A 

review of the investment advice received by the Fund was 

completed in 2016/17 to ensure it continues to be fit for 

purpose in the changing investment and legislative 

environment. 

The Pension Sub-Committee has delegated the 

management of the Fund’s investments to professional 

investment managers, appointed in accordance with the 

scheme’s regulations, whose activities are specified in 

detailed investment management agreements and 

regularly monitored. 

Business plans are presented to the Pension Sub-

Committee annually and progress is monitored on a 

quarterly basis. 

Several of the Pension Sub-Committee members have 

extensive experience of dealing with Investment matters 

and training is made available to new Pension Sub- 

Committee members. Pension Sub-Committee Members 

are required to undertake a minimum of three days of 

investment training a year – there is an on-going 

programme of training available to members. 

PRINCIPLE 2 - CLEAR OBJECTIVES 

An overall investment objective(s) should be set for the 

Fund that takes account of the pension liabilities, the 

potential impact on local tax payers, the strength of the 

covenant for non-local authority employers, and the 

attitude to risk of both the administering authority and 

scheme employers, and these should be clearly 

communicated to advisors and investment managers.  

Investment Strategy Statement: Appendix A 

P
age 181



 

 

1
1

1
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

Full Compliance 

he aims and objectives of the Fund are set out within the 

FSS and the ISS. The main Fund objective is to meet the 

cost of pension liabilities and to enable employer 

contribution rates to be kept as nearly constant as 

possible at reasonable cost to the taxpayers and admitted 

bodies. 

The investment strategy has been set with the objective 

of controlling the risk that the assets will not be sufficient 

to meet the liabilities of the Fund while achieving a good 

return on investment (see paragraphs 4 and 5 above). The 

approach taken reflects the Fund’s liabilities and was 

decided upon without reference to any other funds. The 

Fund’s performance is measured against the investment 

objective on a quarterly basis. 

The Fund’s strategy is regularly reviewed. 

PRINCIPLE 3 – RISK AND LIABILITIES 

In setting and reviewing their investment strategy, 

administrating authorities should take account of the 

form and structure of liabilities. These include the 

implications for local tax payers, the strength of the 

covenant for participating employers, the risk of their 

default and longevity risk. 

Full Compliance 

The Pension Sub-Committee has, in conjunction with its 
advisers, agreed an investment strategy that is related to 
the Fund’s liabilities. An actuarial valuation of the Fund 
takes place every three years, with the most recent 
triennial valuation taking place in 2016. The investment 
strategy is designed to give diversification and 
specialisation and achieve optimum return against 
acceptable risk. 
 
The asset allocation of the Fund is set to maximise the 
potential to close the funding deficit over future years. 
The current allocation is outlined in Section 5 of the ISS. 

 
During 2014/15, the Fund established an 
Admitted/Scheduled Body policy, which outlines its 
approach to assessing the strength of the covenant for 
participating employers and the risk assessment 
undertaken when new employers wish to join the Fund. 
 

PRINCIPLE 4 – PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT 

Arrangements should be in place for the formal 
measurement of performance of the investments, 
investment managers and advisors. Administering 
authorities should also periodically make a formal 
assessment of their own effectiveness as a decision-
making body and report on this to scheme members 
 

Full Compliance 

The Pensions Sub-Committee has appointed investment 

managers with clear index strategic benchmarks within an 

overall Investment objective which place maximum 

accountability for performance against that benchmark 

on the manager. 

 
The managers are monitored at quarterly intervals against 
their agreed benchmarks. Independent detailed 
monitoring of the Fund’s performance is carried out by 
Deloitte, the Fund’s investment adviser and by Northern 
Trust, the Fund’s custodian who provide the performance 
figures. Moreover, portfolio risk is measured on quarterly 
basis and the risk/return implications of different strategic 
options are fully evaluated. 
 
The investment adviser is assessed on the 
appropriateness of asset allocation recommendations and 
the quality of advice given. 
 
The actuary is assessed on the quality and consistency of 
the actuarial advice received. Both the advisor and the 
actuary have fixed term contracts which when expired are 

tendered for under the Official Journal of the European 
Union (OJEU) procedures. 
 
The Pension Sub-Committee monitors the investment 
decisions it has taken, including the effectiveness of these 
decisions. In addition the Pension Sub- Committee 
receives quarterly reports as to how the Fund has 
performed against their investment objective. The 
performance figures are included in the extract from the 
accounts which is sent to stakeholders annually. 
 

PRINCIPLE 5 – RESPONSIBLE OWNERSHIP 
Administering authorities should: 
• Adopt, or ensure their investment managers 
adopt, the Institutional Shareholders Committee 
Statement of Principles on the responsibilities of 
shareholders and agents. 
  
• Include  a  statement  of  their  policy  on  
responsible  ownership  in  the statement of investment 
principles. 
• Report  periodically  to  scheme  members  on  
the  discharge  of  such responsibilities. 
 

Full Compliance 

The Fund is committed to making full use of its 

shareholder rights. The approach used is outlined in 

Section 7 of the ISS. Authority has been delegated to the 

investment managers to exercise voting rights on behalf 

of the Fund. The investment managers are required to 

report how they have voted in their quarterly reports. 

The Fund believes in using its influence as a shareholder 
to promote corporate social responsibility and high 
standards of corporate governance in the companies in 
which it invests – the Fund’s approach to this is outlined 
in Section 7 of the ISS. 
 
The ISS is publically available to all scheme members. 
 

P
age 182



 

 

1
1

2
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

PRINCIPLE 6 – TRANSPARENCY AND 
REPORTING 
Administering authorities should: 
• Act in a transparent manner, communicating 
with stakeholders on issues relating to their management 
of investments, its governance and risks, including 
performance against stated objectives. 
• Provide regular communications to scheme 
members in the form they consider most appropriate. 
 

Full Compliance 

Links to the Governance Compliance Statement, the ISS, 

the FSS, the SRI Policy and the Communications 

Statement are all included in the Pensions Fund Annual 

Report which is published and is accessible to 

stakeholders of the Fund on the Council’s web site, 

internal intranet and a website developed specifically for 

the Fund. 

 

All Pensions Sub-Committee meetings are open to 
members of the public and agendas and minutes are 
published on the Council’s website and internal 
intranet. The Fund’s Annual Report includes an 
assessment of the Fund’s performance and an 
extract from the accounts is sent to stakeholders 
annually. 
  

P
age 183



 

 

1
1

3
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

Risk Register 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 184



 

 

1
1

4
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 185



 

 

1
1

5
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 186



 

 

1
1

6
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 187



 

 

1
1

7
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 188



 

 

1
1

8
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

INFORMATION ON LONDON CIV 

Stewardship Statement is attached – Other London CIV 

details are included in ISS main Statement 

 

London CIV Draft Stewardship code Statement 

The London Collective Investment Vehicle (CIV) was 
formed as a voluntary collaborative venture by the 
London Local Authorities in 2014 to invest the assets 
of London Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). 
The London CIV and its London Local Authority investors 
recognise the importance of being long term stewards of 
capital and in so doing supports the UK Stewardship Code, 
which it recognises as best practice. 

 

The London LGPS CIV Limited (“London CIV”) is fully 
authorised by the FCA as an Alternative Investment 
Fund Manager (AIFM) with permission to operate a 
UK based Authorised Contractual Scheme fund (ACS 
Fund). The London CIV in the management of its 
investments has appointed a number of external 
investment managers. We therefore see our role as 
setting the tone for the effective delivery of stewardship 
managers on our behalf and on behalf of our investing 
Funds. We are clear that we retain responsibility for this 
being done properly and fully in the interests of our 
own shareholders. 

 

This Statement sets out how the London CIV implements 

the seven principles of the Code. 

 

Principle 1 

Institutional investors should publicly disclose their policy 

on how they will discharge their stewardship 

responsibilities. 

The London CIV on behalf of its London Local Authority 

Shareholders recognises its position as an investor on 

their behalf with ultimate responsibility to members and 

beneficiaries and recognises that effective stewardship 

can help protect and enhance the long-term value of its 

investments to the ultimate benefit of all stakeholders in 

the LGPS. 

As we do not invest directly in companies, we hold our 

fund managers accountable for the delivery of 

stewardship on our behalf in terms of day-to-day 

implementation of its stewardship activity. We require 

the appointed fund management teams to be responsible 

for holding to account the management and boards of 

companies in which they invest. The London CIV believes 

that this approach is compatible with its stewardship 

responsibilities as it is the most effective and efficient 

manner in which it can promote and carry out 

stewardship activities in respect of its investments, and 

ensure the widest reach of these activities given the CIV’s 

investment arrangements. 

A key related area where stewardship is integrated into 

the wider process is in the selection and monitoring of 

external investment managers. When considering the 

appointment of external investment managers the 

consideration of Environmental Social and Governance 

(ESG) integration and stewardship activity of each 

investment manager is part of the selection process. 

  

The London CIV expects its equity investment managers 

to adhere to the principles within the UK Stewardship 

Code. This position is communicated to the Fund’s 

investment managers and forms the basis of the 

approach to monitoring the investment managers as 

outlined in this document. Whilst the Stewardship Code is 

primarily directed at UK equity investments, the CIV 

encourages its investment managers to apply the 

principles of the Code to overseas equity holdings where 

possible. 

The primary mechanisms for the application of effective 

stewardship for the CIV are exercise of voting rights and 

engagement with investee companies. The CIV expects its 

external equity investment managers that invest directly 

in companies, to pursue both these mechanisms. We 

receive quarterly reporting from managers which includes 

their stewardship and voting activities where appropriate. 

We seek consistently to ensure that these stewardship 

activities are carried out actively and effectively in the 

furtherance of good long-term investment returns. 

We expect all of the CIV’s equity managers to be 

signatories to the Code and have publicly disclosed their 

policy via their Statements on how they will discharge 

their stewardship responsibilities. We expect managers 

that invest in companies directly to discharge their 

responsibilities by: 

• having extensive dialogue with the company’s 

management throughout the year on a range of topics 

such as governance, financial performance and strategy; 

and 

• voting, either directly or via the services of 

voting agencies. 

Investment Strategy Statement: Appendix C 

P
age 189



 

 

1
1

9
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

Principle 2 

Institutional investors should have a robust policy on 

managing conflicts of interest in relation to stewardship 

which should be publicly disclosed. 

Day-to-day implementation of the Fund’s stewardship 

activity has been delegated to external investment 

managers. The CIV expects its investment managers to 

document their approach to stewardship, which should 

include how they manage any conflicts of interest that 

arise to ensure that the interests of the CIV’s Investors are 

prioritised. The CIV will review annually the conflicts of 

interest policy of its managers and how any conflicts have 

been managed during the year. 

The London CIV has policies in place to manage conflicts 

of interest that may arise for the Board and its officers 

when making decisions on its behalf. The Conflicts of 

Interest policy is reviewed by the CIV board on a regular 

basis. A Conflicts of Interest Register is maintained. 

Shareholders of the CIV attending the Pensions Sectoral 

Joint Committee are required to declare any conflicts of 

interest at the start of any meeting. 

 

Principle 3 

Institutional investors should monitor their investee 

companies. 

We recognise that active and ongoing monitoring of 

companies is the foundation of good stewardship, 

reminding companies in which we invest that they have 

obligations to their shareholders to deliver returns over 

the appropriate long-term investment timeframe and, 

consistent with this, to manage any related 

environmental and social risks responsibly. 

  

The CIV requires its external investment managers to 

monitor investee companies. Issues to be monitored are 

likely to vary, however typically these might include a 

company’s corporate strategy, financial performance, risk 

(including those from environmental and social factors), 

capital structure, leadership team and corporate 

governance. The CIV encourages its investment managers 

to satisfy themselves that investee companies adhere to 

the spirit of the UK Corporate Governance Code. 

The CIV reviews investment managers in this area as part 

of their regular meetings. For equity investment 

managers this includes consideration of: 

• who has overall responsibility for ESG risk 

analysis and integration; 

• resources and experience of the team; 

• at what stages of the process ESG risks are 

considered; 

• exposures to environmental, social or 

governance risk within the portfolio; and 

• the investment manager’s willingness to become 

an insider and, if so, whether the manager has a policy 

setting out the mechanisms through which this is done. 

 

Principle 4 

Institutional investors should establish clear guidelines on 

when and how they will escalate their stewardship 

activities. 

The CIV recognises that constructive engagement with 

company management can help protect and enhance 

shareholder value. Typically, the CIV expects its 

investment managers to intervene with investee 

companies when they view that there are material risks or 

issues that are not currently being adequately addressed. 

The CIV reviews investment managers in this area as part 

of their regular meeting. For equity investment managers 

that invest directly in Companies, this includes 

consideration of: 

 

• whether voting activity has led to any changes in 

company practice; 

• whether  the  investment  manager’s  policy  

specifies  when  and  how  they  will escalate engagement 

activities; 

• overall engagement statistics (volume and areas 

of focus); 

• example of most intensive engagement activity 

discussed as part of the manager’s annual review 

meeting; and 

• the estimated performance impact of 

engagement on the strategy in question. 

Given the range of fund managers and Fund investments, 

the CIV carries out its monitoring at the manager level to 

identify: 

• trends to ensure progress is being made in 

stewardship activities; 

• specific managers where progress or the rate of 

progress is not adequate; and 

• appropriate specific actions necessary. 

 

Principle 5 

Institutional investors should be willing to act collectively 

with other investors where appropriate. 

As day-to-day management of the Fund’s assets has been 

delegated to external investment managers, the CIV 

P
age 190



 

 

1
2

0
  |  A

N
N

U
A

L R
EP

O
R

T 2
01

7
/20

1
8

 •  

expects its investment managers to get involved in 

collective engagement where this is an efficient means to 

protect and enhance long-term shareholder value. 

In addition the London CIV will work collectively with 

other investors including other LGPS Asset pools and the 

Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) to enhance 

the impact of their engagement activities. 

 

Principle 6 

Institutional investors should have a clear policy on voting 

and disclosure of voting activity. 

The CIV has delegated its voting rights to the Fund’s 

investment managers and requires them to vote, except 

where it is impractical to do so. The CIV also monitors the 

voting alerts of the LAPFF and where these are issued, 

requires the investment managers to take account of 

these alerts as far as practical to do so. Where the 

investment manager does not vote in line with the LAPFF 

voting alerts, the CIV will require detailed justification for 

non compliance. 

The CIV reviews and monitors the voting policies and 

activities of its investment managers, this includes 

consideration of: 

• the manager’s voting policy and, what areas are 

covered; 

• the level of voting activity 

• whether the investment manager typically 

informs companies of their rationale when voting against 

or abstaining (and whether this is typically in advance of 

the vote or not); 

• if securities lending takes place within a pooled 

fund for the strategy, whether the stock is recalled for all 

key votes for all stocks held in the portfolio; and 

• whether a third party proxy voting service 

provider is used and, if so, how. 

 

Principle 7 

Institutional investors should report periodically on their 

stewardship and voting activities. 

The London CIV encourages transparency from its 

investment managers and expects its managers to report 

publicly on their voting in an appropriate manner. In 

addition the London CIV receives reviews and monitors 

quarterly the voting and stewardship engagement 

activities of its investment managers. 

The CIV reports quarterly to its investors and will include 

information on voting and engagement activities from 

investment managers where appropriate including 

updates as required on updated stewardship and voting 

policies of managers. The CIV also requires its managers 

to provide it with annual assurances on internal controls 

and compliance through recognised framework such as 

the AAF01/06 or equivalent. 

 

This statement will be reviewed regularly and updated as 

necessary. 

. 

P
age 191



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham Pension Fund 
Tri-Borough Treasury & Pensions 
5th Floor 
5 The Strand 
London  
WC2N 5HR 
 

P
age 192



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
PENSIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 

23 July 2018 
  

ADDITIONAL VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTION PROVIDER (ZURICH) – 
TRANSITION UPDATE 
 

Report of the Director of Corporate Services – Mark Grimley 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Information 
Key Decision: No 
 

Consultation 
Shared Services Treasury and Shared Services Retained Pension Team. 
 

Wards Affected: None 
 

Accountable Director: Mark Grimley, Director of Corporate Services 
 

Report Author: David Coates, 
Consultant, Retained Pensions 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 07962 155364 
E-mail: david.coates@rbkc.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1 This report provides an update of the AVC provider, Zurich Corporate 

Savings, transitioning their existing portfolio of London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham Pension Fund Member assets to a new platform 
by 31 May 2018. 
 

1.2 The transition provides members with a better service by utilising an online 
platform where members can check their benefits and receive up to date 
information. 

 
1.3 The implementation has required key contributions from Human Resources in 

communicating this change to affected members. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. The Pensions Sub-Committee notes the update. 

 

Page 193

Agenda Item 10



3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1. The transition to Zurich’s new platform has already been completed and 
consequently there are no further actions required of officers. 
 

4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  
 

4.1. Under the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, active 
members of the LBHF Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) have 
rights to increase their pension benefits by making Additional Voluntary 
Contributions (AVCs). 
 

4.2. Although AVCs are linked to the LGPS, they are administered separately on 
behalf of LBHF by the Zurich Insurance Group Ltd (Zurich).  The amount of 
the AVC contribution and into which particular policy at Zurich the 
contributions are invested is nominated by the employee.  Deductions are 
made monthly at source from employees’ pay by the payroll provider and the 
funds are sent to Zurich monthly. 
 

4.3. AVC contributions are tax efficient and can only be drawn by the employee 
when they become eligible for their LGPS benefits. 
 

4.4. In February 2018 Zurich notified of their intention to migrate the LBHF AVC 
scheme to the new Zurich Money4Life platform.  All local authorities who have 
an AVC agreement with Zurich are being migrated to the new platform.  There 
are 18 LBHF employees currently contributing to the Zurich AVC scheme. 
 

4.5. The new Zurich Money4Life platform provides LBHF employees with access 
to broader fund ranges and with greater flexibility to change their selected 
policy nominations. 
 

4.6. A joint project plan was agreed with Zurich to launch the platform, it was 
closely monitored to ensure that the employees existing AVC benefits were 
successfully disinvested from the existing portal and reinvested into the Zurich 
Money4Life platform. 
 

4.7. On the limited number of occasions during this process where a policy was 
withdrawn an equivalent policy was agreed between Zurich and the Tri-
Borough Treasury and Pensions team.  Employees were informed of this 
decision and have the ability to change the selection if required.  Employee 
records on the new Zurich Money4Life platform will be updated with the 
transfers amount by the 29 June 2018 with a transfer confirmation letter to 
follow w/c 2 July 2018. 
 

5. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  
 

5.1. The migration of contributor records by Zurich to their new platform was 
mandatory for all local authority employees currently paying into Zurich AVC 
scheme. 
 

Page 194



5.2. A summary of the key actions within the project plan agreed with Zurich are in 
the table below: 
 
Action Target Date 

Project Launch 14/02/2018 

Service Agreement signed and returned 23/02/2018 

Define and agree all requirements 02/03/2018 

Zurich - Employee/member letter issued 13/03/2018 

New scheme 'live' on Zurich system 27/03/2018 

Literature approved 29/03/2018 

Administration, Upload and Payroll process - training 
completed 

29/03/2018 

New infosite live and member literature available online 03/04/2018 

Member blackout starts (no access to DCP) but can still 
request switches via telephone to Zurich customer services 

16/04/2018 

Existing scheme members uploaded to new scheme 17/04/2018 

Release scheme administrator access for new scheme 26/04/2018 

Go/No Go call 27/04/2018 

Member blackout on DCP scheme prior to asset transition 01/05/2018 

Transfer effective date 08/05/2018 

Member records updated 23/05/2018 

Transfer confirmation letters Issued 24/05/2018 

Reconciliation report issued 25/05/2018 

 
6. CONSULTATION 

 
6.1. Between February-May 2018 regular joint consultations occurred between 

Zurich and officers representing the shared services Treasury Team and the 
shared services Retained Pensions Team to ensure that the transition 
occurred smoothly and that the target dates in the project plan were met.  
There have been no complaints from scheme members relating to this 
transition. 
 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1. None.  
 
8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1. None. 

 
9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1. None. 
 
10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

 
10.1. None. 

 
11. COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

Page 195



13.1 None.  
 

12. IT IMPLICATIONS  
 

12.1. None.  
 
13. RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
13.1 None. 
 
14. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.1. None. 
 
15. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 
15.1 None. 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
None. 
 
 

Page 196



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
PENSIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 

23 July 2018 
  

SURREY PENSIONS ADMINISTRATION SERVICE - UPDATE 
 

Report of the Director of Corporate Services – Mark Grimley 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For Information 
Key Decision: No 
 

Consultation 
None. 
 

Wards Affected: None 
 

Accountable Director: Mark Grimley, Director of Corporate Services 
 

Report Author: David Coates, 
Consultant, Retained Pensions 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 07962 155364 
E-mail: david.coates@rbkc.gov.uk 
 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 This report provides an update on the performance of the Surrey County 
Council (SCC) Pensions Team in the provision of pension administration 
services to the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham under a Section 
101 agreement, effective from 1 September 2015.  The period covered by the 
performance review is quarter 4 of the 2017-18 financial year (January-March 
2018), which is the most recent period for which completed quarterly figures 
arte available. 
 

1.2 The Section 101 agreement includes Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
which are generally consistent with national standards and are monitored 
quarterly by the shared services retained Pensions Team. 

 
1.3 Surrey’s performance is deemed acceptable in all areas with the exception of 

transfers-out of a scheme member’s accrued pension cash value to another 
LGPS employer.  This is being addressed at the next quarterly performance 
review meeting so that performance on this single KPI improves to an 
acceptable level. 

 

Page 197

Agenda Item 11



2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1. The Pensions Sub-Committee notes the update. 
 

3. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 

3.1. There are no key decisions to make other than noting Surrey’s performance. 
 

4. SURREY’S PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW  
 

4.1. Appendix 1 details Surrey’s performance against the targets specified in the 
section 101 agreement. 
 

4.2. The headlines are: 
 

a. The Surrey help desk receives over 500 queries per month.  
 

b. Over 90% of queries are resolved by the help desk at first point of 
contact, which is high. 

 
c. In instances where SCC have initiated and maintained the pension 

record, performance targets have been reached in most cases. 
 

d. Data inaccuracies inherited from Capita still impact upon SCC 
performance; this is evidenced by the “Statements sent to member 
following receipt of leaver notification”, which is below target. 

 
e. A target driven project plan to check and improve inherited data 

inaccuracies has been agreed with SCC and is monitored monthly by 
the shared services Retained Pensions Team. 

 
f. It has been brought to the attention of SCC that pension fund Transfers 

Out performance needs to be a priority for improvement.  This will be 
discussed at the next quarterly service review meeting so that a plan is 
put in place to bring performance to an acceptable standard. 

 
g. During the year, member and employee self-serve portals were 

improved and these are now supporting the resolution of basic queries 
and pension projections. 

 
h. Staff engagement sessions are planned for later in 2018/19. 

 
i. There have been no formal complaints received in the last quarter on 

Surrey’s performance.  Feedback from scheme members remains very 
good. 

 
5. CONSULTATION 

 
5.1. None. 

 

Page 198



6. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

6.1. None.  
 
7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1. None. 

 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1. None. 
 
9. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 

 
9.1. None. 

 
10. COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
10.1 None.  

 
11. IT IMPLICATIONS  

 
11.1. None.  
 
12. RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
12.1 None. 
 
13. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
13.1. None. 
 
14. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 
14.1 None. 
 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1 – Table of Surrey Pensions Service Key Performance Indicators, 
January-March 2018 (Quarter 4 of the 2017-18 financial year) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 199



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 
 
Table of Surrey Pensions Service Key Performance Indicators, January-March 
2018 (Quarter 4 of the 2017-18 financial year) 
 
Description Target time/date as 

per Partnership 
Agreement (working 
days) 

Target  2017-18 
Q4 Performance  

Pension Administration 

Death Benefits                                                                               
Write to dependant and provide relevant 
claim form 

5 days 100% 100% 

Set up any dependants benefits and confirm 
payments due 

10 days 100% 100% 

Retirements                                                                                      
New retirement benefits processed for 
payment following receipt of claim forms  

7 days 100% 100% 

Page 200



Description Target time/date as 
per Partnership 
Agreement (working 
days) 

Target  2017-18 
Q4 Performance  

Deferred retirement benefits processed for 
payment following receipt of claim forms 

7 days 100% 94% 

Refunds of Contributions                                                                                   
Refund paid following receipt of claim form  10 days 100% 98% 

Deferred Benefits                                                                                      
Statements sent to member following receipt 
of leaver notification  

20 days 100% 
44% (this is still impacted 
by inherited data errors 

from Capita) 

Estimates                                                                              
Early Retirement requests from employer 10 days 100% 100% 

Projections                                                                              
Requests from employees 10 days 100% 100% 

New Joiners                                                                              
New starters processed 30 days 100% 100% 

Transfers In                                                                                          
Quote estimate to scheme member (includes 
interfunds) 

20 days 100% None in period  

Transfers-in payments processed 20 days 100% 100% 

Transfers Out                                                                                  
Transfers-out quotations processed (includes 
interfunds) 

20 days 100% 

34% 
(Surrey has been advised 
this is not acceptable and 

needs to improve) 

Transfers-out payments processed 20 days 100% 100% 

Monthly Pensioner Payroll 
 

Full reconciliation of payroll and ledger report 
provided to Borough 

Last day of month 
  

Achieved 

Issue of monthly payslips 
3 days before pay 

day   
Achieved 

RTI file submitted to HMRC 
3 days before pay 

day   
Achieved 

BACS File submitted for payment 
3 days before pay 

day   
Achieved 

Annual Exercises 
 

Annual Benefit Statements                                                                                        
Issued to Active members 31 August each year   

  

Annual Benefit Statements                                                                                          
Issued to Deferred members 31 August each year     

Page 201



Description Target time/date as 
per Partnership 
Agreement (working 
days) 

Target  2017-18 
Q4 Performance  

P60s Issued to Pensioners                                                                                           31 May each year   Achieved 

Apply Pensions Increase to Pensioners April each year   Achieved 

Pensioners Newsletter April each year   Achieved 

 
 

Helpdesk volumes 
Total queries handled First point fix 

rate (%) 

Jan 2018 – 516 cases 90% 

Feb 2018 – 496 cases 89% 

Mar 2018 – 423 cases 92% 

 
 
 
 
 

  
 

  

 
 

Page 202


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	5 Quarterly Review Pack
	Appendix 2 - Deloitte Report
	Appendix 3 - Cashflow Forecast
	Appendix 4  - Risk Register
	Appendix 5 - Voting Summary
	Appendix 6  - Forward Plan

	6 Carbon Exposure
	Appendix 1 Carbon Exposure

	7 Equity Strategy
	8 London CIV Update
	9 Draft Annual Report
	Appendix 1 Pension Fund Annual Report

	10 Zurich AVC upgrade project
	11 Surrey Pensions Administration Update

